

## EXECUTIVE OFFICE OF THE PRESIDENT OFFICE OF NATIONAL DRUG CONTROL POLICY

Washington, D.C. 20503

September 5, 2013

#### Dear Tribal Leader:

In April, the Administration released a science-based plan to reduce drug use and its consequences while pursuing drug policy reform. The 2013 *National Drug Control Strategy* (*Strategy*) represents a 21st century approach to drug policy that recognizes that the drug problem is not just a criminal justice issue but also a major public health concern.

The 2013 *Strategy* is the product of extensive dialogue and consultation with policy makers, practitioners, subject matter experts, and partners across the Nation and around the world. This process of consultation led to a number of enhancements in the 2013 *Strategy*, including a renewed emphasis on the issues of maternal addiction and neonatal abstinence syndrome and an enhanced focus on overdose prevention and intervention. The 2013 *Strategy* also features the stories of several "Advocates for Action" working to put the Strategy into action across the fields of prevention, early intervention, treatment, recovery support, criminal justice reform, effective law enforcement, and international cooperation.

We are already beginning the development of the 2014 *Strategy*, and, as a tribal leader, your input will be vital in developing a *Strategy* that will help to reduce drug use and its consequences in Indian Country. In particular, we would be interested in your thoughts on the following:

- What are the key issues you currently face regarding drug use and its consequences in Indian Country, either from a public health and/or safety perspective?
- What barriers do you face in effectively addressing these issues in your community?
- How can the Office of National Drug Control Policy (ONDCP) and the Administration assist you in effectively addressing drug issues in Indian Country? In particular, how can we assist tribal governments in the areas of prevention, intervention, treatment, recovery, and criminal justice?

If you would like to submit written comments regarding the 2014 *National Drug Control Strategy*, please send them to the mailing address below or email them to <a href="mailto:2014Strategy@ondcp.eop.gov">2014Strategy@ondcp.eop.gov</a>. For your reference, the current *Strategy* can be found at <a href="https://www.wh.gov/drugpolicyreform">www.wh.gov/drugpolicyreform</a>. Please provide your feedback no later than October 4<sup>th</sup>, 2013.

Mailing Address:
Katie Greene
Associate Director
Office of Intergovernmental Public Liaison
Office of National Drug Control Policy
750 17<sup>th</sup> Street NW
Washington, DC 20503.

Thank you for your continued partnership in our efforts to reduce drug use and its consequences while pursuing evidence-based drug policy reform.

Respectfully,

R. Gil Kerlikowske

Director



2013





## **Table of Contents**

To the Congress of the United States
Preface from Director Kerlikowske
Introduction
Chapter 1. Strengthen Efforts to Prevent Drug Use in Our Communities
Chapter 2. Seek Early Intervention Opportunities in Health Care
Chapter 3. Integrate Treatment for Substance Use Disorders into Health Care and Expand Support for Recovery
Chapter 4: Break the Cycle of Drug Use, Crime, Delinquency, and Incarceration
Chapter 5. Disrupt Domestic Drug Trafficking and Production
Chapter 6: Strengthen International Partnerships
Chapter 7. Improve Information Systems for Analysis, Assessment, and Local Management 6
Policy Focus: Reducing Drugged Driving
Policy Focus: Preventing Prescription Drug Abuse $\ldots$
Conclusion
List of Abbreviations
Endnotes 89



## To the Congress of the United States

I am pleased to transmit the 2013 *National Drug Control Strategy*, my Administration's blueprint for reducing drug use and its consequences in the United States. As detailed in the pages that follow, my Administration remains committed to a balanced public health and public safety approach to drug policy. This approach is based on science, not ideology—and scientific research suggests that we have made real progress.

The rate of current cocaine use in the United States has dropped by 50 percent since 2006, and methamphet-amine use has declined by one-third. New data released this year suggest that we are turning a corner in our efforts to address the epidemic of prescription drug abuse, with the number of people abusing prescription drugs decreasing by nearly 13 percent—from 7 million in 2010 to 6.1 million in 2011. And the number of Americans reporting that they drove after using illicit drugs also dropped by 12 percent between 2010 and 2011.

While this progress is encouraging, we must sustain our commitment to preventing drug use before it starts—the most cost-effective way to address the drug problem. The importance of prevention is becoming ever more apparent. Despite positive trends in other areas, we continue to see elevated rates of marijuana use among young people, likely driven by declines in perceptions of risk. We must continue to get the facts out about the health risks of drug use and support the positive influences in young people's lives that help them avoid risky behaviors.

The *Strategy* that follows presents a sophisticated approach to a complicated problem, encompassing prevention, early intervention, treatment, recovery support, criminal justice reform, effective law enforcement, and international cooperation.

I look forward to working with the Congress and stakeholders at all levels in advancing this 21st century approach to drug policy.

The White House



## Preface from Director Kerlikowske

The 2013 *National Drug Control Strategy* articulates the Administration's vision for a modern, balanced drug policy, yet it also contains the voices of thousands of individuals committed to building a safer and healthier future, both across the country and around the world. Throughout 2012, these individuals submitted their ideas about how we can improve our efforts to reduce drug use and its consequences. The *Strategy* also reflects input from members of Congress and my colleagues in the Federal Government, whom I convened for a meeting at the White House in July 2012 to discuss our progress and identify priorities for the coming year.

This process of consultation led to a number of enhancements in the 2013 *Strategy*. For example, our work to address prescription drug abuse in the United States led us to collaborate with a wide range of researchers, advocates, and policymakers concerned with the impact this epidemic is having on the health of mothers and infants. In August 2012, I hosted a national leadership meeting that focused on neonatal abstinence syndrome and evidence-based treatment and prevention options for maternal addiction. The conclusions reached at this meeting are reflected in a renewed emphasis on maternal addiction and neonatal abstinence syndrome in the *Strategy*.

The 2013 Strategy also includes an enhanced focus on overdose prevention and intervention as an important component in reducing drug-related deaths and connecting those in need with treatment and recovery services. In August 2012, I traveled to Wilkes County, North Carolina, and visited Project Lazarus, an organization helping to address the prescription drug abuse problem in a region hard hit by the epidemic. While there, I met with doctors, community leaders, and law enforcement professionals dedicated to reducing prescription drug abuse—to include preventing drug-related deaths through the use of the life-saving overdose reversal drug naloxone. As a result, the 2013 Strategy includes a section on overdose and highlights a law enforcement professional who is pioneering the use of naloxone by police officers in his hometown of Quincy, Massachusetts.

These new components augment the Administration's balanced public health and safety approach to reducing drug use and its consequences. There are no easy answers to the drug problem, but experience has shown us that by breaking down silos and collaborating across disciplines, we can make real and lasting change. I look forward to working with the Congress and the American people to effect that change in the year ahead.

R. Gil Kerlikowske

Director of National Drug Control Policy

R. A. Kullwill



## Introduction

The President's inaugural 2010 National Drug Control Strategy laid out a comprehensive, evidence-based approach to reducing drug use and its consequences in the United States. In doing so, the Administration charted a "third way" in drug policy, a path that rejects the opposing extremes of legalization or a law enforcement-only "war on drugs." Rather, the Strategy pursues a 21st century approach to drug policy that balances public health programs, effective law enforcement, and international partnerships. This "third way" is rooted in the knowledge that drug addiction is a disease of the brain—one that can be treated, recovered from, and, most importantly, prevented. It represents the future of drug policy not just in the United States, but all over the world.

In May 2012, the United States presented a document to the international community that sets forth the principles upon which the Administration's approach to drug policy is based. The Principles of Modern Drug Policy was released at the 3rd World Forum Against Drugs, a gathering of international drug policy leaders and nongovernmental organizations hosted in Stockholm by the Government of Sweden. The Principles document represents a commitment—and an invitation to nations around the globe—to adopt modern approaches to address the world drug problem. It emphasizes the importance of recognizing that drug addiction is a chronic disease of the brain and that drug policies should be balanced, compassionate, and humane. To effectively address the disease, prevention, treatment, and recovery support services should be integrated into health care systems. The Principles document reaffirms that respect for human rights is an integral component of drug policy and recognizes that the best way to reduce the substantial harms associated with drugs is to reduce drug use itself. It supports the use of modern approaches to the drug problem, to include the expansion of medication-assisted therapies for drug treatment and criminal justice reforms such as alternatives to incarceration that break the cycle of drug use, crime, incarceration, and re-arrest. Finally, the *Principles of Modern Drug Policy* addresses the drug problem as a shared responsibility among nations, reaffirming support for the three United Nations drug conventions and calling for international cooperation to counter transnational organized crime and protect citizen security.

Sweden proved to be a fitting setting in which to release the *Principles of Modern Drug Policy*, as it is a country with one of the most varied and instructive drug policy experiences in the world. More than 50 years ago, the Government of Sweden undertook a social experiment in Stockholm: "legal prescription" of drugs under government and medical supervision for those with substance use disorders. The experiment quickly became problematic as participants began to divert the narcotics into illicit markets, and the program was terminated in 1967. As a result of this negative experience with drug legalization, Sweden has become a global leader in advocating for balanced, evidence-based drug policies.

Sweden's experience with drug liberalization is especially relevant today. In recent years, the debate about drug policy has lurched between two extremes. One side of the debate suggests that drug legalization is the "silver bullet" solution to drug control. The other side maintains a law enforcement-only "War on Drugs" mentality.

Neither of these approaches is humane, effective, or grounded in evidence. The Obama Administration supports a "third way" approach to drug control—one that is based on the results of considerable investment in research from some of the world's preeminent scholars on the disease of addiction.

The Administration is doing its part to further the *Principles*, both at home and abroad. We have rebalanced national drug control policy to reflect the complexity of drug use as both a public health and public safety issue, dedicating more than \$10.5 billion to prevention and treatment, compared to \$9.6 billion for domestic law enforcement.

In the area of demand reduction, since 2009, the Administration has committed more than \$370 million to the Drug Free Communities Support Program, which provides funding to community coalitions that organize to prevent youth substance use. We have worked to expand screening and brief intervention services in health care settings and ensure that treatment for substance use disorders is integrated into the mainstream health care system through the Affordable Care Act. The Office of National Drug Control Policy (ONDCP) has established—for the first time—a dedicated office responsible for policies and programs that support Americans in recovery from addiction. And we have supported the development of new medications to treat addiction and the implementation of medication-assisted treatment (MAT) protocols. MAT is being integrated into AIDS treatment through the President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief, the largest effort in history to treat a single disease.

The Administration is also advancing criminal justice reform, supporting the efforts of more than 2,700 drug treatment courts in the United States that provide approximately 120,000 offenders each year with drug treatment instead of prison. The Administration supports innovative community safety programs that have been proven to reduce crime and recidivism, such as enhanced probation and parole programs and "drug market intervention" programs that reduce open air drug markets and offer offenders a way out. In 2010, the President signed the Fair Sentencing Act into law, reducing the 100-to-1 sentencing disparity between offenses for crack and powder cocaine. Through its support for the Second Chance Act, the Administration has underscored the importance of substance abuse treatment, employment, mentoring, and other services that improve the transition of individuals from the criminal justice system to a new life in the community.

Internationally, the United States is helping safeguard human rights and is promoting evidence-based drug policies. In 2011, the nongovernmental organization Human Rights Watch released a report about inhumane conditions in Vietnamese treatment programs that claimed to be following the U.S. National Institute on Drug Abuse's (NIDA) Principles of Effective Treatment. These programs were in fact not in accordance with NIDA's Principles and were not receiving funding from the U.S. National Institutes of Health. The Directors of ONDCP and NIDA reiterated the United States' strong support for safe and effective drug addiction treatment that is consistent with NIDA's Principles and internationally recognized human rights. In 2011 and 2012, the United States promoted best practices in demand reduction as the Chair of the Demand Reduction Experts Group of the Inter-American Drug Abuse Control Commission (known by its Spanish acronym, CICAD). Since 2009, the United States has successfully sponsored UN resolutions on the issues of prevention, prescription drug abuse, drugged driving, and alternatives to incarceration. And through such programs as the Merida Initiative, the Caribbean Basin Security Initiative (CBSI), and the Central America Regional Security Initiative (CARSI), the United States has

#### INTRODUCTION

helped to expand judicial, social, educational, and law enforcement capacities to counter the influence of transnational organized crime in the Western Hemisphere.

The pages that follow describe in further detail the actions the Administration has taken to reduce drug use and its consequences, in accordance with the *Principles of Modern Drug Policy* and in pursuit of the drug policy goals established in 2010 by the President's first *National Drug Control Strategy*. Further information on progress toward achieving the goals of the *Strategy* will be provided in the 2013 *Performance Reporting System Report*.<sup>3</sup>

#### National Drug Control Strategy Goals to Be Attained by 2015

#### Goal 1: Curtail illicit drug consumption in America

- 1a. Decrease the 30-day prevalence of drug use among 12- to 17-year-olds by 15 percent
- 1b. Decrease the lifetime prevalence of 8th graders who have used drugs, alcohol, or tobacco by 15 percent
- 1c. Decrease the 30-day prevalence of drug use among young adults aged 18–25 by 10 percent
- 1d. Reduce the number of chronic drug users by 15 percent

## Goal 2: Improve the public health and public safety of the American people by reducing the consequences of drug abuse

- 2a. Reduce drug-induced deaths by 15 percent
- 2b. Reduce drug-related morbidity by 15 percent
- 2c. Reduce the prevalence of drugged driving by 10 percent

**Data Sources:** SAMHSA's National Survey on Drug Use and Health (1a, 1c); Monitoring the Future (1b); What Americans Spend on Illegal Drugs (1d); Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) National Vital Statistics System (2a); SAMHSA's Drug Abuse Warning Network drug-related emergency room visits, and CDC data on HIV infections attributable to drug use (2b); National Survey on Drug Use and Health and National Highway Traffic Safety Administration (NHTSA) roadside survey (2c)



## Chapter 1. Strengthen Efforts to Prevent Drug Use in Our Communities

Prevention is a foundational pillar of the *National Drug Control Strategy* and one of the Administration's highest drug policy priorities. The 2011 National Survey on Drug Use and Health (NSDUH) found that an estimated 22.6 million Americans age 12 and over were current (past month) illicit drug users, including 2.5 million young people between the ages of 12-17.<sup>4</sup> These data demonstrate the need for a strong Federal commitment to substance use prevention.

For substance use prevention efforts to be effective, they must be comprehensive in scope and take into account both risk factors (e.g., aggressive behavior, drug availability, and poverty) and protective factors (e.g., parental influence, academic competence, and family support).<sup>5</sup> Policies, programs, and messages that help youth abstain from drugs and alcohol are needed at home, in school, among peers, at workplaces, and throughout the community. Recent research has concluded that every dollar invested in school-based substance use prevention programs has the potential to save up to \$18 in costs related to substance use disorders.<sup>6</sup>

Prevention efforts are most successful across settings to communicate consistent messages through school, work, religious institutions, and the media. Research shows that programs that reach youth through multiple sources can strongly impact community norms. It is imperative to reach parents and adult influencers as well as youth where they live, learn, work, and play with information about the dangers of substance use and provide them with tools to help young people embrace a drug-free lifestyle. With this in mind, federally-supported efforts in 2012 helped states, tribal nations, and local communities continue to build a solid foundation for delivering and sustaining effective prevention services through such programs as the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA) Substance Abuse Prevention and Treatment Block Grant, the Strategic Prevention Framework-State Incentive Grant, and the Partnerships for Success programs. Additionally, ONDCP's Drug Free Communities (DFC) Support Program provides direct funding and technical assistance to community-based coalitions that organize to prevent youth substance use.

A number of Federal initiatives help ensure that communities, young people, parents, and professionals have the latest and most accurate information available to guide their prevention activities, particularly in response to some of the latest drug use trends, such as prescription drug abuse, marijuana, and synthetics (e.g., "K-2," "Spice," and "bath salts"). For example, in 2012 the Above the Influence campaign, run by ONDCP in collaboration with the Partnership at Drugfree.org, worked through television, print, social media, local radio advertising, and partnerships with community organizations to inform and inspire teens to reject illicit drugs. The Department of Agriculture's Children, Youth, and Families Education and Research Network has worked with NIDA to disseminate evidence-based prevention strategies. These and other activities culminated in a Presidential Proclamation designating October 2012 as National Substance Abuse Prevention Month, during which communities nationwide were encouraged to take action to promote healthy, drug-free communities and workplaces. Red Ribbon Week, commemorated in honor of DEA Special Agent Enrique "Kiki" Camarena, who was killed in the line of duty in 1985, is

observed during the final week of Prevention Month. Americans across the country participate by organizing community anti-drug events and making pledges to live drug-free lives.

Federally-supported prevention activities conducted in 2012 focused on three major goals: (1) furthering the development of a national prevention system infrastructure; (2) facilitating dissemination of evidence-based drug prevention messaging, with an emphasis on marijuana, synthetics, and prescription drug abuse; and (3) enhancing the role of law enforcement in locally-based drug prevention initiatives.

## 1. A National Prevention System Must be Grounded at the Community Level

#### A. Collaborate with States to Support Communities

The 2010 National Drug Control Strategy underscored the importance of preparing communities to provide effective prevention services. States play a critical role in this effort, and SAMHSA continues to promote state-community prevention partnerships through its Partnerships for Success program. In 2012, SAMHSA awarded 15 grants totaling more than \$42 million to address underage drinking and prescription drug abuse among high-risk populations through the Strategic Prevention Framework Partnerships for Success II grants. These grants help build prevention capacity, develop data-driven strategies, implement comprehensive, evidenced-based approaches, and evaluate outcomes. Under the Department of Education's Safe and Drug-Free Schools and Communities programs, resources and technical assistance have been provided to state education agencies, as well as to school districts and schools, to implement programs to monitor and improve the school climate, while discouraging drug use. In addition, the Administration has proposed to create a new Successful, Safe, and Healthy Students Program at the Department of Education that would provide increased flexibility to States and school districts to design and implement strategies that best reflect the needs of their students and communities (and which may include programs that focus on drug and violence prevention). Community law enforcement officers receive support from the Department of Justice's (DOJ) Edward Byrne Memorial Justice Assistance Grant Program to support community drug prevention programs. The Department of Defense (DOD) as well as the Administration for Children and Families reaches some of our most "At Risk" kids through the National Guard ChalleNGe Program, and the Program to Enhance Safety of Children Affected by Substance Abuse respectively.

#### B. Spread Prevention to the Workplace

Workplaces provide an opportunity to educate millions of Americans about the dangers of drugs and alcohol, reinforce drug-free norms, ensure the safety and wellness of employees, and offer assistance through referrals and support to employees who are experiencing substance use disorders themselves or within their families. The workplace is an ideal setting in which to deliver prevention messaging for working parents to deter substance use in their families.

The Federal Drug-Free Workplace Program is a comprehensive program to achieve a drug-free workplace; it applies to the Federal workplace but also serves as a model for the private sector. Examples of approaches in the program include the use of written policies, employee education, supervisor training, employee assistance programs, and provisions to identify illegal drug use, including drug testing.<sup>8</sup> For

example, the Department of Transportation (DOT) oversees a strong drug and alcohol testing program to ensure public safety. During calendar year 2011, transportation employers conducted nearly 5.7 million drug tests, and in the first 6 months of 2012, they conducted nearly 3 million drug tests. DOT also provides outreach to the public in the forms of highly utilized websites, numerous presentations at conferences and meetings, and a variety of "tool kits" and guidance documents for employers and employees. Importantly, the DOT program also requires that transportation employees identified as having substance abuse problems are referred for evaluation and treatment. SAMHSA also funds the Preventing Prescription Abuse in the Workplace (PPAW) program to provide technical assistance to help civilian and military workplaces in communities reduce prescription drug abuse problems. The PPAW provides a variety of technical assistance resources to workplaces, SAMHSA's grantees, and community partners.

#### **Substance Use and Unemployment**

An extensive body of research suggests that problematic substance use is both a cause and a result of unemployment. Individuals can get caught in a vicious cycle of substance use and unemployment that can be difficult to break without treatment and job counseling. Studies indicate that alcohol use disorders double the risk of becoming unemployed; heavy alcohol users are 6 times more likely to be unemployed than low use drinkers; and cocaine use tends to lower the likelihood of being employed by 23 to 32 percentage points while marijuana use lowers it by 15 to 17 points. Research also suggests that unemployment results in increases in substance use (alcohol, illicit drugs, and abuse of prescription drugs) and substance use disorders. For example, a longitudinal study of U.S. workers reported that those workers who lost their jobs sometime between their first and second survey interviews were 9 times more likely to develop a substance use disorder compared to workers who did not lose their jobs. These data underscore the importance of substance abuse prevention, early intervention, treatment, and recovery support services to the Nation's economy.

## 2. Prevention Efforts Must Encompass the Range of Settings in Which Young People Grow Up

#### A. Strengthen the Drug-Free Communities Support Program

In FY 2012, the Administration provided \$85 million in DFC Support Program funds to support community-based prevention. This consisted of \$7.9 million in new DFC grants to 60 communities and 6 new DFC Mentoring grants, building on the \$76.7 million in continuation grants that were awarded to 608 currently-funded DFC coalitions and 18 DFC Mentoring coalitions. Over the past 8 years, DFCs have achieved significant reductions in youth alcohol, tobacco, and marijuana use among middle school youth.<sup>14</sup>

#### **VetCorps at Work in Manatee County, Florida**

In response to the needs of military families and service members, the Community Anti-Drug Coalitions of America (CADCA) applied for and received a grant from the Corporation for National and Community Service's AmeriCorps Program to establish VetCorps. The purpose of VetCorps is to establish support for military families and service members through community-based coalitions. DFC has partnered with the VetCorps initiative and has encouraged community coalitions to respond to this very important initiative. An example of how a DFC-funded coalition has collaborated with VetCorps is the Manatee County Substance Abuse Coalition located along the Florida Gulf Coast. The Manatee County Government's Veterans Services Division selected a former Marine as the new VetCorps Prevention Coordinator. The Manatee County VetCorps project will assist in identifying gaps in services by gathering data pertaining to veterans and their families; coordinating among local National Guard Units; assisting military service members and their families in areas of employment, healthcare, education and housing; and coordinating substance abuse prevention efforts relating to veterans.

#### B. Leverage and Evolve the Above the Influence Brand to Support Teen Prevention Efforts

ONDCP's National Youth Anti-Drug Media Campaign was created by Congress in 1998 to educate and prevent drug use among youth and has been the Nation's sole and consistent vehicle for providing national-level drug prevention messaging via mass media and public outreach. As the Media Campaign has been refined, this action item has been modified to reflect the Media Campaign's efforts under the Above the Influence brand (ATI).

ATI has achieved a high 88 percent awareness level among teens, and the campaign continues to have



a strong presence on social networks. The ATI Facebook community recently surpassed 1.7 million "likes," making it one of the largest teen-targeted Facebook presences among Federal Government or nonprofit youth organizations. Additionally, three independent peer-reviewed studies have confirmed that the Media Campaign is effective, relevant to youth, and instrumental to drug prevention efforts in communities across the country. 15,16,17

Local engagement with ATI has amplified the Media Campaign's effects. To foster youth participation at the community level, the campaign has partnered with more than 80 youth-serving organizations in over 45 cities to provide a recognized national platform that can be adapted to provide customized local advertising in ATI communities. More than 1,000 community organizations have received technical assistance and training through conferences and webinars.

#### C. Support Mentoring Initiatives, Especially Among At-Risk Youth

Parents and positive adult influencers, including mentors, play a vital role in healthy youth development and substance use prevention. A study of one national mentoring program notes that youth involved in mentoring are 46 percent less likely to begin using illegal drugs. <sup>18</sup> The 4-H program is a youth organization supported by the National Institute of Food and Agriculture of the U.S. Department of Agriculture,

with the mission of "engaging youth to reach their fullest potential while advancing the field of youth development." With over 6 million young people ages 5-19 participating across the country, the program provides one-on-one mentoring and group mentoring for youth and assists them in developing long-term goals. More specifically, the 4-H Mentoring: Youth and Families with Promise program is a prevention program targeted to at-risk youth ages 10-14; these programs incorporate "family night out," 4-H activities such as club and social involvement, and one-to-one mentoring.

#### D. Mobilize Parents To Educate Youth to Reject Drug Use

Parents are often the source of the first messages children will hear about their health and well-being, and parents often ask how to talk to their children about staying drug-free. In October 2012, NIDA launched a new research-based prevention tool, the Family Check-Up website, which highlights parenting skills that are important to prevent the initiation and progression of drug use among youth. Based on the work of the Child and Family Center at the University of Oregon, the Family Check-Up contains five questions and discussion points to help parents better communicate with their children and prevent negative behaviors like substance use. Also in late 2012, the Department of Education partnered with the Drug Enforcement Administration (DEA)- to update and release a new version of their popular publication, Growing Up Drug Free: A Parent's Guide to Prevention. ONDCP also included materials to help parents talk with their children in the Drugged Driving Toolkit.

#### **Advocates for Action: The Rozga Family**



Mike, Jan, and Daniel Rozga know the importance of drug prevention all too well. In June 2010, their son and brother David fatally shot himself within an hour of smoking "K2," a dangerous synthetic drug. The Rozgas have since turned their tragedy into purpose, working to educate people on the dangers of synthetic drugs and advocating for legislative changes to prevent the manufacture of these substances. The Rozgas launched a new website, <a href="www.k2drugfacts.com">www.k2drugfacts.com</a>, to give families the opportunity to share their experiences and raise

awareness about dangerous but little understood synthetic drugs like "K-2." The Rozga family has also taken its message on the road, speaking to high schools, colleges, church groups, EMS providers, and conducting extensive outreach through local and national media outlets. The Rozgas are currently working with <a href="https://doi.org/10.1081/jns.colleges.coll

## 3. Develop and Disseminate Information on Youth Drug, Alcohol, and Tobacco Use

#### A. Support Substance Abuse Prevention on College Campuses

In FY 2012, the U.S. Department of Education's Center for Alcohol, Drug Abuse, and Violence Prevention conducted trainings for college and university officials on creating a substance-free social and cultural environment on college campuses, engaging campus prevention experts, researchers, Federal partners, and representatives from the Collegiate Recovery Network. Because of a significant cut in appropriated funds for the Safe and Drug-Free Schools and Communities program, the Department no longer operates the Higher Education Center as a stand-alone technical assistance center. Instead, the Department has restructured and consolidated its technical assistance centers that focus on school climate and alcohol and drug use prevention at the elementary, secondary, and postsecondary levels to develop and share resources more cost-effectively and provide coordinated technical assistance. The new National Center on Safe Supportive Learning Environments began operations on November 1, 2012.

#### B. Expand Research on Understudied Substances

More research is needed to address the many variables pertaining to understudied drugs, such as synthetic cathinones and cannabinoids (e.g., "K2," "Spice", and "bath salts"). To date, there has been limited substance abuse research conducted on these substances. The NIDA-supported Monitoring the Future Study began collecting data on teen use of synthetic cannabinoids in 2011 and synthetic cathinones in 2012 to help inform prevention efforts. NIDA also supports research to better understand how these emerging drugs affect the brain. In response to new substance use trends, ONDCP will collaborate with Federal partners to develop a research agenda on emerging substances abused by youth.

#### C. Prepare a Report on the Health Risks of Youth Substance Use

The Office of the Surgeon General is developing a *Call to Action to Prevent Prescription Drug Abuse among Youth* that will outline specific strategies that can be taken by multiple sectors of the community: youth, parents, law enforcement, community coalitions, and Federal, state, and local government and law enforcement agencies. This report will help implement the first pillar of the Administration's *Prescription Drug Abuse Prevention Plan*: Educating parents and youth on the dangers of prescription drug abuse.

## 4. Criminal Justice Agencies and Prevention Organizations Must Collaborate

#### A. Provide Information on Effective Prevention Strategies to Law Enforcement

Law enforcement agencies can play a pivotal role in reducing substance abuse in communities; they should be a part of a comprehensive approach when addressing substance use. In 2012, ONDCP provided the Drugged Driving Toolkit to the National Association of School Resource Officers to help officers to identify, educate, and prevent youth drugged driving. In addition, DOJ sponsors the interagency National Forum on Youth Violence Prevention, a working group mechanism that helps cities work with young people to deter youth violence in their communities by encouraging them to rise above the

negative influences in their lives. In 2012, four additional cities were added to DOJ's National Forum on Youth Violence Prevention: Camden, NJ, Minneapolis, MN, Philadelphia, PA, and New Orleans, LA. These bring the current total of cities participating to ten.

## B. Enable Law Enforcement Officers to Participate in Community Prevention Programs in Schools, Community Coalitions, Civic Organizations, and Faith-Based Organizations

The High Intensity Drug Trafficking Areas (HIDTA) program provides assistance to Federal, state, local, and tribal law enforcement agencies operating in areas determined to be critical drug trafficking regions of the United States. A number of HIDTAs emphasize prevention and treatment as part of their strategies. In 2012, ONDCP awarded 20 HIDTA grants totaling \$2.9 million to increase coordination between prevention programs and law enforcement. For example, the Washington/Baltimore HIDTA sponsors the Richmond Neighborhood Drug Intervention and Prevention Initiative, a program for nonviolent youth offenders that combines prevention, treatment, and intervention and offers educational and vocational opportunities. Young offenders who take part in the program gain the opportunity to reintegrate into the community with new skills. Additionally, the Department of Homeland Security (DHS) provided web-based training to community coalitions on strategies communities can use to prevent substance abuse. The National Guard Counterdrug Program's Civil Operations Division coordinates and provides services to anti-drug coalitions and other prevention providers at schools and in communities. Since 2004, the five National Guard Counterdrug Schools have sponsored training for community coalitions. DEA's Demand Reduction Section continues extensive public education through its teen website, www.justthinktwice.com, and the parent website, www.getsmartaboutdrugs.com. DEA produced several educational publications targeting teens and parents, including Prescription for Disaster: How Teens Abuse Medicine. DEA collaborated with the Boys & Girls Clubs of America to produce Get it Straight for middle school youth and the Get it Straight Facilitator Guide.

#### C. Strengthen Prevention Efforts along the Southwest Border

In 2012, SAMHSA sponsored the "U.S. Counties along the Mexico Border Initiative," which assists schools, community centers, workplaces, and local prevention providers along the border to assess population needs, resources, and readiness to provide culturally and linguistically appropriate programs. In addition to the border counties initiative, the NIDA-supported "VIDA" (Vulnerability Issues in Drug Abuse) Program prepares faculty and students to conduct drug abuse research and training for underrepresented communities. VIDA partnered with the University of Texas-El Paso to hold a conference for both behavioral health providers and researchers to present and discuss effective program strategies, including the use of *promotores* (community health workers) for populations along the border.



# Chapter 2. Seek Early Intervention Opportunities in Health Care

Health care practitioners have the important responsibility of looking after their patients' general health and welfare. With the full implementation of the Affordable Care Act in 2014, many more people will be eligible for substance use disorder services. Expanding the range of doctors, physicians' assistants, nurses, counselors, social workers, and other specialists able to identify and ensure treatment for individuals with substance use disorders has important implications for the health of the American people and our Nation's economy. Further, we must continue to focus on efforts to expand and modernize the continuum of services health care practitioners provide for their patients, to include substance abuse services.

#### A Team of Health Care Practitioners



The health care field will continue to need to adopt and integrate evidence-based approaches to address substance use disorders. Successful integration of evidence-based approaches into mainstream health care will require health care practitioners to work in teams that often include specialists from other medical fields. To enhance this professional cooperation, team members will need to understand the disease of addiction to address a wide range of substance use problems in a variety of settings.

A number of tools are available to help health care providers detect and address substance use disorders. Through Screening, Brief Intervention, and Referral to Treatment (SBIRT), practitioners ask their patients about their substance use (screening) to assess the risk of substance use disorders and then, if appropriate, provide a brief intervention or referral to treatment. SBIRT integrates and coordinates screening and treatment services and links those services to local specialized treatment programs through a network of early intervention and referral activities.

The Affordable Care Act ends discrimination against people with pre-existing conditions, including people with mental health and substance use disorders. Insurers can no longer deny coverage to children because of a pre-existing condition, and, starting in 2014, refusing to cover anyone with a pre-existing condition will be prohibited. SBIRT helps identify people who may otherwise go undiagnosed with a chronic substance dependence problem (categorized prior to the Affordable Care Act as a pre-existing condition) and get them into care. SBIRT is an intervention approach to address risky use (counseling) and an opportunity to diagnose and refer patients to specialty treatment, all as covered services. Furthermore, a variety of health systems across the Nation are integrating SBIRT into electronic health records to better coordinate patient care.

Research on SBIRT's effectiveness for alcohol and substance use problems indicates the approach leads to short-term health improvements and suggests potential long-term benefits. 19,20

Data from SAMHSA grant programs help demonstrate the effect SBIRT has on patient health. Through the SAMHSA SBIRT initiative, patients experienced:

- Reductions in alcohol and drug use 6 months after receiving the intervention;
- Improvements in quality-of-life measures, including employment/education status, housing stability, and past 30-day arrest rates; and
- Reductions in risky behaviors, including fewer unprotected sexual encounters.<sup>21</sup>

#### 1. Catching Substance Use Disorders Early Saves Lives and Money

#### A. Expand and Evaluate Screening for Substance Use in All Health Care Settings

In 2012, SAMHSA's Center for Substance Abuse Treatment funded the continuation of 27 SBIRT grants and three new multi-year grants. Grant funds will further integrate SBIRT within medical treatment settings to provide early identification and intervention services to at-risk individuals within the context of their primary care provider.

NIDA continues to encourage physicians and other health care professionals to screen for drug abuse, enhancing its tools and resources including its interactive screening tool that generates clinical recommendations. The tool is available on the NIDAMED website and is now optimized for mobile devices (described in more detail later in this chapter). Also in 2012, the Department of Health and Human Services' Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality funded the Wisconsin Initiative to Promote Healthy Lifestyles, a program of the University of Wisconsin School of Medicine and Public Health. The project produced information and tools to help employers promote employee health, including a cost-effective behavioral screening and intervention program.<sup>22</sup> As Wisconsin's health care system moves toward systematically addressing substance use disorders in its patient population, initiatives such as this that rely on university and employer partnerships should be considered as a model for public-private collaborations.

#### **Maternal Addiction and Neonatal Abstinence Syndrome**

The Administration is taking steps to understand and address the clinical and policy issues related to neonatal abstinence syndrome (NAS), the withdrawal symptoms exhibited by some infants born to mothers exposed to illicit drugs and certain medications during pregnancy. This chronic exposure can occur due to addiction or because of legitimate medical treatment with certain controlled substances. Many hospitals with little experience caring for drug exposed newborns prior to the prescription drug abuse epidemic are now witnessing increases in births requiring additional hospital resources. A recent study found that across the United States:

- Between 2000 and 2009, the rate of hospitals billing for NAS increased from 1.2 to 3.4 per 1,000 hospital births per year. This translates to roughly one infant per hour born with signs of drug withdrawal.
- The number of mothers using opiates increased from 1.2 to 5.6 per 1,000 hospital births per year.
- Hospital costs for treating each NAS infant averaged \$53,400 in 2009, and Medicaid was the primary payer for treatment for over 75 percent of these babies.<sup>23</sup>

In response to this emerging issue, ONDCP convened a national leadership meeting on maternal addiction and drug exposure in August 2012.<sup>24</sup> Meeting participants discussed the complex policy landscape and its interplay with medical care for mothers and infants, including the stigma and barriers that many expectant mothers may experience when seeking treatment for substance use disorders. These barriers can include concerns about the involvement of the child welfare system or law enforcement and may be a deterrent for health care professionals to screen expectant mothers for substance use disorders or for pregnant women to seek prenatal care or disclose their drug use.

Withdrawal from opioids can be dangerous to a pregnant woman and may threaten the life of her developing child. Detoxification can be a medical emergency. For these reasons, steps such as the continuation of stable opioid doses or MAT with either buprenorphine or methadone are recommended. In fact, one study found that treating opioid dependent mothers with buprenorphine can improve outcomes associated with NAS, including less time in the hospital, shorter treatment duration, and less morphine used to treat withdrawal symptoms. Health care and treatment providers, including obstetricians/gynecologists, should be trained to recognize opioid addiction and treat pregnant women with MAT.

Pregnant women may need an array of treatment and recovery support services. Opioid-dependent women can have complex and varying challenges, including lack of education, poverty, lack of employment or parenting skills, or comorbid mental and physical illnesses. Addressing these diverse needs may include childcare during treatment, housing and transportation support, family-based treatment to teach parenting skills as a part of therapy, residential treatment that permits children to live with or room with mothers, psychosocial treatment and psychiatric evaluation, screening, and other social supports. In response to these and other issues surrounding NAS, ONDCP is working with advocacy and professional groups and overseeing the Federal response to prevent and treat maternal addiction and NAS. The Administration is also working with state leaders to ensure that state-led efforts to address prescription drug abuse adequately account for the comprehensive needs of women and their children.

#### B. Increase Adoption and Use of SBIRT Codes

In 2012, the number of states adopting the set of codes for SBIRT as a reimbursable service under their state Medicaid plans increased from 16 to 19 states. These codes are used to report medical services for private and public health insurance systems for reimbursement and claims processing. They also provide uniformity in language to provide reliable nationwide data collection. In Medicare, to assist more providers in using the codes, the Center for Substance Abuse Treatment partnered with the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services' (CMS) Medicare Learning Network to develop materials and coding instructions for Medicare code reimbursement.

#### C. Enhance Health Care Providers' Skills in Screening and Brief Intervention

In 2012, SAMHSA continued to fund training for medical residents and allied health professionals on SBIRT. Since the grant was initiated in 2009, nearly 4,700 medical residents and 10,300 allied health professionals have been trained. Information about SBIRT training curricula is available for health care providers on SAMHSA's website. An Addiction Technology Transfer Center (ATTC) for SBIRT has been established through SAMHSA's ATTC network, and will be providing extensive resources for the implementation of SBIRT to SAMHSA grantees (with the exception of current SBIRT grantees) and other interested health care entities.

#### Development of e-Tools, e-Learning, and Continuing Medical Education on Prescription Drug Abuse and Treatment

NIDA, through its web-based NIDAMED initiative, offers online tools to help clinicians provide SBIRT services for non-medical prescription drug use, as well as for tobacco, alcohol, and illicit drug use. This screening tool has now been optimized for use on handheld devices. It also offers quick reference and comprehensive resource guides to facilitate use of the tools, as well as curriculum resources developed by NIDA's Centers of Excellence for Physician Information for medical students, residents, and medical school faculty. ONDCP also provided NIDA funding to make its clinician tools related to prescription drug abuse more accessible and self-guided, while offering clinicians continuing medical education (CME) credits as incentives. In October 2012, ONDCP and NIDA launched two online CME modules using the "test-and-teach" model—one focused on safe prescribing for pain and the other on managing patients who abuse prescription opioids.

# D. Identify and Make Available Additional Training in Evidence-based Practices for Substance Use Disorder Assessment and Care to Health Care Professionals Providing Care to Military Health System Beneficiaries

In 2012, the Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) and the DOD developed the <u>Substance Use Disorder Toolkit</u> to help health care providers for military personnel/veterans deliver evidence-based treatment consistent with both Departments' Clinical Practice Guidelines to further reduce drug abuse among military members and their families. The toolkit increases knowledge and facilitates treatment decisions for both providers and patients. It includes a pocket guide to help providers treat patients and improve outcomes by assisting with symptom recognition, treatment, and management; a booklet that highlights MAT for alcohol dependence that provides patients with the knowledge to make informed choices regarding their treatment; and a brochure for family members about substance use disorders and support-focused resources.

To provide additional training and education for Military Health System medical providers who prescribe potentially addicting medications, an interactive video training entitled "Do No Harm" was developed by the Uniformed Services University of the Health Sciences (USUHS) to illustrate the most important points about prescription medication misuse. The interactive video training addresses the incidence of medication misuse; risk factors and risk stratification of patients for medication misuse; steps to mitigate medication misuse; and indications for referral to subspecialty providers. This training will be disseminated to medical providers in 2013.

Finally, in 2011, the Women's Bureau at the Department of Labor developed <u>Trauma-Informed Care for Women Veterans Experiencing Homelessness: A Guide for Service Providers</u>. The growing numbers of women veterans face numerous challenges that put them at greater risk of homelessness and substance abuse. The "Trauma Guide" is meant to address the psychological and mental health needs of women veterans by offering best practices to service providers for engaging female veterans. The guide offers observational knowledge and concrete guidelines for modifying practices with the goal of increasing re-entry outcomes.

#### **Advocate for Action: Imani Walker**



Sixteen years ago, Imani Walker found herself in a desperate situation as a mother with dependent children who was suffering from addiction and depression. It took her 3 long years to access an appropriate long-term, comprehensive, family-centered treatment program in Washington, DC. Through the course of her 18-month treatment, she realized she was not alone. Many mothers had difficulty accessing gender-responsive, trauma-informed, family-focused services. Imani emerged from her treatment program with a new sense of purpose: to give a voice to the many mothers with young children who suffer from addiction and have difficulty accessing appropriate services. She soon took a group of mothers to Capitol Hill to make their concerns known to policy makers and subsequently co-founded the Rebecca Project

<u>for Human Rights.</u> The Rebecca Project organized mothers in 15 states and formed a coalition of family-based treatment providers across the country to ensure that families are able to access early intervention, family-focused substance abuse treatment services.



# Chapter 3. Integrate Treatment for Substance Use Disorders into Health Care and Expand Support for Recovery

Investing in treatment for substance use disorders reduces health care costs, reduces other costs to society, and saves lives. <sup>26,27,28,29</sup> Despite its proven efficacy, only a modest percentage of those needing treatment access it. In 2011, 21.6 million persons aged 12 or older needed treatment for an illicit drug or alcohol use problem, but only 2.3 million persons (10.8 percent of those needing treatment) received it. <sup>30</sup> Studies have demonstrated that patients receiving certain evidence-based treatment approaches achieve longer sustained periods of abstinence and/or decreased use than patients in comparison conditions. <sup>31,32,33,34,35,36,37,38</sup>

Factoring in public health, crime, and lost productivity, illicit drug use cost the country an estimated \$193 billion in 2007.<sup>39</sup> Findings from one California study suggest employee substance use can be extremely costly to employers and that substance abuse treatment for 60 days or more can save over \$8,200 per person in health care and productivity costs.<sup>40</sup> The Affordable Care Act will expand mental health and substance use disorder benefits and parity protections for 62 million Americans. Beginning in 2014, all new small group and individual private market plans will be required to cover mental health and substance use disorder services as part of the health care law's Essential Health Benefits categories, and mental health benefits will be covered at parity. Also beginning in 2014, insurers will no longer be able to deny anyone coverage because of a pre-existing condition.

In addition, as part of its efforts to better address substance use—both in the workplace and else-where—SAMHSA will continue to work toward adoption of electronic health records. This technology is needed to better integrate substance use disorder services with broader health systems services, support the integration of evidence-based practices, and improve quality, coordination, and accountability. Ongoing training, technical assistance, consultation, and evaluation are needed to support this transition.

The Administration is working with states, tribes, local governments, treatment and recovery support services providers, and other stakeholders to develop systems and services that support sustained recovery. An essential component of this effort is promoting the use of recovery support services—non-clinical services that target people in or seeking recovery. These services are often provided by people who are themselves in sustained recovery and are employed by or volunteer at peer-led recovery community organizations. Evidence shows that expanding recovery support services increases the percentage of people that successfully navigate the passage from early recovery to stable recovery. While limited research has been conducted on recovery support services, there is nonetheless evidence of their effectiveness. For example, residence in an Oxford House, a form of peer-run recovery residence, is associated with reduced substance use, increased employment, and improved self-regulation. Moreover, the Oxford House model has been found to be cost-effective. An evaluation of the Texas Access to Recovery program found that services "most closely related to the process of recovery" (e.g.,

individual recovery coaching, recovery support groups, spiritual support groups, and relapse prevention groups) were associated with positive recovery outcomes.<sup>43</sup> Research on the Washington State Access to Recovery program found participation in the program was associated with increases in length of stay, treatment completion, rates of employment,<sup>44</sup> and reductions in Medicaid costs.<sup>45</sup>

Recognizing the value of recovery support services, the Administration has prioritized the further development of recovery support services and recovery-oriented service systems. Given the developmental nature of substance use disorders and the benefits of intervening early, ONDCP is giving special attention to substance use disorders among adolescents and young adults. Data from NSDUH (2011) bear out the need for such a focus. Among young adults aged 18 to 25, rates of substance use disorders are nearly three times those found in adults over the age of 25 (21.4 percent versus 6.3 percent), while 6.9 percent of young people aged 12 to 17 were estimated to have substance use disorders. <sup>46</sup>

Very often laws, rules, policies, and practices create barriers to sustained recovery. For example, individuals with a drug conviction may be denied housing, professional licenses, employment, and educational opportunities. When this occurs, it is not only people in recovery who pay a price, but also their families and the broader community. This is why modifying or eliminating laws, rules, policies, and practices that create barriers to recovery remains one of the Administration's priorities. We must also support the development of a robust recovery research agenda to improve our understanding of what policies, services, and approaches best support recovery.

## 1. Addiction Treatment Must Be an Integrated, Accessible Part of Mainstream Health Care

#### A. Expand Addiction Specialty Services in Community Health Centers

Substance use disorder services are one of the ten categories of essential health benefits specified in the Affordable Care Act, providing more people with access to treatment services. Health Centers are preparing for coverage expansion in a number of ways. For example, in 2012, the SAMSHA- and HRSA-funded Center for Integrated Health Solutions provided training to Federally Qualified Health Centers on substance abuse services, including a webinar on best practices in SBIRT. This webinar is posted on a <a href="mailto:newly-created-section">newly-created-section</a> of the Center for Integrated Health Solutions website dedicated to expanding SBIRT skills for the health care workforce.

#### B. Increase Addiction Treatment Services Within the Indian Health Service

In 2011, the Indian Health Service hired additional behavioral health specialists, including chemical dependency counselors, and offered training scholarships to support the development of new behavioral health specialists. Important steps were also taken to pave the way for integrating SBIRT into Indian Health Service emergency clinics.

#### CHAPTER 3. INTEGRATE TREATMENT FOR SUBSTANCE USE DISORDERS INTO HEALTH CARE AND EXPAND SUPPORT FOR RECOVERY

## C. Expand the Innovations of the Department of Veterans Affairs Substance Use Disorder Treatment Approach to Other Federal Health Care Systems

In February 2011, the VA launched a website with information about resources available to help veterans and their family members answer questions, find support, get treatment, and recover from substance use disorders. In addition, VA offers resources for VA health care practitioners, to include:

- VA Talent Management Services (TMS) courses: VA's TMS courses provide information to VA
  practitioners on opioid therapy practices in inpatient and outpatient settings, including the
  use of opioids for acute pain (including patient controlled analgesia) and chronic pain. Courses
  focus on the management of complex pain patients and on the treatment of pain in primary
  care rural health care settings.
- Clinical Practice Guidelines on Opioid Therapy for the Management of Chronic Pain
  Toolkit: Developed in collaboration with the DOD, the Toolkit provides education and guidance to primary care clinicians, specialists, researchers and other health professionals as they
  encounter patients with persistent pain and its complications.

VA is preparing to participate in state Prescription Drug Monitoring Programs (PDMPs). The Administration worked with the Congress to secure language in the FY 2012 Consolidated Appropriations Act to allow VA to share prescription drug data with state PDMPs, an important development to ensure safe prescribing and patient safety for our veterans. Publication of an interim final rule on February 11, 2013 amended VA's regulations concerning the sharing of certain patient information in order to implement VA's authority to participate in state PDMPs. VA is developing the informatics solution for each VA medical center to submit prescription data.

In 2012, the Institute of Medicine's study on current substance use problems within the U.S. military found that a long history of alcohol and other drug misuse and abuse has been transformed by increasing rates of prescription drug abuse among service members, while heavy alcohol use and binge drinking continue to be a concern within the military. To address substance use disorders among service members, the Institute of Medicine recommends that evidence-based prevention, screening, diagnosis, and treatment practices be incorporated into the principles and structures of DOD policies. ONDCP will continue to work closely with DOD to ensure that training, credentialing, and staffing requirements for substance use disorders are achieved; that treatment services are implemented systematically; and that these services are expanded and improved for all military branches.

#### D. Enhance Public and Private Insurance Coverage of Addiction Treatment

Electronic health records assist service providers in making decisions and developing appropriate courses of treatment based on patients' full medical history, including treatments, medications, and therapies performed and prescribed by other providers. In 2012, SAMHSA, CMS, and the Health Resources and Services Administration established two health information technology plans for substance use disorder treatment providers to use as models to automate and standardize data collection, information sharing, and service reimbursement. Also in 2012, SAMHSA conducted 15 webinars on health care reform activities, including state insurance exchanges, tribal consultation, health homes, and account-

able care organizations, and provided an overview of Medicaid expansion and opportunities under the Affordable Care Act.

#### E. Inform Public Health Systems on Implementation of Needle Exchange Programs

On February 23, 2011, the Department of Health and Human Services published a notice in the Federal Register stating that the Surgeon General of the United States has "determined that a demonstration needle exchange program (or more appropriately called syringe services program or SSP) would be effective in reducing drug abuse and the risk that the public will become infected with the etiologic agent for acquired immune deficiency syndrome." This determination was required by law to permit the expenditure of Substance Abuse Prevention and Treatment Block Grant funds for syringe services programs. Unfortunately, the Congress reinstated the ban on most Federal funding for syringe services programs in the FY 2012 Omnibus appropriations bill.

#### 2. Addicted Patients and Their Families Must Receive High-Quality Care

#### A. Support the Development of New Medications for Addiction

NIDA has made the development of addiction medications a top priority, particularly for stimulants (e.g., cocaine, methamphetamine), marijuana, and polysubstance addiction for which there are no approved medications. To garner more pharmaceutical involvement, NIDA is taking the approach of "de-risking" compounds in the early stages of discovery—awarding large grants up-front for shorter durations to encourage quicker results among closely monitored grantees or to allow a change in direction as needed. This more nimble strategic approach was prompted in part by the successful clinical trial of Probuphine™, supported by 2-year American Recovery and Reinvestment Act funding. Probuphine is a form of buprenorphine that is implanted under the skin and allows continuous delivery of the medication for 6 months after a single treatment, potentially eliminating the need for a daily dose and reducing the potential for diversion and abuse. Titan Pharmaceuticals, the manufacturers of Probuphine, announced in October 2012 that it filed a New Drug Application with the FDA, which has granted the application priority review and will determine if Probuphine™ meets approval standards.

NIDA is also funding a promising approach to treat stimulant and other substance use disorders that uses anti-drug enzymes or antibodies to neutralize the substance while it is still in the bloodstream, keeping it from entering the brain. To help advance the marketability of this approach, two recent NIDA-supported preclinical studies have developed a strategy that uses non-infective viruses modified to deliver (harmlessly) a gene that codes for the desired enzyme or antibody. Preliminary results show that, once expressed in the body after a single injection of the virus carrier, these gene products can interfere with the pharmacological effects of the target drug for a long time.

ONDCP will continue to work with NIDA and the FDA to ensure new medications are brought through development and testing. It is critical that these medications are then made available in the market, particularly in underserved communities such as rural areas and other locations with limited treatment infrastructure.

#### CHAPTER 3. INTEGRATE TREATMENT FOR SUBSTANCE USE DISORDERS INTO HEALTH CARE AND EXPAND SUPPORT FOR RECOVERY

While new medications continue to be developed, broader adoption of existing medicines to manage substance use disorders is necessary. In one important step, the DOD is working on a proposed rule to lift the prohibition on covering the treatment of substance use disorders through maintenance on substances with addictive potential, such as methadone or buprenorphine.

## B. Develop a Pay-for-Performance Mechanism to Promote the Quality of Publicly Funded Substance Abuse Treatment

SAMHSA intends to provide training on core business operations practices to at least 250 substance abuse provider and recovery support organizations each year through the Provider Business Operations Learning Networks project (BHBusiness). SAMHSA has launched the BHBusiness project and is in the process of developing the learning modules and provider application/selection criteria.

#### C. Promulgate the National Quality Forum Standards for Addiction Treatment

ONDCP and the Department of Health and Human Services worked with Federal partners to develop consensus recommendations for 14 behavioral health-related clinical quality measures. Each measure supports one or more of the Institute of Medicine domains of health care quality, promoting effective, safe, efficient, patient-centered, equitable, and timely care. These mental health and substance use disorder treatment measures will be included in the Center for Medicare & Medicaid Services' Electronic Health Records Meaningful Use Incentive Program. The Meaningful Use program provides Federal incentives to help health care providers adopt electronic health records.

#### D. Equip Health Care Providers and First Responders To Recognize and Manage Overdoses

In 2012, the FDA, NIDA, SAMHSA, and the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) worked together to develop approaches to reduce opioid overdose fatalities and identify issues related to more widespread availability of and access to naloxone A detailed discussion of the Administration's overdose prevention and intervention efforts is included under "Policy Focus: Preventing Prescription Drug Abuse."

## E. Integrate Substance Use Treatment and HIV Prevention and Care, Including in the Criminal Justice System

Individuals involved in the criminal justice system have disproportionately high rates of substance use disorders and infectious diseases, including HIV/AIDS. Effective linkage to HIV treatment can not only improve health outcomes for offenders but also limit HIV's spread in the community. NIDA seeks to enhance HIV and other infectious disease screening and treatment for offenders. NIDA is supporting research to develop and test strategies for identifying criminal justice-involved individuals who have not recently been tested (seek), provide them with HIV testing (test), and initiate, monitor, and maintain Highly Active Antiretroviral Therapy (HAART) for those who test positive (treat). These grants will test strategies to link HIV+ individuals in criminal justice settings to HIV care in the community; use trained peers to help access and sustain HIV services; integrate HIV testing and treatment into jail and prison settings; integrate HIV and addiction treatment; and study the impact of seek, test, and treat strategies at the community level. NIDA's Criminal Justice—Drug Abuse Treatment Studies, a multisite research collaborative, is also testing implementation strategies for an HIV continuum of care—that is, screening

and counseling, risk-reduction interventions, and continuity of antiretroviral treatment from prison or jail into the community. SAMHSA is also working to achieve the complementary goals of the *National Drug Control Strategy* and *National HIV/AIDS Strategy* through various grant programs focusing on minority populations at risk for HIV, injection drug users, and those being served by substance use treatment centers.

#### 3. Celebrate and Support Recovery from Addiction

#### A. Expand the Access to Recovery Program

SAMHSA's Access to Recovery (ATR) Program gives grants to states and tribes to provide vouchers to people who are seeking or are in recovery, enabling them to choose the treatment and recovery support services they need. Recovery support services are non-clinical in nature and can include peer recovery coaching or job readiness and employment services, transportation, and recovery housing, among many other services. In 2011, the most recent year for which data are available, the program exceeded its capacity expansion goal by a significant margin, serving 47,036 individuals, or 140 percent of its goal of 33,500. Six months after admission to the program, 82.1 percent of participants reported no substance use during the past month, and 96.7 percent of participants reported no involvement or reduced involvement with the criminal justice system. Additionally, 90 percent of participants reported increased interaction with family members and friends who were supportive of their recovery during the 6 months post-admission.<sup>48</sup>

#### B. Review Laws and Regulations that Impede Recovery from Addiction

In 2012, ONDCP reviewed procedures and practices related to the administration of Federal student loans and grants to identify potential barriers to recovery. Formerly, the law made individuals with a past drug conviction ineligible for Federal financial aid. Now the law only restricts the eligibility of individuals convicted of a drug offense that was committed while they were receiving Federal financial aid. To help reduce confusion that could arise for applicants with a past drug conviction, the Department of Education changed the online version of the Free Application for Federal Student Aid (FAFSA) form so students who have not previously received Federal Student Aid—and are therefore not affected by the restrictions currently in the law—are not asked about past drug convictions. ONDCP is currently working with the Department of Education to identify additional steps to reduce potential barriers to Federal student assistance. ONDCP is also working with the Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) and the Interagency Reentry Council to highlight the importance of helping people reentering the community from incarceration to access public housing and federally-subsidized privately held housing.

In December 2012, SAMHSA issued a revised Federal rule governing the dispensing of buprenorphine in opioid treatment programs. Previously, a patient prescribed buprenorphine through an opioid treatment program needed to be in stable treatment for 9 months before the physician was authorized to permit dispensing of take-home medication. Under the new rule, the physician is afforded discretion to determine when and how to dispense take-home medication.

#### CHAPTER 3. INTEGRATE TREATMENT FOR SUBSTANCE USE DISORDERS INTO HEALTH CARE AND EXPAND SUPPORT FOR RECOVERY

## C. Foster the Expansion of Community-Based Recovery Support Programs, Including Recovery Schools, Peer-led Programs, Mutual Aid Groups, and Recovery Community Organizations

ONDCP, SAMHSA, and a range of non-governmental organizations are collaborating to expand community-based recovery support services. ONDCP has participated in the ongoing development of voluntary national accreditation standards for recovery community organizations and has nearly tripled the size of its Recovery-Oriented Systems of Care Learning Community for states, tribes, and local governments, bringing its membership to 16 jurisdictions. ONDCP also participated in the development of webinars and a training institute on collegiate recovery programs. Additionally, SAMHSA conducted a policy academy for states wishing to implement the Recovery-Oriented Systems of Care framework. ONDCP continues to highlight the needs of adolescents and young adults in recovery, to include promoting the importance of recovery high schools and collegiate recovery programs.

#### **Advocate for Action: Devin Fox**



Devin Fox is celebrating 4 years in continuous recovery and is helping other young people achieve the same success. For Devin, recovery is not only a long-term process leading to a better life; it is also the force that drives his life. As a founding member of the national nonprofit organization <a href="Young People">Young People</a> in Recovery, Devin works to give young people in recovery a voice through social media and policy. As Devin states, "Young people in recovery finding their voice in a nation that has been deaf to our input is more than a 'cause.' This movement is not

something I hide behind. I stand proudly along with it and acknowledge it as mine, yours and everyone who wants it." Devin also serves as the <u>Recovery Advocate</u> for the New Jersey Division of Mental Health and Addiction Services, an <u>Advocacy Leader</u> for the New Jersey chapter of the National Conference of Alcohol and Drug Dependence, and as Primary Therapist at <u>Summit Behavioral Health</u> in Princeton Junction, New Jersey.



### Chapter 4: Break the Cycle of Drug Use, Crime, Delinquency, and Incarceration

Decades of scientific study show that addiction is a disease of the brain that can be prevented and treated. While smart law enforcement efforts will always play a vital role in protecting communities from drug-related crime and violence, we cannot arrest our way out of the drug problem. Over the past 3 years, the Administration has sought to reform the criminal justice system to more effectively address individuals with substance use disorders and reduce recidivism. When an individual becomes involved with the criminal justice system, it may be their first opportunity to obtain substance abuse treatment. The need for treatment is underscored by new data on drug use rates among arrestees. The 2011 Arrestee Drug Abuse Monitoring (ADAM) program indicates that in each of the 10 participating metropolitan areas, more than half of the adult males arrested for crimes—misdemeanors and felonies—tested positive for at least one drug.<sup>49</sup>

The Administration supports alternatives to incarceration such as drug courts, diversion programs, enhanced probation and parole programs, and other supervision strategies that include community-based treatment and services. Through DOJ's Justice Reinvestment Initiative, the Administration is working at the state and county level to analyze prison and jail populations and corrections expenditures. This analysis will support the development of policies to decrease costs and recidivism and reinvest savings into community supervision programs and services, including substance abuse treatment services. Currently, 17 states and 18 counties are participating in this initiative. The Administration is also reducing barriers to reentry and recovery for formerly incarcerated individuals by reviewing regulations and policies, clarifying misconceptions, correcting unnecessary barriers, and supporting treatment and other services for formerly incarcerated individuals.

Placing more non-violent individuals with substance use disorders on community supervision and providing treatment and other services is gaining acceptance among criminal justice scholars and practitioners. Education for criminal justice and law enforcement professionals on the science of addiction and the neurological effects of drug use can help facilitate more innovation in the field. In addition, criminal justice professionals should include the use of MAT as appropriate for those in the juvenile and criminal justice systems. At the Federal level, research is underway to identify the best strategies for implementing MAT in criminal justice settings. For example, with funding from NIDA, the Federal Bureau of Prisons (BOP) has partnered with Texas Christian University to conduct a five-year Medication-Assisted Treatment Implementation in Community Correctional Environments (MATICCE) research project; preliminary results are expected in 2013.

In addition, more can be done to prevent young people from entering or spiraling further into the justice system due to substance use disorders. In July 2012, NIDA announced it is seeking proposals for multisite studies focusing on the continuum of substance abuse prevention and treatment services delivered to youth under juvenile justice supervision. These studies will be developed and conducted across a variety of community-based supervision settings, including juvenile probation, truancy and teen courts, and adolescent drug courts to determine the effectiveness of evidence-based substance abuse interventions in real world settings. The multisite studies are expected to begin in July 2013.

### 1. Provide Communities with the Capacity to Prevent Drug-Related Crime

### A. Organize Communitywide Efforts to Reduce Open-Air Drug Markets and Gang Activity via Drug Market Intervention Approaches

The Drug Market Intervention (DMI) model has proven effective in shutting down open-air drug markets through community-based solutions and direct engagement among law enforcement, prosecutors, drug dealers, their families, and communities. The Bureau of Justice Assistance (BJA) supports the implementation and operations of the DMI model through its DMI Training and Technical Assistance Initiative conducted by Michigan State University (MSU) for existing and new sites. To date, there have been 24 sites trained through this initiative. In FY 2013, MSU's training and technical assistance effort will be coordinated with BJA-supported efforts underway at the John Jay College of Criminal Justice and the National Network for Safe Communities. MSU's DMI Training and Technical Assistance Initiative has been extended to December 31, 2013. The National Network for Safe Communities' project was initiated in October 2012 and will be supported for a period of 3 years. The National Institute of Justice (NIJ) is evaluating seven sites trained as part of this BJA initiative. Four of the seven sites have implemented DMI to date. The evaluation is focusing on the effects of these DMI efforts on open air drug markets. The evaluation will be completed in 2015.

### B. Engage Faith-Based and Neighborhood Community Organizations to Prevent Drug-Related Crime

The National Youth Violence Prevention Forum is a White House-led initiative commissioned by the President in 2010, linking cities and Federal agencies together to implement strategies and programs to prevent youth and gang violence in the United States. The Administration has engaged community and faith-based leaders through Forum meetings and site visits to the Forum participating cities. In 2012, the Forum added four new cities: Camden, NJ; Minneapolis, MN; New Orleans, LA; and Philadelphia, PA. These interactions deliver information and identify training and technical assistance and funding resources for cities in their efforts to reduce youth violence, of which drug-related crime is a significant subset.

### C. Support Innovative Criminal Justice Research Programs

The Administration supports research into innovative criminal justice approaches to share with communities throughout the country. In 2011, BJA funded the Honest Opportunity Probation with Enforcement Demonstration Field Experiment (HOPE DFE) in four jurisdictions. Based on the success of Hawaii's Opportunity Probation with Enforcement (HOPE) initiative, these two-year projects will use drug testing and swift and certain sanctions to reduce probation violations. The HOPE DFE is currently underway and BJA has been conducting site visits and providing technical assistance for four selected sites. The evaluation results are expected in summer 2015.

# 2. Develop Infrastructure to Promote Alternatives to Incarceration When Appropriate

### A. Enhance and Promote Diversion Strategies

Addressing the challenges of pretrial justice is a necessary component of criminal justice reform. First convened in October 2011 and continued in 2012, the Office of Justice Programs Pretrial Justice Workgroup focused on improving the costly pretrial justice system. Two pretrial risk assessment tools are currently being implemented in Colorado and Florida. These tools assist criminal justice professionals in making decisions about particular individuals during pretrial. BJA also issued two publications: "Pretrial Risk Assessment 101" and "Using Technology to Enhance Pretrial Services: Current Applications and Future Possibilities." In support of DOJ's commitment to promoting best practices for interventions at the front-end of the criminal justice system, the NIJ funded a \$1 million Multisite Evaluation of District Attorneys' Pretrial Diversion Programs in FY 2012.

### B. Support Drug and Other Problem-Solving Courts

Including DWI and Veterans Treatment Courts, the National Association of Drug Court Professionals reported a total of 2,734 drug court programs in the United States as of June 2012.<sup>54</sup> In FY 2012, BJA awarded over \$20 million for various drug court projects, including drug court implementation and expansion grants as well as national and statewide training and technical assistance grants; SAMHSA separately awarded over \$12.4 million for 42 grants to expand substance abuse treatment capacity in adult and family drug courts. SAMHSA provided extensive technical assistance and training to its drug court grant cohort, including training on trauma-informed care, addressing minority population needs, screening and assessment of risk and severity, and motivational interviewing to improve clinical services delivery to drug court clients. SAMHSA and BJA also jointly awarded nearly \$2 million to enhance services, coordination, and treatment in adult drug courts. BJA continues to engage with practitioners to promote the 21 curricula developed for veterans courts, tribal healing to wellness courts, courts serving individuals with co-occurring disorders, adult drug courts, and courts facing cultural proficiency issues. The Adult Drug Court Research to Practice Initiative, jointly funded by BJA and NIJ, produced a webinar in 2012 on seven components of successful programming based on NIJ's Multisite Adult Drug Court Evaluation and other rigorous research. It also provided training and technical assistance to DWI (driving while intoxicated) courts. Through the National Association of Drug Court Professionals, BJA supported 10 mentor drug courts nationwide and BJA worked with the Center for Court Innovation to select regional mentor community courts in Seattle, Dallas, and Hartford to assist jurisdictions in establishing community courts. Community courts are problem-solving courts that focus on neighborhood crime and public safety issues. To date, there are approximately 40 community courts in the United States.

### C. Promote TASC (Treatment Alternatives for Safe Communities) Model of Intensive Case Management

Educating criminal justice professionals on the science of addiction and models of effective interventions is critical to criminal justice reform. The "Justice Leaders Symposium: Enhancing Court Efficiency through Emerging Addiction Science" trains judges and criminal justice professionals on the science of addiction and potential interventions along the continuum of the criminal justice system, including

MAT.<sup>55</sup> The initiative held one national training and one state training in 2012 for approximately 75 judges and criminal justice professionals.

### D. Foster Equitable Drug Sentencing

The Administration is committed to the fair and equal application of the Nation's laws. In recognition of this commitment, the President signed the Fair Sentencing Act in 2010. Prior to the Fair Sentencing Act, the disparity in sentencing between offenses for crack cocaine and powder cocaine was 100-to-1. With the enactment and retroactive application of the Fair Sentencing Act, the disparity in sentencing has been dramatically reduced. This marks the first time in 40 years that Congress has reduced a mandatory minimum sentence.

#### E. Promote Best Practices as Alternatives to Incarceration

To bring effective alternatives to incarceration to scale, the Administration supports research and evaluations of different approaches being implemented in the field. Since 2011, NIJ has supported two research projects on sentencing and community corrections practices that promote effective and cost-efficient alternatives to incarceration. The first, which is expected to be completed in fall 2013, analyzes drug law policy changes in the State of New York. The second, expected to be completed in fall 2014, is studying a validated assessment tool being used in three New York City drug courts.

### F. Improve Intervention and Treatment Services for Female Offenders in the Juvenile and Criminal Justice Systems

The number of women in prison increased by 646 percent between 1980 and 2010. <sup>56,57</sup> According to the Bureau of Justice Statistics, 25 percent of women in state prisons are incarcerated for a drug offense. <sup>58</sup> In addition, women in prison are more likely than men to have chronic and/or communicable medical problems. <sup>59</sup> The National Institute of Corrections' Women Offenders Initiative is developing an evidence-based, gender-informed curriculum to help managerial-level corrections practitioners analyze policies and practices relevant to women in the criminal justice system. The National Institute of Corrections' Women Offenders Initiative and the Research Division are developing an online guide for video visitation, to be released in March 2014. The guide will assist correctional institutions in developing visitation protocols aimed at strengthening the bonds between incarcerated parents and their children, family members, and communities. The guide will enhance appropriate connections and provide a means to address barriers that inhibit on-site visitation. The National Resource Center on Justice Involved Women, in partnership with BJA and the National Institute of Corrections, provides training and technical assistance services to criminal justice professionals on issues relating to justice-involved women. <sup>60</sup>

### G. Examine Interventions and Treatment Services for Veterans within the Criminal Justice System

Like other problem-solving courts, Veterans Treatment Courts focus on treatment and personal accountability to address substance abuse and mental health disorders without resorting to traditional incarceration. In June 2012, there were 104 Veterans Treatment Courts—a dramatic increase from 2010, when

there were only 20 in the country. <sup>61</sup> These courts work with VA, state and local veterans' agencies, and other organizations that provide services and opportunities specifically targeted at veterans to aid in recovery and reentry. In addition, VA developed a new Veterans Reentry Search Service (VRSS), an online system to determine inmates' veteran status and facilitate outreach to connect them to veterans' services once released. VRSS is currently undergoing pilot testing, and will be made widely available in 2013. <sup>62</sup> Through the National Association of Drug Court Professionals, BJA supports training for new veterans treatment courts and has trained 58 veterans treatment court teams to date.

### H. Connect Incarcerated Veterans with Critical Substance Abuse and Reentry Services

To improve its efforts to connect incarcerated veterans to substance abuse and reentry services, the VA Veterans Justice Outreach Programs consulted with corrections administrators, service providers, and veterans to review its existing procedures for outreach to incarcerated veterans. Based on these consultations, and in recognition of the varying complexity of veterans' reentry needs, VA advised its field outreach staff in January 2012 to begin reentry planning with incarcerated Veterans as soon as their needs warranted, rather than focusing solely on those with the nearest release dates. The result of this guidance has been the initiation of outreach to veterans while they are still incarcerated, a practice that helps ease the veterans' transitions back to their communities upon release.

### I. Address the Issue of Drug Use and Drug-Related Crime for American Indian/ Alaskan Natives

The Bureau of Indian Affairs Office of Justice Services has a dedicated Division of Drug Enforcement with trained and experienced special agents who work with tribal law enforcement agencies providing technical support and operational assistance. The division also works in conjunction with other drug enforcement entities on investigations in and around Indian Country. Additional drug training programs are offered at the Indian Police Academy (IPA). Courses on drug trafficking interdiction, Spanish immersion, and basic and advanced drug investigations are also being conducted.

In August 2011, in accordance with the Tribal Law and Order Act of 2010 (Title II of Public Law 111-211), a memorandum of understanding was signed by the Departments of Justice, Interior, and Health and Human Services that mandated, among other things, the expansion and improvement of substance abuse prevention, intervention, treatment, and criminal justice services. The resulting Tribal Justice Plan emphasizes further development of alternatives to incarceration in Indian Country. BJA supports training for tribal healing to wellness courts and, through its Adult Drug Court program and the Indian Alcohol and Substance Abuse program, provides funding to tribes to increase alternatives to incarceration for substance abusing offenders in Indian Country. In July 2012, more than 200 American Indian youth and adult leaders from 53 tribal communities across the country convened at the week-long 2012 National Intertribal Youth Summit in Washington, DC. The Summit provided a unique opportunity for Federal officials to hear directly from tribal youth on topics such as education, health, cultural preservation, civic engagement, and leadership development.

### 3. Use Community Corrections Programs to Monitor and Support Drug-Involved Offenders

### A. Support Drug Testing with Certain and Swift Sanctions in Probation and Parole Systems

Drug testing with swift and certain sanctions, such as short periods of incarceration, has shown promise as a way to reduce probation and parole violations, and the Administration supports further research into its potential for broader applicability. Currently, NIJ is conducting two field experiments that are expected to be completed by the fall of 2013. The first field experiment is a drug testing and graduated sanctions program within the Department of Corrections in Delaware, assessing the implementation process of such a program in a large urban probation department. The second project, which began in 2011, is a 5-year follow-up with the probationers from the 2007 HOPE program evaluation.

### B. Consider Mechanisms for Assessing and Intensifying Community Corrections

Over the past 3 years, the Administration has focused on reducing recidivism and decreasing the use of incarceration for substance abusing offenders. With its new "Smart Probation: Reducing Prison Populations, Saving Money, and Creating Safer Communities" grant program, BJA awarded over \$3.5 million to nine grantees.<sup>63</sup> These 2-year grants support the development and implementation of evidence-based probation programs to improve success rates, reduce recidivism, and address the needs of medium- to high-risk offenders and special populations.

### C. Align the Criminal Justice and Public Health Systems to Intervene with Heavy Users

To address the issue of heavy drug use and criminal activity, SAMHSA's Center for Substance Abuse Treatment supports the dissemination of information to the criminal justice field that advocates the use of MAT, including medications to reduce and eliminate opioid and alcohol dependence as part of an effective substance abuse treatment regimen. For the past 2 years, SAMHSA supported workshops at major conferences such as the National Association of Drug Court Professionals Drug Court Training Conference to educate participants on the use of these medications and reduce resistance to their use. In March 2011, the Center for Substance Abuse Treatment held an expert panel meeting on MAT and the Criminal Justice System, focusing on MAT research, challenges to acceptance in the justice system, and recommendations to better achieve incorporation of MAT as a viable option in treatment planning and delivery. The Bureau of Prisons also participated in a research project to explore collaboration between criminal justice agencies and MAT providers. SAMHSA will continue its partnership with BJA in FY 2014 on a number of joint public health and public safety activities, including further promotion of MAT in the criminal justice field as an evidence-based practice when providing substance abuse treatment.

#### **Advocate for Action: Lieutenant Detective Patrick Glynn**



With the implementation of the Overdose Education and Naloxone Distribution program by the Massachusetts Department of Public Health Bureau of Substance Abuse Services, the Commonwealth has become a nationwide leader in overdose education, prevention, and intervention. Lt. Det. Patrick Glynn directs the naloxone program in Quincy, Massachusetts, which is credited with reversing more than 100 potentially fatal drug overdoses—giving individuals a second chance to change their lives for the better. Lt. Det. Glynn is a staunch advocate for

wider adoption of the program after all Quincy law enforcement officers were trained in 2010 to use naloxone to reverse opioid overdoses. As many communities see increased rates of heroin abuse, younger ages of initiation, and continuing challenges related to opioid pain reliever abuse, it is increasingly important to spread awareness that overdoses can be prevented and that simple-to-use medicines are available to reverse overdoses. Overdose education and naloxone availability are important parts of our efforts to decrease abuse of opiates (pharmaceutical or heroin) and save lives. As Lt. Det. Glynn has stated:

I believe we have spread the word that no one should fear calling the police for assistance and that the option of life is just a 911 call away. We have also reinforced with the community that the monster is not in the cruiser, but indeed the officer represents a chance at life.

Det. Glynn exemplifies how the law enforcement and public health communities can partner to reduce drug use and save lives.

### D. Tackling Co-Occurring Disorders Using a Community-Based Response

Co-occurring disorders, particularly the combination of substance use disorders and mental illness, pose significant challenges not only to public health but also to public safety. Substance abuse is a key risk factor for violence among individuals with mental illness. Recent research shows that those with both a severe mental illness and a substance use disorder have a greatly increased relative risk for violence (more than 11 times) compared to those with neither diagnosis.<sup>64</sup> Co-occurring substance use and mental disorders have also been found to increase the risk of suicide.<sup>65</sup> However, it is also the case that people with severe mental illness are more likely to be victims of violent crimes than to commit them.

The SAMHSA Center for Mental Health Services funds programs that address the particularly difficult problem of co-occurring disorders. The agency's Jail Diversion and Trauma program decreases criminal justice involvement for this population. As of April 2012, the percentage of clients who had no involvement in the criminal justice system improved from 42.6 percent upon entry to the program to 93.4 percent at 6 months post-admission, exceeding the target of 92 percent. The Center for Mental Health Services Treatment for Homeless grant program aims to increase abstinence rates among the homeless population. As of April 2012, it achieved a 64.7 percent increase in abstinence between intake and 6 months post-admission. In addition, as of April 2012, the increase in housing from baseline to follow-up reached 131.2 percent, surpassing the target increase of 50 percent. The Center for Substance Abuse Treatment continued its requirement that all grantees screen for co-occurring disorders in its FY 2012 solicitation for adult drug courts and targeted capacity expansion/HIV programs.

### E. Improve and Advance Substance Abuse Treatment in Prisons

Jail and prison are key access points for individuals needing treatment, but many do not receive it. According to the Bureau of Justice Statistics, 68.0 percent of jail inmates, 53.4 percent of state inmates, and 45.5 percent of Federal inmates suffer from alcohol or drug dependence or abuse—and yet only 7 percent of jail inmates, 15 percent of state inmates, and 17 percent of Federal inmates receive treatment. 66,67 In FY 2012, BJA awarded \$8.5 million in Residential Substance Abuse Treatment for State Prisoners formula grants to 50 states and five U.S. territories. In 2012, BJA provided training and technical assistance to help those jurisdictions provide more effective treatment services. In FY 2013, BOP will move to increase its Residential Drug Abuse Program (RDAP) by 26 percent by committing to 20 new or expanded program sites. This represents an increase of over 1,700 available treatment beds and an estimated 3,400 additional RDAP participants each year as these new and expanded programs become fully operational. RDAP is BOP's most intensive treatment program; participants live in a unit separate from the general population, and the program is based on a cognitive behavioral model with treatment services, educational activities, and work assignments. In FY 2012, BOP committed resources to open two Spanish language program sites, one male and one female, in the fourth quarter of FY 2013. All current BOP treatment protocols are available to the public through the National Institute of Corrections library. As formerly incarcerated individuals reenter the community, it remains important that they be educated regarding the services available to them after their release.

NIDA's CJ-DATS also tests strategies for how best to implement effective substance abuse treatment within the criminal justice system. In the past year, CJ-DATS began data collection on its Medication-Assisted Treatment Implementation in Community Correctional Environments (MATICCE) protocol. MATICCE is testing implementation approaches to improve service coordination between community correctional agencies and local treatment agencies; to increase the number of persons in corrections who are provided MAT; and to improve community corrections agents' knowledge and perceptions about MAT and their intent to refer appropriate individuals to community-based MAT services. Data collection is expected to be completed in FY 2013.

# 4. Create Supportive Communities to Sustain Recovery for the Reentry Population

### A. Expand Reentry Support and Services through Second Chance Act and Other Federal Grants

Through Second Chance Act programming, the Administration provides funding for projects to help the formerly incarcerated receive treatment, explore employment opportunities, and rebuild their lives. In 2012, BJA awarded over \$23.5 million for several new projects covering co-occurring disorders, family-based treatment, technology career training, mentoring, reentry support programs, and the National Reentry Resource Center. BJA awarded over \$6 million to seven state corrections departments through the Adult Offender Comprehensive Statewide Recidivism Reduction Demonstration Program to implement long-term strategies to reduce recidivism using evidence-based programs and practices.<sup>68</sup>

### B. Develop Ex-Offender Adult Reentry Programs

Individuals with criminal conviction records face barriers that extend beyond their sentences. State and Federal laws and rules restrict their access to many government benefits and opportunities, making it difficult for them to successfully return to society. These restrictions and sanctions, known as collateral consequences, have been promulgated with little coordination in various sections of state and Federal codes, making it difficult to identify all the penalties and disabilities that are triggered by conviction for a particular offense. Though some collateral consequences serve an important and legitimate public safety or regulatory function, many do not and rather serve as additional punishment without due process protections. In September 2012, the National Inventory of Collateral Consequences of Conviction (NICCC) was launched—a project of NIJ and the American Bar Association. The NICCC is a public online database of the legal sanctions and penalties of state and Federal offenses affecting individuals with a criminal record. Currently, the collateral consequences from 12 states and the Federal system are available.<sup>69</sup> Data from other states will be available online by fall 2013. Previously, Attorney General Holder sent a letter to all state attorneys general asking them to use the NICCC to review their state laws for collateral consequences and eliminate or modify those that do not impact public safety.

### C. Facilitate Access to Housing for Reentering Offenders

For many of the formerly incarcerated, access to affordable housing is a critical piece of reentry that will allow them to rebuild their relationships and explore educational or employment opportunities. The Administration for Children and Families awarded \$6 million for the Project Reunite demonstration, which will bring the formerly incarcerated and their families together in stable housing. The award went to four grantees, and implementation of the 3-year pilot began in 2012. Also in 2012, HUD trained 92 Regional and Field Office staff in reentry efforts and resources that will support communities to address these needs. HUD continues promoting the various subsidized housing options that are available to the formerly incarcerated, including HUD-VA Supportive Housing, Family Unification Vouchers, and Shelter Plus Care. In determining admission or termination of assistance for a current or potential resident who has previously engaged in alcohol abuse or illegal drug use, a public housing agency (PHA) may assess whether the individual is rehabilitated or participating in a rehabilitation program. HUD issued two letters in 2011 to all PHAs and Housing Choice Voucher Owners and Agents uplifting current HUD policy regarding an individual's participation in drug court as evidence of participation in a supervised alcohol or drug rehabilitation program.

#### D. Provide Work-Related Training and Assistance to Reentering Offenders

Lack of employment can be a significant obstacle to successful reentry, and the Reintegration of Ex-Offenders—Adult Program seeks to encourage employment for the formerly incarcerated through job training, mentoring, and other transitional services. In May 2012, the Department of Labor awarded \$20.5 million to 18 nonprofit organizations for employment-related services for formerly incarcerated adults who are returning to high-poverty and high-crime communities. Since 2010, the Department's Reintegration of Ex-Offenders—Adult Program has awarded more than \$32 million in grants. Grantees will use the funds to provide occupational training that leads to credentials in high-demand indus-

tries, mentoring, and assistance in connecting formerly incarcerated adults with supportive services such as housing, substance abuse programs, and mental health treatment. Since the initiation of the Reintegration of Ex-Offenders grants in 2007 (originally called the Prisoner Reentry Initiative), performance outcomes have been strong. As of June 30, 2012, this grant program exceeded all Government Performance and Results Act (GPRA) goals for Program Year 2011 (which ended on June 30, 2012).

In June 2012, the Department of Labor awarded more than \$12 million to 9 grantees to provide gender-specific reentry services and support for formerly incarcerated women and girls to improve their long-term labor market prospects. Services include job training that leads to credentials in high-demand industries, employment preparation, mentoring, intensive case management/life coaching, and assistance connecting to supportive services such as housing, substance abuse and mental health treatment, and assistance with parenting and child reunification.

### E. Encourage States Receiving Federal Funds for Corrections Programs to Provide Assistance to BJS in Conducting Annual Recidivism Studies

The Bureau of Justice Statistics is working to produce data on national recidivism rates, which are valuable but often difficult to obtain. The Bureau of Justice Statistics is developing a software program for standardizing data found in criminal records collected from the Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) and all state criminal history repositories. Using these data, the Bureau of Justice Statistics is currently working on two recidivism studies. One follows for 5 years a cohort of individuals released from state prisons in 2005, while the other assesses the 5-year recidivism patterns of individuals placed on Federal probation in 2005. As of July 2012, all necessary data had been received and the Bureau of Justice Statistics anticipates completing its analysis in 2013.

### 5. Improve Treatment for Youth Involved with the Juvenile Justice System

### A. Develop and Disseminate More Effective Models of Addressing Substance Abuse and Mental Health Problems among Youth in the Juvenile Justice System

Juveniles require special attention due to their vulnerability to substance use disorders and the fact that adult services are often ineffective when applied to them. In 2012, the Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention (OJJDP) awarded over \$7.5 million for several programs, including Juvenile Drug Courts under the Reclaiming Futures Program, the Family Drug Courts Program, and the Enforcing Underage Drinking Laws Discretionary Program's Initiative to Reduce Underage Drinking in the Military. In addition, OJJDP engaged with Federal partners through its Coordinating Council on Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention to promote effective models for substance abuse and mental health treatment, prevention, and intervention. In calendar year 2013, OJJDP will align the data in their Model Programs Guide with the data in CrimeSolutions.gov and share a common criteria and database.



# Chapter 5. Disrupt Domestic Drug Trafficking and Production

Criminal organizations, both transnational and domestic, can be found in every part of the United States. Using illicit crossborder tunnels, parcel services, or other means, these organizations unlawfully smuggle and distribute both illegal and diverted legal drugs in our communities. They are responsible for a significant amount of the violence and crime associated with drug trafficking, and their actions threaten the well-being of citizens and the fabric of institutions at every level.

Federal, state, local, and tribal law enforcement agencies play an integral role in the Administration's balanced approach to reducing drug use and its consequences. In targeting criminal organizations, law enforcement agencies prevent drug traffickers from extending their corrosive reach further into our Nation's communities. Maximizing Federal support for drug law enforcement task forces is critical to leveraging limited resources. Sharing and exchanging intelligence, whether on internationally-based traffickers, trafficking on tribal lands, or smuggling through drug trafficking corridors, ensures Federal, state, local, and tribal law enforcement are working together on targeted threats and taking full advantage of available resources.

Security along the Mexican and Canadian borders also plays a significant role in reducing drug trafficking, use, and its consequences. While illicit substances move from Mexico to the United States, a substantial amount of weapons and illegal currency flows from the United States to Mexico. Although much attention is understandably drawn to the Southwest border, it is also important to remain vigilant and cognizant of the threats and risks posed along the 5,225 mile border between the United States and Canada. Traffickers exploit the vast tracts of land and extensive waterways along the border to transport and distribute drugs in both directions: for instance, MDMA (Ecstasy) and marijuana are transported from Canada into the United States, while cocaine is trafficked from the United States into Canada. Meanwhile, illicit proceeds from the sale of drugs cross the border in both directions, as do gang members, traffickers, and couriers.

The Administration recognizes that each part of the country has distinct drug-related challenges, requiring tailored responses that acknowledge the needs and draw upon the strengths of that particular community. In some communities, for example, it is necessary to address drugs such as heroin, which is experiencing a resurgence in some areas of the country. In other communities, the focus may be on aggressively targeting new threats like synthetic drugs. The Nation's law enforcement community must continue to focus on existing threats and collect information and data to address emerging threats.

It remains important that Federal, state, local, and tribal law enforcement agencies work together with prevention and treatment specialists to provide a balanced, holistic approach to reducing drug use and its consequences.

### **Working with Puerto Rico to Address Drug-Related Challenges**

Puerto Rico and the U.S. Virgin Islands remain the primary eastern Caribbean destination points for heroin and metric ton-quantity shipments of cocaine. There has been a recent increase in violent, drug-related crimes in Puerto Rico and the U.S. Virgin Islands. According to data collected by the Puerto Rico Police Department, 1,136 murders were reported in calendar year 2011, 153 more than in 2010. According to government officials in Puerto Rico, many were connected to drug trafficking activity.<sup>71</sup>

In response to increased drug-related violent crime on the island, President Obama convened a working group to enhance coordination and collaboration to address Puerto Rico's security and safety. The Puerto Rico Interagency Public Safety Working Group was added to the President's Task Force on Puerto Rico's Status, and members of this working group accompanied the Secretary of Homeland Security to Puerto Rico to engage local communities and stakeholders to address the issue of drug-related violent crime.

The Puerto Rico/U.S. Virgin Islands HIDTA is an integral part of this effort, and ONDCP is working with the HIDTA to implement the recommendations made by the Public Safety Working Group. The HIDTA's Executive Board has developed a comprehensive strategy to address the drug threat, which includes addressing drug-related violence. The Puerto Rico/U.S. Virgin Islands HIDTA is prepared to restructure its initiatives as necessary to address the changing threats and trends within its region of responsibility.

In one example of coordinated law enforcement action against drug-related violent crime on the island, Operation Caribbean Resilience was launched in January 2012 and resulted in 423 criminal arrests (190 Federal and 233 commonwealth), the seizure of 323 firearms, 12,991 rounds of ammunition, \$201,578 in U.S. currency, 13 vehicles, 247 pounds of marijuana, and measurable amounts of other narcotics. The U.S. Immigration and Customs Enforcement (ICE)-led enforcement operation was driven by real time intelligence and joint operations among Federal, commonwealth, and local law enforcement partners on the island.

### 1. Federal Enforcement Initiatives Must be Coordinated with State, Local, and Tribal Partners

### A. Maximize Federal Support for Drug Law Enforcement Task Forces

Federal funding for drug law enforcement task forces enables state and local law enforcement agencies to participate in joint investigations, promotes local and regional coordination, and helps minimize duplication of efforts. In 2011, HIDTA-funded initiatives disrupted or dismantled 2,942 drug trafficking organizations, removing significant quantities of drugs from the market and seizing \$728,753,436 in cash and \$210,428,628 in non-cash assets. <sup>72</sup> State and local law enforcement agencies are active participants in Organized Crime Drug Enforcement Task Forces (OCDETF) Strike Forces. For FY 2012, state and local enforcement agencies were participating in 4,719 out of 5,171 OCDETF investigations (91.3 percent).

### B. Improve Intelligence Exchange and Information Sharing

Systematic collection, analysis, and secure dissemination of accurate and timely intelligence are critical to thwarting the activities of criminal organizations. For example, the HIDTA Investigative Support Centers (ISCs) and Domestic Highway Enforcement program have used the DHS Homeland Security Information

#### CHAPTER 5. DISRUPT DOMESTIC DRUG TRAFFICKING AND PRODUCTION

Network (HSIN) to share products and requests for information with their partners, including fusion centers, Regional Information Sharing System centers, the El Paso Intelligence Center (EPIC), and the OCDETF Fusion Center (OFC). In FY 2012 the OFC generated 3,029 unique intelligence products that were disseminated to 11,780 investigators in the field. These intelligence products provided analysis on 14,145 targets. This number of targets analyzed represents an 11 percent increase over FY 2011.

At the Nation's borders, the Border Enforcement Security Task Forces (BESTs) have expanded to a total of 34 locations in 16 states and in Puerto Rico. The two most recently commissioned BEST locations are Nogales (March 2012) and Casa Grande, Arizona (July 2012).

Along the Nation's highways, the HIDTA Domestic Highway Enforcement Initiative integrates intelligence from border/source enforcement efforts and transit/destination investigation activity. Increased awareness from the HIDTA Domestic Highway Enforcement initiative resulted in the submission of 8,650 seizure reports to EPIC's National Seizure System in 2011, compared to 5,257 reports in 2009.

### C. Ensure State and Local Law Enforcement Access to Federal Information on Mexico-Based Traffickers

Current intelligence on Mexico-based traffickers must be readily available to state, local, and tribal law enforcement. State and local law enforcement agencies, knowingly or unknowingly, are many times the first to encounter suspects associated with Mexico-based traffickers. The EPIC Border Fusion Intelligence Section provides fused all-source intelligence support to Federal, state, local, and tribal law enforcement activities along the U.S.-Mexico border. EPIC's Tactical Operations Section will be preparing the Gatekeeper Project assessments for the Southwest border for FY 2013. These assessments will include in-depth analysis of each trafficking corridor's criminal infrastructure—its strengths, weaknesses, and abilities to effectively transport drugs across the border.

The Financial Crimes Enforcement Network (FinCEN), a bureau of the U.S. Department of the Treasury, safeguards the financial system from illicit use, counters money laundering, and promotes national security through the collection, analysis, and dissemination of financial intelligence and the strategic use of financial authorities. FinCEN provides 135 state and local law enforcement agencies with direct access to financial data through its FinCEN portal and directly supports state and local investigative efforts through its participation in the Southwest Border Anti-Money Laundering Alliance (SWBAMLA), with whom it shares finished intelligence products. In 2012, FinCEN produced three strategic intelligence advisories on evolving money laundering trends and created 35 money services business (MSB) agent analyses for Federal and state agencies that quantify, compare, and contrast remittance activity of MSB agents in order to facilitate detection of suspicious activity in Southwest border states.

### D. Promote Law Enforcement Collaboration Along Drug-Trafficking Corridors via "Gateway/Destination" Initiatives

Drug-related violence often occurs along drug, money, and weapon trafficking corridors; therefore, law enforcement information sharing across the primary trafficking corridors and into the Southwest border region is essential. Increased technology integration at more border ports of entry has forced smugglers to seek other alternatives to smuggle illicit drugs, such as illicit crossborder tunnels or ultralight aircraft.

DEA continues to provide access to the DEA Internet Connectivity Endeavor (DICE), an Internet-based deconfliction tool. Through DICE, state and local law enforcement receive notifications involving overlaps of investigative data among Federal, state, and local investigations. DICE is sponsored by over 102 DEA field division, district, and resident offices, and at the most recent count, DICE has over 10,000 active users (40 percent state, local, or tribal and 60 percent Federal law enforcement).

### E. Assist Tribal Authorities to Combat Trafficking on Tribal Lands

Seven HIDTA programs are currently collaborating on enforcement operations and training with tribal nations.<sup>73</sup> In Arizona, for example, the HIDTA has provided training and equipment to tribal law enforcement while also coordinating a task force interdiction effort with state and local law enforcement.

The FBI, in collaboration with the DOJ Office of Legal Education, provided approximately 22 drug-related training courses in FY 2011 and FY 2012 to tribal nations. These courses included instruction in evidence collection and interview and interrogation. The FBI also assessed drug and gang threats on tribal lands located on or near the Northern and Southwest borders. In November 2011, the FBI conducted a Violent Crime Threat Assessment with Ysleta Del Sur Pueblo (Texas), and, in 2012, conducted another at Tohono O'odham (Arizona).

In February 2010, the OFC launched an Indian Country Initiative to support field agents, analysts, and task force officers assigned to investigations in Indian Country through the generation of timely intelligence products.

In FY 2012, the OFC Indian Country Initiative completed 35 product requests on a total of 136 investigative targets and provided Indian Country training and information presentations at eight partner agency office locations. Approximately 95 percent of all Indian Country requests exhibit a nexus to drug distribution in Indian Country (the remaining 5 percent are associated with violence, gangs, burglary, theft, and money laundering).

### F. Ensure Comprehensive Review of Domestic Drug Threat

ONDCP's Office of Intelligence will collaborate with its intelligence community colleagues in DHS, DOJ, the Office of the Director of National Intelligence (ODNI), and other relevant agencies to ensure that national policy makers are provided with the best possible domestic all-source counterdrug intelligence analysis. In addition, ONDCP will continue to collaborate with DEA as DEA analysts assume the lead on an interagency National Drug Threat Assessment from the National Drug Intelligence Center, which closed in June 2012.

ONDCP's late-2012 survey querying Federal, state, and local partners regarding their need for analytical products is an example of this evolving process. ONDCP will coordinate with ODNI, DHS, other DOJ entities, SAMHSA, CDC, and other applicable intelligence community and law enforcement agencies to further develop and refine the requirements for domestic, strategic, all-source drug intelligence analysis and to improve the quality, scope, sophistication, and usefulness of products presented to policy makers.

### **Addressing the Emerging Threat of Synthetic Drugs**

Communities across the United States are facing new challenges related to the emerging threat of synthetic drugs, an umbrella term that includes synthetic cannabinoids ("herbal incense"), synthetic cathinones ("bath salts"), and synthetic hallucinogens.

Synthetic cannabinoids (often referred to as "synthetic marijuana") typically consist of plant material that has been laced with substances that claim to mimic  $\Delta 9$ -tetrahydrocannabinol, the primary psychoactive active ingredient in marijuana. These substances pose serious health threats, such as nausea, vomiting, elevated blood pressure, seizures, and hallucinations. The number of calls to Poison Control Centers relating to synthetic cannabinoids climbed to 6,968 in 2011—more than double the number received in all of 2010. In 2012, the number of calls amounted to 5,202.<sup>74</sup>

Synthetic cathinones (often referred to as "bath salts") are based on the Schedule I controlled substance cathinone, which is a potent central nervous system stimulant and an active ingredient of the khat plant. These substances elicit effects similar to those associated with other stimulants such as methamphetamine, MDMA, and cocaine. In 2010, poison control centers across the United States received only 304 calls related to synthetic cathinones; however, in 2011, the number of calls increased dramatically to more than 6,000. In 2012, poison control centers received 2,655 calls. The use of "bath salt" products has resulted in emergency room visits and severe psychotic episodes, some of which have led to suicide.

The Administration has responded rapidly to the emerging threat of synthetic drugs. In July 2012, President Obama signed the Food and Drug Safety and Innovation Act, which included the Synthetic Drug Abuse Prevention Act of 2012. This legislation bans specified synthetic compounds commonly found in synthetic marijuana ("K-2" or "Spice"), synthetic stimulants ("bath salts"), and hallucinogens by placing them under Schedule I of the Controlled Substances Act. It also doubles the total period of time that DOJ/DEA can administratively schedule compounds under its emergency scheduling authority from 18 to 36 months. State drug control agencies also have been quick to respond: 46 states have enacted laws to control "bath salts" (synthetic cathinones), while 41 states have adopted laws to ban chemical substances related to synthetic cannabinoids. Law enforcement agencies are taking action, as well. In one example, on July 25, 2012, more than 90 individuals were arrested and more than five million packets of finished designer synthetic drugs were seized during Operation Log Jam, the first-ever nationwide law enforcement action against the synthetic designer drug industry responsible for the production and sale of synthetic drugs that are often marketed as bath salts, Spice, incense, or plant food.

These are important measures in reducing the threat posed by synthetic drugs; however, producers and traffickers have proven adept at altering the chemical composition of drugs to exploit gaps in controls. Policy makers and legislators at both the national and state levels must remain vigilant to ensure this threat is contained.

#### 2. U.S. Borders Must be Secured

### A. Implement the Southwest Border Counternarcotics Strategy

The Southwest border is a major arrival zone for drugs, weapons, and money, and the implementation of the *National Southwest Border Counternarcotics Strategy* is critical to addressing these threats.<sup>76</sup> The Administration has been steadfast in its commitment to border security. From FY 2009 to 2012, DHS seized 71 percent more currency, 39 percent more drugs, and 189 percent more weapons along the Southwest border as compared to FY 2006 to 2008.<sup>77</sup> In February of 2012, President Obama signed the Ultralight Aircraft Smuggling Prevention Act of 2012, which treats the use of ultralight aircraft for drug smuggling the same as other aircraft. Another piece of legislation, the Border Tunnel Prevention Act of 2012, provided law enforcement and prosecutors with additional tools to locate illicit crossborder tunnels, identify criminals, and punish those involved in illegal activity.

### B. Develop National Arrival Zone Task Force Implementation Plan

The 2010 *Strategy* assigned The Interdiction Committee the task of developing a National Arrival Zone Task Force Implementation Plan. During 2011 and 2012, a team of experts from a wide array of Federal agencies conducted a review of the organizations, tools, and processes focused on the rapid facilitation and coordination of interdiction operations within the arrival zone. The team found that since the publication of the 2010 *Strategy*, a number of efforts has fulfilled the intent of the proposed National Arrival Zone Task Force, significantly increasing operational coordination and information sharing in the Southwest border region. These initiatives include the implementation of the *National Southwest Border Counternarcotics Strategy*, the establishment of the DHS Joint Field Command in Arizona, the standup of the Alliances to Combat Transnational Threats, the expansion of the OFC, the standup of the Border Intelligence Fusion Section and Joint Task Force-North Intelligence Operations at EPIC, and the implementation of the DHS Maritime Operations Coordination Plan.

### C. Develop National Plan for Southbound Interdiction of Currency and Weapons

The enormous amount of money generated by drug sales in the United States and its outward flow across the Southwest border fuels the operations of violent drug trafficking organizations. In FY 2012, efforts were underway to expand the co-location of OCDETF agencies at the San Diego Strike Force with the addition of the ICE, Homeland Security Investigations (HIS) BEST Marine Task Force. By the end of the second quarter of FY 2012, OCDETF Co-located Strike Forces had been established in eleven key locations. These co-located Strike Forces are prosecutor-led and intelligence-driven, aggressively targeting the highest-level drug trafficking organizations while also functioning as a central point of contact for OCDETF agents and prosecutors nationwide. In addition, DEA expanded the National License Plate Reader Initiative and Concealed Trap Initiative. The National License Plate Reader Initiative is a complex camera and alerting system strategically located along the Southwest border, which is utilized as an investigative tool to monitor and interdict roadway conveyances suspected of transporting bulk cash and other contraband. The Concealed Trap Initiative targets those service providers who build concealed trap compartments or utilize natural voids in conveyances and residences for drug trafficking organizations to transport or conceal drug proceeds.

#### CHAPTER 5. DISRUPT DOMESTIC DRUG TRAFFICKING AND PRODUCTION

As of May 2012, the OFC, which investigates bank accounts with suspicious activity, targeted 1,611 individuals and companies. The OFC Proactive Asset Targeting Team identified 7,155 bank accounts, 2,253 vehicles, and 2,793 businesses with suspicious activity, and seized assets totaling \$28,038,408. The purpose of these financial leads is to identify assets that are available for seizure and forfeiture. This information exploits links between drug trafficking organizations and other criminal activity worldwide for use by law enforcement.

### D. Coordinate Efforts to Secure the Northern Border Against Drug-Related Threats

In January 2012, following an extensive consultation process, the Administration released the *National Northern Border Counternarcotics Strategy*, a national framework for ongoing efforts to reduce the drug threats on both sides of the United States-Canada border. Under this *Strategy*, numerous departments and agencies are charged with implementing 41 specific action items. A report on the progress of implementing each of these action items and identified performance measures will be released in calendar year 2013. The Government of Canada has been a partner in this process, and its collaboration is reflective of the two-way nature of the drug problem at the border.

During FY 2012, the U.S. Border Patrol and Canadian law enforcement partners planned and executed 50 different Integrated Border Enforcement Team (IBET) operations along the northern border. The Red River IBET, which is physically located in Canada (Altona, Manitoba), opened its doors in the spring of 2012 as the first co-located IBET office. The United States and Canada also have implemented Integrated Cross-Border Maritime Law Enforcement Operations that combine specially trained law enforcement personnel from both nations on one vessel and designate them with cross-border law enforcement authority. Through each agency's respective operations center, the U.S. Customs and Border Protection (CBP) Office of Air and Marine (OAM) has a mutual agreement with the Royal Canadian Mounted Police (RCMP) and the Canadian Border Services Agency (CBSA) to conduct aviation-related "Hot Pursuit" chases of suspect drug traffickers. CBP's Office of Intelligence and Investigative Liaison, working jointly with CBP operational components and DEA, continue to coordinate with its Canadian counterparts from the RCMP and the CBSA to exchange information on drug trafficking trends and address issues related to human trafficking and smuggling, weapons trafficking, and border violence.

### E. Deny Use of Ports of Entry and Routes of Ingress and Egress Between the Ports

Air and maritime ports represent a unique challenge with regard to drug-related threats. In FY 2012, CBP International Liaison Units initiated several operations that coordinated U.S. Federal, state, and local law enforcement agencies with international (Government of Mexico) forces to disrupt and dismantle transnational criminal organizations. Some of the operations are year-round efforts employing a whole-of-government approach.

### F. Disrupt Surveillance Operations of Drug Trafficking Organizations

Drug traffickers continue to dedicate significant resources to monitoring the operations of United States interdiction agencies. Along the Southwest border, for instance, drug trafficking organizations employ large numbers of strategically-placed spotters who closely observe the enforcement activities

of CBP officers and agents, canines, and inspection technology. In turn, these spotters provide guidance to traffickers on entering the United States. Traffickers also use advanced technology to intercept law enforcement communications.

Law enforcement agencies employ countermeasures to target the tactics and methods of transnational criminal organizations and to locate and apprehend spotters as they conspire to traffic and smuggle drugs, money, weapons, and humans. While the details of such countermeasures are understandably sensitive, they may include frequent and random personnel rotations, as well as unannounced surges in enforcement activity, both on the ground and in the air.

### 3. Focus National Efforts on Specific Drug Problems

### A. Counter Domestic Methamphetamine Production

The Administration remains committed to reducing the production, trafficking, and use of methamphetamine. In 2011, over 9,000 methamphetamine laboratories were seized nationwide. The number of laboratories seized was approximately double that in 2007, although seizures remained low in states such as Oregon and Mississippi, where pseudoephedrine is available only by prescription. <sup>79</sup> Nationwide, the laboratories seized in the last few years are smaller and produce significantly smaller quantities; however, the danger posed by these small toxic labs and drugs they produce remains significant. Although the number of past month methamphetamine users decreased from 731,000 to 439,000 between 2006 and 2011, this demand continues to fuel domestic methamphetamine production. <sup>80</sup>

In 2012, Federal, state, and local agencies from the United States were joined by delegations from Canada, Mexico, and China at the National Methamphetamine and Pharmaceuticals Initiative (NMPI) annual conference in San Antonio, Texas. On the margins of this conference, a groundbreaking meeting occurred between Mexican and Chinese law enforcement and prosecutorial officials, resulting in the opening of a joint intelligence and case sharing effort that hopefully will identify suspicious chemical shipments from China to Central America and Mexico and ultimately reduce the role of China as a source country for chemicals diverted to clandestine methamphetamine laboratories in Mexico and elsewhere.

### B. Identify Interior Corridors of Drug Movement and Deny Traffickers Use of America's Highways

Drug traffickers use our Nation's roads and highways to move large amounts of drugs, currency, weapons, and other illicit contraband. The Domestic Highway Enforcement (DHE) initiative has funded specialized equipment, training, intelligence-sharing activities, and operational capabilities to deter this threat. The DHE strategy is based on collaborative, intelligence-led policing to enhance law enforcement efforts on interstate highways specifically identified as drug trafficking corridors. In FY 2011, DHE task forces removed over \$500 million worth of drugs and disrupted or dismantled 69 drug trafficking organizations. Two of the biggest seizures came from the Northwest HIDTA, which seized approximately 290,000 dosage units of ecstasy, and the New York/New Jersey HIDTA, which had a cash seizure of nearly \$3 million.

EPIC System Portal (ESP) account holders are able to obtain a HSIN account via the ESP's Domestic Highway Enforcement section. Once a user is vetted, they can access the HSIN via a link within the ESP. The website allows Domestic Highway Enforcement informational reports and current trends associated with drug trafficking to be used by law enforcement officers across the Nation.

#### C. Eradicate Marijuana Cultivation

Remote marijuana grow sites on public lands pose a significant threat to public safety and the environment. The cultivation of marijuana frequently entails the diversion of water resources, the clearing of native brush, and the use of banned pesticides. In a 2012 study, researchers documented poisonous chemicals and toxicants at an abandoned marijuana cultivation site situated within territory inhabited by fishers, a rare forest carnivore declared a candidate species for listing under the Federal Endangered Species Act.<sup>81</sup>

At the Federal level, the effort to eliminate marijuana production on our public lands is led by the Public Lands Drug Control Committee. The committee aligns policies and coordinates programs to support field-level eradication operations, investigations, and intelligence and information sharing. Central to this process is the work of the public lands agencies, which identify and document the marijuana threat in the areas under their jurisdiction. This information will inform the development of the *Domestic Cannabis Cultivation Assessment*, a comprehensive, national-level strategic assessment of cannabis cultivation and marijuana production in the United States.

#### **Removing Marijuana from our Public Lands**

In 2012, Operation Mountain Sweep, an 8-week, multi-agency and multistate marijuana operation targeting large-scale illegal marijuana grows on public lands in seven states, eradicated more than 726,000 marijuana plants. The value of the removed plants was estimated to be over \$1.45 billion. In addition to the marijuana plants eradicated, huge amounts of trash, miles of irrigation line, and many pounds of fertilizer and pesticides were removed from grow sites on public lands. The coordinated efforts of seven U.S. Attorneys, as well as support from ten HIDTAs in seven states (Arizona, California, Idaho, Nevada, Oregon, Utah, and Washington), were integral to the success of this operation.

### D. Stop Indoor Marijuana Production

Because of pressure from marijuana eradication efforts, many cultivators have been forced to abandon large outdoor cannabis plots in favor of easier-to-conceal indoor cultivation. The detection of these indoor grows has proven challenging for law enforcement. In 2012, DEA and partner agencies seized more than 2,500 indoor grow operations, with more than 302,000 plants eradicated.

### E. Partner with Local Law Enforcement Agencies to Combat Street, Prison, and Motorcycle Drug Gangs

Law enforcement agencies continue to work to disrupt and dismantle dangerous street gangs. In May of 2012, the National Gang Intelligence Center (NGIC) launched NGIC Online, an information system with web-based tools that enables law enforcement agencies to gain access to a variety of resources. PIC has created a Gang Initiative to focus on establishing links between criminal gang activity and transnational/domestic drug trafficking and terrorism-related organizations. In FY 2010, DOJ's National Gang Targeting, Enforcement, and Coordination Center (GangTECC) was partnered with the Special Operations Division (SOD). After supporting only approximately 100 cases in 3 years prior to the SOD merger, under the operational direction of SOD, the GangTECC Section supported over 800 cases in just its first full year at SOD. Further, in FY 2012 alone, SOD-supported gang cases accounted for approximately 900 arrests.

In one example of an effective cross-country gang investigation, in 2012, the Ohio HIDTA's Northern Ohio Law Enforcement Task Force and FBI Los Angeles jointly worked to identify and disrupt a large scale drug trafficking organization linked to the LA-based Grape Street Crips. The investigation revealed that a drug trafficking organization responsible for the transportation of cocaine to Cleveland and other U.S. cities was affiliated with the LA street gang. In February 2012, multiple search warrants were initiated in Operation Soap Scrambling that resulted in the disruption of the drug trafficking organization.

In another example in 2012, the ICE/Homeland Security Investigations (HSI) San Diego Gang Investigations Group, in coordination with other HSI components and Federal, state, and local law enforcement partners, conducted an investigation that identified more than 40 targets linked to 13 separate and documented street gangs. The investigation culminated in 31 Federal arrests and 31 state arrests. In addition, agents seized significant quantities of drugs, cash, vehicles, firearms, and ammunition.

### F. Disrupt Illicit Financial Networks by Exploiting Cash Seizures

DEA works to identify co-conspirators, shell corporations, and assets utilized by drug trafficking organizations globally, and evidence and intelligence gleaned from its investigations often provide critical information on terrorist financing. Through EPIC's Bulk Currency Unit, extensive research is conducted on bulk currency seizures, providing intelligence information to law enforcement agencies for tactical and operational support. In FY 2011, DEA denied a total of \$2.88 billion in revenue from drug trafficking and money laundering organizations through asset and drug seizures.

In 2012, DEA conducted 13 financial investigation training seminars, which were offered to Federal, state, and local law enforcement officials. In addition, OCDETF and the Department of Justice Criminal Division's Asset Forfeiture and Money Laundering Section partnered to provide ten financial investigation seminars in FY 2012, training more than 730 Federal, state, local, and tribal agents and prosecutors. The OFC Pro-Active Asset Targeting Team (PATT) was established in September 2010 and identifies criminal case connections through review and analysis of FinCEN's suspicious activity reports (SARs). The OFC has identified over \$3 billion of assets and has passed these leads to law enforcement for seizure.

ICE, spearheaded by the National Bulk Cash Smuggling Center (BCSC), uses its primary jurisdictional authorities to target violations of bulk cash smuggling, unlicensed money couriers, and interstate transportation of criminal proceeds. In FY 2012, the BCSC partnered with EPIC in establishing and managing the EPIC Bulk Currency Unit, which is headed by an ICE/HSI Section Chief and staffed with intelligence personnel from ICE, DEA, and FBI.

### G. Develop National Parcel Post Initiative

The National Parcel Post Initiative focuses on drug trafficking organizations using parcel shipping services to transport illegal drugs and drug proceeds. In 2012, 17 HIDTAs funded a parcel post task force. These investigations rely on full cooperation and full information sharing among all HIDTA member agencies, task forces, fellow agencies, and task forces in other jurisdictions.

CBP, the Transportation Security Administration (TSA), and the United States Postal Service are working with the Universal Postal Union and others in the international postal community to enhance the screening of international mail prior to its conveyance to the United States. The parties are developing

the foundations for providing advance electronic data on international mail packages to allow CBP and TSA to perform risk-based targeting prior to foreign departure and entry into the domestic mail supply chain. This strategy will enhance CBP's ability to identify, interdict, and disrupt the movement of illicit narcotics as well as stem the persistent threat posed by the smuggling of counterfeit pharmaceuticals and gray market goods. This approach is also linked to the Long Term Strategy for the Screening of International Mail and the Global Supply Chain Strategy.

### H. Establish Interagency Task Force on Drug Endangered Children

Over a decade ago, the Drug Endangered Children (DEC) movement was founded to address the growing phenomenon of children living in unsafe and unhealthy drug environments. There were some responses at the state level, but prior to the establishment of the Federal Interagency Drug Endangered Children Task Force, a cohesive and coordinated Federal response was lacking. Initiated by the 2010 National Drug Control Strategy, the DEC Task Force focused on gathering and producing educational resources (model protocols, programming, promising practices, and downloadable checklists) to aid law enforcement, child welfare workers, health and education professionals, and children's advocates nationwide to protect children. In addition, it expanded the definition of drug endangered children to include any children living in an environment where drugs, including pharmaceuticals, are illegally used, possessed, trafficked, diverted, and/or manufactured. In 2012, the DHS Federal Law Enforcement Training Center (FLETC) assembled experts from the National DEC Training and Advocacy Center, the National Alliance for Drug Endangered Children, criminal justice professionals, and FLETC staff to develop two courses on drug endangered children to be offered in the summer of 2013 to Federal, state, local, tribal, and international law enforcement agencies. DEA continues to raise awareness and provide training on DEC issues for domestic and international law enforcement professionals, educators, social service professionals, first responders, and community leaders.

#### **Advocate for Action: Roxanna De Soto**



Puerto Rico faces unique drug-related challenges—its high rates of unemployment and crime and its location along a major illegal drug transit route lead too many young people to turn to drugs and become dealers themselves. This is why keeping young people away from drug hot spots is the primary goal of the Alliance for a Drug-Free Puerto Rico (Alianza para un Puerto Rico sin Drogas), where Roxanna De Soto has worked as executive director for 19 years. The Alliance is a private nonprofit organization that seeks to reduce drug

use and drug trafficking through prevention efforts. One of these efforts is Prevention Power, a project developed by the Alliance during 2011 and sponsored by the Puerto Rico/US Virgin Islands HIDTA. Prevention Power recognizes that early interventions can deter adolescents from high-risk behaviors that may lead to drug use and addresses critical areas such as peer relationships, communication, self-efficacy and assertiveness, drug resistance skills, and strengthening personal commitments against drug use. In the development of this and other projects, the Alliance follows NIDA guidelines for proven prevention models and strategies based on scientific research.



### Chapter 6: Strengthen International Partnerships

The United States works around the world to disrupt and dismantle drug production and trafficking organizations. Bilateral as well as regional counterdrug partnerships are essential to our efforts. Experience has demonstrated that successful strategic interventions depend upon focused political will—sustained over several administrations—by both the United States and leaders of regional allies. They further require the careful staging of joint efforts, protecting public security, applying pressure to transnational criminal organizations, ensuring the presence and stability of democratic governance and the rule of law, ensuring and enforcing human rights protections, and providing economic incentives to develop, enfranchise, and empower marginalized populations.

While the United States works on a daily basis with partners around the world, U.S. agencies are focused intently on addressing the most direct drug threats to our citizens. The Western Hemisphere remains a key area of concentration. Progress has been made in reducing the production of cocaine, and U.S. cocaine use is at historic lows, yet challenges remain.<sup>86</sup>

The nations of Central America are grappling with significant threats linked to the global drug trade. The majority of the cocaine produced in Colombia is transshipped by maritime conveyance as well as by land and air toward the United States, usually through the Central American landmass and adjoining waters. Peruvian and Bolivian cocaine likely travels by air and sea destined primarily for markets in Europe, Latin America, Asia, and Australia. Ongoing interdiction efforts have forced traffickers to shift precursor shipments from Mexico to Central and South America for eventual use in methamphetamine manufacture.87 This illicit drug and precursor chemical trade has contributed to violence, gang activity, and disorder in several countries in Central America. Further enhancements are needed to confront this challenge, such as improving air, land, and maritime interdiction cooperation in the region, supporting host-nation disposal of seized precursor chemicals, and intensifying cooperation with law enforcement officials on stopping precursor chemical diversion. The United States is already working to improve efforts in these areas under the existing five pillars of the State Department-coordinated regional CARSI initiative and through Joint Interagency Task Force (JIATF) South's efforts in coordinating the interagency and multinational Operation MARTILLO. These efforts are designed to bring together the capabilities of the entire U.S. Government to support our Central American partners addressing the range of threats facing the region.

The culture and common values of the United States and Mexico are intertwined, and our prosperity and stability are inextricably linked. Because of this close relationship, both nations recognize the benefit of mutual cooperation now and in the future as strategic security partners. Mexico continues its campaign against transnational criminal organizations that operate on both sides of the shared international boundary. Joint collaborative efforts, supported by the Merida Initiative, have promoted closer cooperation among Mexican and U.S. agencies and have resulted in significant successes. For example, in April 2012, the Mexican Attorney General's Office indicated that 23 of the 37 most wanted criminals had been killed or arrested; a federal penitentiary academy has been established; and more than 7,500 federal and 19,000 state justice sector personnel had been trained on their responsibilities under Mexico's new

accusatorial judicial system. Nonetheless, the huge revenue flow to transnational criminal organizations, from the drug trade and a range of criminal smuggling activities, continues to have a destabilizing effect on the entire Hemisphere. The United States will work with the new administration in Mexico to continue joint efforts to disrupt, dismantle, and ultimately defeat these violent networks, reducing their negative impact on regional stability and the national security of Mexico and the United States.

It also remains important that we support the nations of the Caribbean in order to ensure that the progress made in partnership with Mexico and Central America does not result in a displacement of the threat to that region. Through the Caribbean Basin Security Initiative, the United States has committed \$203 million in funding over 3 years to assist the nations of the region in the areas of maritime and aerial security, law enforcement capacity building, border and port security and firearms interdiction, justice sector reform, and crime prevention and at-risk youth programs.

In Afghanistan, in spite of an increase in total poppy cultivation in 2012, there was a decline in opium production due to crop disease and poor growing conditions. Signaling our continued commitment to Afghan-led drug control efforts is necessary to counter the illicit opiate trade. Russia, through the Bilateral Presidential Commission Counternarcotics Working Group, has become an important partner for coordination of policy and joint action on drug control issues. Coordination with the European Union, Japan, the Colombo Plan, and the UN Office of Drugs and Crime (UNODC)—key donors in providing assistance to developing nations—has been intensified to maximize the effectiveness of aid programs. China and India are increasingly important partners in international efforts to address the precursor chemical and synthetic drug trade and counter money laundering by drug cartels operating in our Hemisphere.

The United States continues to coordinate with international partners not only to construct criminal cases, capture major kingpins, and seize drugs and the illicit proceeds of crime, but also to build institutional capability, support economic alternatives to drug production, and promote collaborative efforts in prevention, treatment, and research, thereby assisting global partners in acquiring the capabilities to overcome the consequences of drug use.

### 1. Collaborate with International Partners to Disrupt the Drug Trade

#### A. Conduct Joint Counterdrug Operations with International Partners

The United States continues to conduct joint counterdrug operations with international partners, both through bilateral relationships and via multilateral forums. Bilaterally, DEA's Sensitive Investigative Unit (SIU) sponsors over 40 investigative and intelligence task forces of varying size in 11 countries. Participating countries include Afghanistan, Colombia, Dominican Republic, Ecuador, Guatemala, Mexico, Panama, Paraguay, Peru, Ghana, and Thailand. A new SIU program was established in Honduras in 2012 along with a vetted unit in Nigeria. In 2012, DEA also opened new offices in Montevideo, Uruguay and in Sofia, Bulgaria. The U.S. Coast Guard (USCG) conducted numerous joint maritime counterdrug operations in the Caribbean and Eastern Pacific maritime transit zone and off the coast of West Africa through a series of bilateral maritime counterdrug agreements. Multilaterally, DEA's International Drug Enforcement Conference (IDEC) continues to serve as a global forum to share drug-related intelligence and to develop operational strategies to address transnational drug trafficking. The next IDEC meeting will take place in Moscow in 2013.

### B. Work with Partner Nations and OAS/CICAD to Strengthen Counterdrug Institutions in the Western Hemisphere

Hemispheric efforts to promote stronger drug control institutions continued to accelerate in 2012. The United States chaired the Demand Reduction Experts Group of CICAD. Under ONDCP leadership, the expert group developed guidance to promote best practices in the areas of prescription drug abuse, drugged driving, prevention efforts by community coalitions, and substance abuse data collection. These best practices documents will help guide the work of CICAD and participating governments in the years ahead. DEA and USCG also participated in CICAD Expert Working Groups on anti-money laundering, chemicals and pharmaceuticals, and maritime interdiction, all of which produce guides and model regulations and legislation for use by OAS countries. The U.S. Government continued to work within the OAS/CICAD Intergovernmental Working Group to revise the Multilateral Evaluation Mechanism, which provides a common set of standards by which national drug control programs can be evaluated and improved.

### **Building International Partnerships: Short- and Long-Term Challenges**

Partner nations face both short-term drug threats and longer-term justice and security challenges. Although the immediate tasks of arresting drug dealers, seizing drugs, and disrupting major transnational criminal organizations remains essential, there is also a longer term need to build robust, honest, and capable institutions. Long-term progress on drug and transnational organized crime issues cannot be attained without stable institutions that continue to operate effectively regardless of the political party in power. Each aspect of the justice continuum is essential. These elements generally include:

- Trained police forces qualified to conduct complex narcotics and financial investigations;
- Fully functioning court systems with skilled prosecutors and defense attorneys;
- · Judges who operate with integrity and are protected from threats to their personal safety; and
- Well-managed corrections systems of appropriate size and complexity to manage inmate populations.

In addition to these vital law enforcement and criminal justice capabilities, countries also require alternatives to incarceration for low-level, nonviolent criminal offenders who do not pose a threat to public safety but are in need of drug treatment or other services. These alternatives, which could include behavioral or MAT programs, as well as drug courts, brief interventions, or peer counseling, ensure that limited prison cells are reserved for major criminals.

Although daily arrests and seizures are an important part of drug control, the only way to ensure sustained success is to build enduring institutions. Thus, supporting partner nations in their efforts to develop and strengthen institutions is central to U.S. drug policy goals—and the key objective of much of our drug- and crime-related foreign assistance programs.<sup>89</sup>

### C. Work with Partners in Europe, Africa, and Asia to Disrupt Drug Flows in the Trans-Atlantic and Trans-Pacific Regions

The Department of State and DOD continue to coordinate interagency efforts to promote bilateral and regional cooperation against drug trafficking and transnational organized crime in Europe, Africa, and Asia. Efforts to promote coordination among donor nations regarding narcotics trafficking and transnational crime in West Africa was the focus of a U.S.-hosted February 2012 G8 Roma-Lyon Group meeting. Over the past year, the Administration has expanded efforts to address transnational organized crime in Africa, including drug trafficking, money laundering, and human trafficking through training programs, joint investigations, and enhanced information and intelligence sharing. These efforts are aided by an expanded DEA presence in Africa. The United States coordinates an array of drug issues through semi-annual drug policy discussions in Brussels with the EU Commission and member state representatives. U.S. Africa Command conducted the Africa Maritime Law Enforcement Partnership, placing a USCG Law Enforcement Detachment on a U.S. Navy ship to conduct joint patrols with Cape Verde, Senegal, The Gambia, and Sierra Leone. The USCG is a member of both the 20-member North Atlantic Coast Guard Forum and the six-member North Pacific Coast Guard Forum, two distinct international organizations that promote multilateral cooperation between member coast guards.

### D. Coordinate with Global Partners to Prevent Synthetic Drug Production and Precursor Chemical Diversion

In 2012, U.S. agencies pushed on multiple fronts to confront the use of new tactics, precursor chemicals, and transshipment routes now employed by chemical traffickers and methamphetamine manufacturers. U.S. agencies worked with partner nations in the Western Hemisphere, particularly the Central and South American countries that have been targeted by chemical traffickers, and with chemical producing countries. ONDCP led an interagency visit to China in September 2012, which included representatives from DEA, the State Department, the Internal Revenue Service, DHS, and JIATF West, to further U.S.-Chinese information sharing and case collaboration on synthetic drugs and chemicals. During the discussions, both sides agreed to improve collaboration on investigations of methamphetamine precursor chemical diversion, particularly to Central America. Similar themes were explored on a more functional level by the DOJ-led Counternarcotics Working Group of the U.S.-Sino Joint Liaison Group on Law Enforcement Cooperation (JLG). U.S. agencies, especially DEA and JIATF West, are increasing efforts to track the global precursor trade as it expands to new countries in the Middle East, Africa, and Asia. Unlike cocaine trafficking, which employs non-commercial maritime methods for the movement of illicit drugs, commercial maritime shipping containers are the dominant conveyance for methamphetamine precursor chemicals. In 2012, JIATF West continued to mature the Illicit Tracking Cell's (ITC) efforts to identify, track, and provide actionable intelligence to law enforcement, leading to record interdictions related to methamphetamine precursor chemicals transiting globally via commercial maritime cargo.

# E. Expand Global Prevention and Treatment Initiatives Bilaterally and through Cooperation with the United Nations, the Organization of American States, the Colombo Plan, and Other Multilateral Organizations

Under the leadership of the Department of State, U.S. international demand reduction initiatives have continued to mature. In 2012, 75 drug-free community coalitions were established in Latin America (11 in Brazil, four in Colombia, four in Guatemala, two in Mexico, 50 in Peru, two in Honduras and two in Bolivia). In addition, 33 substance abuse treatment programs were established in Afghanistan, including centers focused on the needs of women and children. ONDCP placed prevention and treatment at the center of the drug policy discussion by emphasizing their importance in the *Principles of Modern Drug Policy.* The *Principles* document clearly communicates the U.S. approach to the drug problem and was released in May 2012 in Stockholm at the 3rd World Forum Against Drugs.

#### Advocate for Action: Al Brandel



As a career law enforcement officer specializing in juvenile crime and crime prevention, Al saw firsthand the consequences of drug use among young people. When he was elected president of Lions Clubs International in 2008, he was given the opportunity to advocate at the international level for social and emotional learning, including anti-drug messaging and training, through the Lions Quest program, a kindergarten through 12th grade curriculum. As Lions International president and then chairperson of the Lions Clubs International Foundation, Al has met with elected officials and helped coordinate partnerships with a number of government agencies

and non-governmental organizations, to include CADCA, CICAD, UNODC, and the U.S. State Department's Bureau of International Narcotics and Law Enforcement Affairs (INL) in an effort to expand Lions Quest to classrooms in more than 70 countries around the world.

### F. Expand Internationally a Comprehensive Package of Health Interventions for Injection Drug Users

The President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief (PEPFAR) leverages resources and services from host countries and multilateral organizations to support expanded coverage of health interventions. Countries supported by PEPFAR resources have been expanding their national programs to provide core interventions including community-based outreach, counseling and testing, MAT, antiretroviral therapy, and prevention, diagnosis, and treatment of viral hepatitis and tuberculosis. These evidence-based interventions, along with country-level strategies to create an enabling environment with supportive laws, policies, and regulations, have been identified by the World Health Organization, UNODC, and UNAIDS as essential interventions that can help in the treatment of opioid dependence and the prevention of HIV and other blood-borne diseases. The United States—through PEPFAR—directly supported life-saving antiretroviral treatment for more than 4.5 million men, women, and children worldwide in 2012. The United States is the first and largest donor to the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis, and Malaria. To date, the United States has provided more than \$7.1 billion to the Fund. 90

### G. Enhance the Relationship Developed with Russia Under the U.S.-Russia Bilateral Presidential Commission to Encourage Counternarcotics Cooperation

Counterdrug collaboration between the United States and Russia expanded in 2012 due to year-round coordination and two meetings of the Counternarcotics Work Group (CNWG) of the Bilateral Presidential Commission. The first meeting, in Chicago in late 2011, focused on improving public health prevention and treatment interventions and included discussions of Federal, state, and local cooperation on border security. During the May 2012 St. Petersburg meeting, the co-chairs signed a document outlining the CNWG's success and agreed to further information exchanges on effective drug treatment and rehabilitation programs. The delegation also met with individuals in recovery at the St. Petersburg City Narcological Hospital and attended a graduation ceremony for counternarcotics officers from Central Asia and Afghanistan.

## 2. Support the Drug Control Efforts of Major Drug Source and Transit Countries

### A. Strengthen Strategic Partnerships with Mexico

The Merida Initiative has made significant progress since its implementation in 2008, with the biggest accomplishment being the mutual fostering of security, protection, and prosperity. From 2008-2012 DEA coordinated/conducted 117 training courses for Mexican partner agencies with a total of 3,737 participants. These courses have focused on a variety of areas including money laundering investigative techniques, proper evidence handling for judicial proceedings, how to maintain the integrity of a crime scene, and how to properly perform law enforcement intelligence analysis. To date, the Department of State has provided more than 300 polygraph instruments and peripheral equipment to Mexican federal and state vetting centers, as well as training, assessment, mentoring, and other professionalization services for police internal affairs units. In 2012, the State Department delivered the last two UH-60M Blackhawk helicopters to the Mexican Federal Police, bringing the cumulative total to six under the Merida Initiative. Also through Merida, four CASA CN-235 aircraft were provided to the Mexican Navy, and CBP's Office of Air and Marine provided a modified radar monitoring system to the Mexican Government to increase Mexico's air domain awareness on the border with the United States. This system will improve collaboration with CBP's Air and Marine Operations Center. In the field of demand reduction, in April 2012, ONDCP and NIDA concluded a memorandum of understanding to fund the U.S. portion of a bi-national SBIRT study in Los Angeles. The Mexican part of the study, to be conducted in Tijuana, is funded by the Merida Initiative and should conclude in 2013. The focus of assistance in 2013 will be on training, sustainment, and consolidating gains.

### B. Disrupt the Narcotics-Insurgency Nexus and the Narcotics-Corruption Nexus in Afghanistan

The December 2012 *U.S. Counternarcotics Strategy for Afghanistan* demonstrates the Administration's commitment to building Afghan capacity to disrupt the illicit narcotics trade and to break the narcotics-insurgency nexus. As the world's leading supplier of heroin and illegal opiates, Afghanistan's continued high levels of opium production provide the Taliban with funding streams and undermines domestic

#### CHAPTER 6: STRENGTHEN INTERNATIONAL PARTNERSHIPS

security, stability, and rule of law. As the International Security Assistance Force transitions security responsibility to Afghan forces, a parallel transition of counternarcotics program oversight is occurring between U.S. agencies and the Afghan Government. Working with Afghan partners, international allies, and multilateral organizations, the United States continues to share a commitment for the establishment of effective, sustainable, Afghan-led programs, critical to Afghan security and regional stability. The Afghan Ministry of Counter Narcotics has displayed increased capacity and political will, as evidenced by the 154 percent increase in opium eradication (3,810 hectares vs. 9,672 hectares) during the 2011-2012 growing season.<sup>91</sup>

### C. Build the Law Enforcement and Criminal Justice Capacities of Source Countries in the Western Hemisphere to Sustain Progress Against Illicit Drug Production and Trafficking

In 2012, DEA provided support to law enforcement activities with Honduran authorities that resulted in a significant decrease in trafficking by air into Honduras for the duration of the deployment. In 2012, DEA added a new SIU in Honduras that will greatly expand law enforcement capacity. The FBI's National Gang Task Force and the U.S. Department of State conducted the Central American Law Enforcement Exchange program to promote best practices among law enforcement officials from across Central America. Among other capacity-building efforts, the Department of State has begun planning, through CARSI, efforts to prevent precursor chemical diversion and to build capacity for safe disposal of seized chemicals.

### D. Implement the Caribbean Basin Security Initiative

In 2012, Caribbean and U.S. officials developed and began implementation of a viable Maritime Security Strategy for the majority of Caribbean countries that project capabilities out to, and slightly beyond, their territorial seas (the 12-mile boundary). Assessments of existing fingerprint equipment carried out in The Bahamas, Guyana, Jamaica, Suriname, Trinidad and Tobago, and the seven Eastern Caribbean countries identified six different collection systems that required upgrades or replacement to permit the sharing of fingerprint data within the region. Also, in FY 2013, the United States will provide over \$10 million for upgrades and overhauls to the Air Wing equipment of the Regional Security System, which provides counternarcotics and other security related protection to seven independent nations in the Eastern Caribbean.

### E. Promote Alternative Livelihoods for Coca and Opium Farmers

The United States helps provide alternatives to opium poppy cultivation in Afghanistan through capacity building for farmers, agribusinesses, and national and provincial institutions; value chain development; infrastructure development; and agricultural credit extension. In 2009, the United States Agency for International Development (USAID) established "Incentives-Driving Economic Alternatives-North, East, West in Afghanistan," a 5-year cooperative agreement to implement alternative development projects. Through intensive value chain development, the project continues to increase incomes and employment, especially in poppy-prone areas. Approximately 900,000 households have benefited, and 10,000 hectares have improved licit cultivation.

In FY 2012, USAID continued to support alternative development projects in Bolivia, Colombia, Ecuador, and Peru, benefiting over 34,000 households and supporting over 44,000 hectares of alternative crops in the Andean region. Specifically in Colombia, USAID supported the development and initiation of more than 850 activities in the field, successfully leveraging \$49 million or nearly 60 percent of total value from public and private sector sources. USAID's small infrastructure activities included improvements to health, education, sports, and cultural facilities; improvement and maintenance of tertiary roads; and support for the construction of water and sewage systems, benefiting more than 16,400 people. In Peru, licit sales from farmers USAID directly assisted in cacao, oil palm, and coffee production totaled \$35.2 million at farm-gate prices and generated 15,763 equivalent full-time jobs. For every \$1 of USAID's investment in technical assistance, \$240 in Peruvian public investment was leveraged.

### F. Support the Central American Regional Security Initiative

In 2012, the U.S. Government developed the Roadmap for U.S. Engagement in Central American Citizen Security, which guides United States engagement with Central America over the short- (2012–2013) to mid-term (2014–2017). The strategic guidance in this document will inform the development of agency program implementation plans that include programmatic details and measures of effectiveness and will support the five CARSI Pillars: Safe Streets; Disrupt the Movement of Criminals and Contraband; Strong, Capable, and Accountable Governments; Effective State Presence in Communities at Risk; and Enhanced Levels of Cooperation. In 2012, during quarterly meetings with the ambassadors from the Central American nations and visits by DEA and DOJ experts to the region, precursor chemical smuggling was identified as a major threat. Through the CARSI program, the State Department, in conjunction with DEA and the OAS, are developing programs to support host-nation capacity to safely dispose of seized precursor chemicals, as well as ways to tighten laws and increase interdiction capacity in the region.

### G. Leverage Capacities of Partner Nations and International Organizations to Help Coordinate Programs in the Western Hemisphere

Bilateral and regional counternarcotics cooperation in the Western Hemisphere continues to be a major focus for U.S. agencies. In July 2012, the Government of Mexico hosted a meeting to support the combating crime pillar of the Central America Integration System (SICA) Security Strategy. Partner countries and organizations provided updates on their assistance to Central America and the SICA member states expressed their desire for greater cooperation at the regional level. Also in July, ONDCP led a U.S. delegation to an international drug conference in Lima, Peru. More than 61 countries and nine international organizations attended the 2-day conference that included focused panel discussions on demand reduction, supply reduction, and alternative development. The resulting "Lima Declaration" reaffirmed confidence in the UN Conventions that form the basis of the international drug control system. The United States will continue to encourage partner nations, particularly Colombia, to assist the countries in Central America with capacity building and information-sharing to face the transnational criminal organizations operating in the region.

#### H. Consolidate the Gains Made in Colombia

U.S. Government assistance to Colombia is declining from the peak years of *Plan Colombia* as programs transition as planned from U.S. to Colombian control. In 2012, the U.S. Government continued to support aerial eradication, essential for disrupting today's drug trafficking networks and thwarting cultivation in Colombia's more remote areas. The constant pressure on illegal coca cultivation has resulted in a sharp decrease in the amount of cocaine produced in Colombia over the last decade, coinciding with a significant decline in the rate of current cocaine use in the United States. Colombia has also gained the capacity to export the lessons it learned to allies in the region (over 1,985 personnel from other countries were trained by the Colombian National Police in 2012, and of those, 1,476 were police officers). The Government of Colombia's National Consolidation Plan, which the United States supports, is helping to bring the civilian elements of the state to remote, previously ungoverned parts of the country. Many poor farmers previously forced to grow coca can now safely plant legal alternative crops without fear of guerrilla retribution. Colombia's revitalization is reflected in economic growth, foreign direct investment, and its reemergence as a center of art and culture.

#### **Progress in Colombia**

Colombia continues its remarkable progress against cocaine production and associated violence. Success is due to the efforts of Colombian leaders, soldiers, and citizens who reclaimed their country from drug traffickers. U.S. assistance and training, as one part of Plan Colombia, played a critical supporting role during several U.S. and Colombian administrations.

After more than a decade of concerted efforts, potential production of pure cocaine in Colombia dropped to 195 metric tons in 2011. This is a 25 percent reduction from the 260 metric tons available in 2010, and an overall decline of 72 percent from the estimated 700 metric tons available in 2001. This achievement strengthened democracy, human rights, and the rule of law in Colombia and contributed to historic reductions in cocaine availability within the United States.

Since 2006, the rate of current cocaine use in the United States has decreased by 50 percent. In 2011, a survey of adult male arrestees in 10 U.S. cities showed that significantly fewer arrestees are testing positive for cocaine. All ten tracked sites showed a significant decrease in 2011 compared to 2007. These results are the product of steady, strategic pressure across successive administrations in both the United States and Colombia.

Colombia has also become a regional leader, helping its neighbors—regionally and globally—by sharing its unique security expertise through training exchanges involving more than 20 countries. Colombia's successful journey from a country besieged by drugs to a nation making headway on virtually every measure of security and prosperity should serve as a model to other countries grappling with similar threats.

### 3. Attack Key Vulnerabilities of Drug Trafficking Organizations

### A. Improve Our Knowledge of the Vulnerabilities of Drug Trafficking Organizations

The intelligence, law enforcement, and defense communities are continuing efforts to develop a more complete understanding of the primary drug trafficking organizations that threaten the United States and its partner countries. FY 2012 accomplishments included a renewed focus on counterdrug and transnational organized crime issues within national priorities; major studies on priority countries and organizations; extensive bilateral cooperation with partner nations including Mexico and Colombia; and an August 2012 conference on understanding cocaine production and trafficking trends. The U.S. Government will continue intelligence collection and analysis on primary illicit organizations; improve upon data and information-sharing systems; and ensure the coordination of specialized intelligence centers such as EPIC, the OFC, SOD, and the Narcotics and Transnational Crime Support Center.

### B. Disrupt Illicit Drug Trafficking in the Transit Zone

Transnational criminal organizations continue to employ non-commercial maritime methods for the initial movement of illicit drugs through the Western Hemisphere Transit Zone. Targeting these bulk shipments before they are broken down into smaller loads has the greatest impact on reducing the flow toward the United States, relieves pressure on Central American partner nations, and reduces illicit revenue streams. Interdiction efforts in 2012 were bolstered by Operation MARTILLO, an effort coordinated by JIATF South with Western Hemisphere and European partners targeting illicit trafficking routes in coastal waters along the Central American isthmus. As of the end of FY 2012, Operation MARTILLO had disrupted over 106 metric tons of cocaine in and around Central America. According to the Consolidated Counter Drug Database (CCDB), in FY 2012, 211 metric tons of cocaine were removed (seized or disrupted), of 889 metric tons moving through the Transit Zone, as documented. This constitutes a 23.8 percent removal rate which, while well short of the annual target, is consistent with the historical average of 25 percent over the past decade. The decline in interdiction assets (sea and air) in the Western Hemisphere continues to be of great concern at the national level. The U.S. Government will examine options to address the continuing drug trafficking threat in the Transit Zone.

#### Addressing New Threats in the Transit Zone

Traffickers continue to show a willingness to modify their tactics and evolve in the face of the pressure placed upon them by interdiction forces. A prime example of this is the emergence of the self-propelled semi-submersible (SPSS) threat in the Western Caribbean, a threat previously encountered primarily in the Eastern Pacific. In March 2012, an SPSS was found underway in the Western Caribbean. This vessel was detected and monitored by USCG, U.S. Air Force, U.S. Navy, and CBP aircraft under the control of JIATF South and it was interdicted by two USCG vessels. The operation was also supported by the Government of Honduras, which launched interceptor vessels to assist in the interdiction. This operation highlights not only the continually evolving threat the traffickers pose, but also the cooperation among various U.S. Government departments and agencies; the employment of non-standard assets against illicit trafficking; and the value and importance of partner nation engagement and collaboration. More than 6 metric tons of cocaine were disrupted during this event.

### C. Target the Illicit Finances of Drug Trafficking Organizations

U.S. agencies continue to integrate counter-illicit finance tools in their efforts against drug trafficking and transnational criminal organizations. In FY 2012, the Office of Foreign Assets Control designated dozens of entities tied to Mexican drug trafficking organizations—including the Sinaloa and Zetas organizations—under the Foreign Narcotics Kingpin Act, freezing their assets and financial transactions under U.S. jurisdiction. The U.S. and Mexican Attorneys General signed an agreement in March 2012 to share approximately \$6 million in forfeited funds to support Mexican efforts to target illicit finances and enhance bilateral cooperation. The United States will continue to build on such cooperation by sharing counter-illicit finance tools, best practices, and information.

In addition, ICE has developed an Illicit Pathways Attack Strategy (IPAS) that focuses on illicit finance and money laundering activities of transnational organized crime networks operating in the Western Hemisphere. The pathways approach enables ICE/HSI to use intelligence and analysis to identify the means and methods being used by multiple organizations. Once identified, ICE can analyze whether there are key convergence points that can be investigated and vulnerabilities that can be identified and addressed. For high-risk criminal networks, the focus is on the investigation and prosecution of the leadership, co-conspirators and facilitators, with disruption and deterrence operations taking place simultaneously with arrests. For high-risk pathways, efforts are focused on building multinational coordinated investigations and building the capacity of partner nations to identify, investigate, and prosecute criminal networks and disrupt criminal activity.

### D. Target Cartel Leadership

U.S. Government agencies continue to identify and exploit the vulnerabilities of the leadership of those drug trafficking and transnational criminal organizations primarily responsible for moving drugs into the United States and laundering money. Bilateral efforts yielded numerous successes against such organizations in FY 2012, while domestic efforts have broken up networks within the United States. For instance, collaboration between the "BACRIM" unit in the U.S. Attorney's Office for the Southern District of Florida and the DOJ Criminal Division's Office of International Affairs resulted in total extraditions from Colombia reaching a high of 183 in FY 2012. "BACRIM" is an abbreviation for "bandas criminales," or criminal bands, which are loosely associated criminal groups that sprang up after the demise of the major cartels in Colombia and represent one of the greatest international security challenges facing Colombia today. In addition, the OCDETF Program continues to use the Attorney General's Consolidated Priority Organization Target (CPOT) List to target the most significant drug trafficking and money laundering organizations responsible for the Nation's illicit drug supply. Of the 68 active FY 2012 CPOTs, 42 were indicted, 22 were arrested, and 4 were extradited. Since implementation of the CPOT list in June 2002 through FY 2012, 36 CPOT organizations have been disrupted and 53 dismantled.



### Chapter 7. Improve Information Systems for Analysis, Assessment, and Local Management

The policies and programs presented in the *National Drug Control Strategy* are evidenced-based; they are based upon scientifically rigorous studies published either by government sources or in peer-reviewed literature. The findings from this research are used by the Administration to formulate and assess policies and programs to address drug use and its consequences.

For example, in 2011, the Administration released the Prescription Drug Abuse Prevention Plan, which includes specific actions that can be taken in four distinct areas: education, monitoring, proper medication disposal, and enforcement. The impetus for producing the Plan was the growing accumulation of data from several indicator systems showing the troubling prevalence of prescription pain reliever abuse and its consequences. NSDUH, for example, indicated that in 2009, 5.3 million Americans age 12 and older (2.1 percent of the population) had used a pain reliever non-medically in the past month. The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention noted that there were nearly 28,000 unintentional drug overdose deaths in 2007—pain relievers were involved in such deaths more frequently than were either cocaine (1.93 as many times) or heroin (5.39 as many times). Finally, treatment admissions for which prescription opioids were the primary cause of the admission rose 535 percent between 1999 and 2009. With the release of the 2011 NSDUH, the Nation has seen a 12 percent decline in prescription drug abuse among those 12 and older. This good news indicates that policy interventions to reduce the misuse of prescription drugs may be having an effect.

Much of the evidence base used by policymakers to assess the effectiveness of drug policies and programs is derived from several key Federal data systems, including the

- National Survey on Drug Use and Health (NSDUH),
- Drug Abuse Warning Network (DAWN)
- Treatment Episode Data Set (TEDS),
- Monitoring the Future (MTF) study,
- System to Retrieve Information on Drug Evidence (STRIDE),
- National Seizure System (NSS),
- Arrestee Drug Abuse Monitoring II (ADAM) program, and the
- National Vital Statistics System (NVSS).

These data systems and many more are fundamental to the operation of ONDCP's Performance Reporting System. The status of the Government's efforts to achieve the Strategy's goals is assessed with the data from these systems. These data systems also provide the information that populates the *National Drug Control Strategy Data Supplement*, a compendium of the leading indicators of drug use, drug supply, and related consequences.

These data systems are not static; they require continual review and updating to ensure their methods incorporate the latest scientific advancements in survey design and data collection.

For example, in 1999 and 2002, the NSDUH implemented several modifications to address falling response rates—a critical factor in any population survey—and improve the accuracy of responses, including adoption of computer-assisted self-administration of much of the interview, increases in the monetary incentive paid to respondents, re-training of survey interviewers, expansion of the sample, and the re-naming of the survey. These enhancements increased response rates, enabling production of state-level estimates, increased respondent participation and confidentiality, and improved the accuracy and precision of the resulting estimates. SAMHSA, the Federal agency responsible for NSDUH, is currently planning a re-design of the survey in 2015 to update the survey methodology and to revise or include questions to better measure recent trends in drug use behavior, attitudes, and related issues.

### 1. Existing Federal Data Systems Need to Be Sustained and Enhanced

### A. Enhance the Drug Abuse Warning Network Emergency Department Data System

SAMHSA is working with the CDC's National Center for Health Statistics to collect data on adverse consequences of substance use through the newly formed National Hospital Care Survey, which will enable estimates of the number and characteristics of drug-related emergency department (ED) visits. This solution is not without trade-offs. While the costs of obtaining the data will be constrained, the data on drug-involvement in ED visits will not be as detailed under the new system as it was under DAWN due to sample constraints. However, the new system will provide data on such visits not previously available, including patient disposition following the ED visit. The new data system is scheduled to be operational by the end of 2013.

#### B. Improve the National Survey on Drug Use and Health

The NSDUH provides policymakers with the most detailed picture of drug use and related issues among the U.S. population 12 and older. NSDUH data are used by the government to assess the progress the Nation is making in achieving the goals of the *Strategy* and the Prescription Drug Abuse Prevention Plan. It is also used by researchers to study such issues as medical marijuana, drug-related risk and protective factors, and the prescription drug abuse epidemic. As noted previously, SAMHSA, in consultation with ONDCP and other Federal and non-governmental experts, is planning a re-design of the survey for 2015 to incorporate updates to the methodology and to improve its ability to provide estimates of emerging drug problems, especially prescription drug abuse. Field-testing of some of the new data elements took place in 2012.

### C. Sustain Support for the Drug and Alcohol Services Information System

The Drug and Alcohol Services Information System is composed of three data sets: (1) the TEDS, containing data on substance abuse treatment admissions, by state; (2) the National Survey of Substance Abuse Treatment Services (N-SSATS), containing administrative data on the Nation's treatment providers; and (3) the Inventory of Substance Abuse Treatment Services (I-SATS), a listing of the Nation's treatment providers. These data sets provide policymakers and the public with critical information regarding the

## CHAPTER 7. IMPROVE INFORMATION SYSTEMS FOR ANALYSIS, ASSESSMENT, AND LOCAL MANAGEMENT

Nation's treatment system, including the name, location, and specialty of providers (I-SATS); characteristics (e.g., source of payment, staffing, number of clients) of the providers (N-SSATS); and the number and characteristics of clients in treatment (TEDS).

#### D. Better Assess Price and Purity of Illicit Drugs on the Street

Drug prices are also of great interest to communities, as they provide a snapshot of what drugs are available and how easy they are to obtain. Currently, DEA tracks the price of drugs as part of ongoing casework (the System to Retrieve Information on Drug Evidence, or STRIDE) or through a few recurring drug purchase programs. From these DEA data, national trends for drug prices and purities are developed for the four major drugs (cocaine, heroin, marijuana, and methamphetamine) in various market levels and are published annually in the *National Drug Control Strategy Data Supplement*.

DEA has been pursuing several possibilities for improved assessment of street drug prices and purities. DEA contacted counterparts at state/local forensic labs seeking specimens for subsequent analysis. However, unlike DEA, the state/local labs do not retain drug samples; specimens are returned to the acquiring law enforcement agencies, which will not release them for various reasons, ranging from legal restrictions to wanting to maintain all of the evidence until adjudication. DEA's National Forensic Laboratory Information System (NFLIS) has recorded some state/local labs that do collect purity information. A query capability of NFLIS drug purity data, accessible to analysts, is being investigated. This repository would permit analysts to extract the latest drug purity data in U.S. localities to monitor trends and compare geographic fluctuations.

#### E. Strengthen Drug Information Systems Focused on Arrestees and Incarcerated Individuals

Although national surveys provide invaluable data on overall drug prevalence, there is special value in studying drug use among arrested persons. The Arrestee Drug Abuse Monitoring (ADAM) study is conducted annually to provide law enforcement in select areas with data on drug use among arrestees in their jurisdictions. This survey is unique among Federal drug related surveys due to its confirmatory urinalysis test. While not nationally representative, these data provide special insights into regional drug use trends. As Colorado Governor John Hickenlooper noted in 2010 while serving as Mayor of Denver, "It is important to accurately track drug use for those arrested, especially with drug use being prevalent in so many arrest cases... The report offers a good snapshot into the varying drug problems different cities face across the country."

The <u>ADAM II 2011 annual report</u> was published in spring 2012. A special analysis of expanded data collection in New York City was prepared at the request of the New York City Police Commissioner to inform policymakers on judicial diversion for eligible drug-using offenders. Due to lower funding, the ADAM II study in 2012 was reduced to cover just five markets (New York City, Chicago, Atlanta, Denver, and Sacramento). The continuation of ADAM in the five markets in 2012 and 2013 is funded in part by the Bureau of Justice Assistance.

## 2. New Data Systems and Analytical Methods to Address Gaps Should Be Developed and Implemented.

#### A. Develop and Implement Measures of Drug Consumption

At ONDCP's request, SAMHSA studied the feasibility of adding questions to the NSDUH to enable estimation of marijuana consumption (i.e., the amount of the drug consumed). Results indicated, however, that respondents were unable to reliably provide such information. As an alternative to a direct estimate of drug consumption, ONDCP has funded research to model such estimates. Data from several sources, including the NSDUH, ADAM, MTF, and STRIDE are analyzed to determine how many users there are of particular drugs, how frequently they use these drugs, and how much they spent the last time they acquired them. Data on the price and purity of drugs from STRIDE enable researchers to estimate how much of each drug consumers obtained (and presumably consumed) given a certain price paid for those drugs. In early 2012, ONDCP published annual consumption estimates through 2006; an update taking the estimates through 2010 is currently in production and is scheduled to be completed in 2013.<sup>98</sup>

#### B. Transition Drug Seizure Tracking to the National Seizure System

Tabulation of drug seizures is the foundation for reporting statistics on the trends, activities, and patterns related to drug supply reduction policy. EPIC has completed its integration of historical seizure data from the Federal-wide Drug Seizure System (FDSS) with the latest NSS data. Federal agencies are collaborating on improving the consolidation and de-duplication of drug seizure data electronically to provide more accurate and timely tabulations. With standardization of field definitions, strategic seizure reports will be possible to inform policymakers on the latest drug trafficking trends. A draft template for a strategic drug seizure report is expected in FY 2013. Concurrently, the CCDB is working to incorporate NSS data into its system to ensure that all relevant seizures are captured.

#### C. Enhance the Various Data that Inform Our Common Understanding of Global Illicit Drug Markets

Illicit drug trafficking is a global problem, and improved data on foreign drug markets enhances our understanding of the latest trends. ONDCP is funding a study to integrate all available information on drug trends to estimate drug expenditures by American users, the number of users, and estimates of consumption. DEA conducted a study of cocaine movement toward the United States using Carbon 14 dating to improve the modeling of cocaine flow from South America. ONDCP published a study that estimated the number of cocaine users in the United States, expenditures on illicit drugs, and the amount consumed annually. The CCDB, which focuses on worldwide cocaine movement, was enhanced to track worldwide movements of opiates (primarily heroin and opium) and methamphetamine precursors. Interagency analysts are being organized to participate in collecting data for these two new CCDB modules. The opiates database should provide a more comprehensive, regional view of the Southwest Asia heroin threat, and validation sessions are occurring for the initial methamphetamine precursor data. In addition, the State Department's INL Bureau conducted an Afghanistan National Urban Drug Use Survey to give the most accurate estimate to date on Afghanistan drug prevalence rates.

## D. In Coordination with Our International Partners, Improve Capacity for More Accurately, Rapidly, and Transparently Estimating the Cultivation and Yield of Marijuana, Opium, and Coca in the World

DEA conducted four studies in FY 2012 in the Colombian departments of Caquetá, Vichada, Bolivar, and Valle del Cauca that were instrumental in determining fresh leaf yields that led to improved estimates of pure cocaine production potential. DEA also conducted a study of how the changes in the production of cocaine HCl in Bolivia increased the purity and, therefore, the production potential for cocaine in Bolivia. The U.S. Government is planning to conduct a coca yield study in Peru over the next year to get an up-to-date snapshot. Also, the U.S. Government will conduct a heroin lab efficiency study in Afghanistan and an opium yield study in Burma. These studies should help improve heroin production data in these two source countries. Finally, in 2012, the Government of Mexico expressed interest in conducting heroin and marijuana yield studies in Mexico, but those have been delayed at least a year due to national elections. Cooperation from the Government of Mexico on crop harvest data did result in improved potential production estimates.

## 3. Measures of Drug Use and Related Problems Must Be Useful at the State and Community Level

## A. Develop a Community Early Warning and Monitoring System that Tracks Substance Use and Problem Indicators at the Local Level

Success at reducing the Nation's drug use problem occurs at the local level through the efforts of community coalitions, treatment providers, recovery support service providers, law enforcement, and others. SAMHSA, with the assistance of its Federal partners, is developing a system of local drug indicators. In FY 2013, a pilot program to develop and implement the system in selected sites will be undertaken.

#### Advocate for Action: Dr. Christian Thurstone



Dr. Christian Thurstone is one of fewer than three dozen physicians in the United States board certified in general, child and adolescent, and addictions psychiatry. He is medical director of one of Colorado's largest youth substance use treatment clinics and an associate professor of psychiatry at the University of Colorado, Denver, where he conducts research on youth substance use and addiction. Dr. Thurstone has completed medical training at the University of Chicago and University of Colorado, Denver. In 2010, he completed 5 years of mentored research training through the NIDA/

American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry K12 Research Program in Substance Abuse. Dr. Thurstone's research on adolescent substance use disorders has contributed to our understanding of the impact of drugs on the adolescent mind and has demonstrated the need for evidence-based prevention. Dr. Thurstone is not only a renowned researcher and scientist but also a vocal advocate for drug use prevention, with a focus on marijuana. His experience with young people suffering from marijuana use problems in his adolescent substance abuse treatment program inspired him to become a leading voice in getting the facts out about the health risks of marijuana.



## Policy Focus: Reducing Drugged Driving

Every year, thousands of fatalities occur in the United States that involve drugged driving.<sup>101</sup> Drugs other than alcohol that can affect driving performance include illicit drugs and medications (prescribed and over-the-counter) with the potential to alter behavior. It has been 3 years since the President identified drugged driving as a national priority in the inaugural *National Drug Control Strategy* and set an ambitious goal of reducing drugged driving in America by 10 percent by 2015. To meet the President's goal, ONDCP continues to work closely with Federal partners, state and local governments, public health officials, law enforcement agencies, membership organizations, and community groups to bolster awareness.

Success in achieving the *Strategy's* goal will be measured with data from the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration's (NHTSA) National Roadside Survey. While data from this survey will not be available until 2014, results from the NSDUH are used as an alternate source of data to determine whether the Nation is likely to be on track to achieve this goal. In 2011, according to the NSDUH, 9.4 million persons (3.7 percent) of the population aged 12 or older reported driving under the influence of illicit drugs (including the nonmedical use of prescription-type drugs) during the past year. This is a 12 percent decrease from the rate in 2010 (4.2 percent) and 2009 (4.2 percent).<sup>102</sup>

While the data are encouraging, we must remain focused on reducing this threat to public health and safety. The 2012 *National Drug Control Strategy* focused on four key areas of the Administration's efforts to reduce drugged driving: Increase public awareness; enhance legal reforms to get drugged drivers off the road; advance technology for drug tests and data collection; and increase law enforcement's ability to identify drugged drivers. These efforts remain the Administration's focus for the upcoming year.

To raise national awareness, in 2012 the President once again declared December National Impaired Driving Prevention Month. In addition to forging new relationships and extending our public outreach, ONDCP will continue to work with such national partners as Mothers Against Drunk Driving (MADD) and RADD: The Entertainment Industry's Voice for Road Safety to produce educational programming for youth and raise awareness about the dangers of drugged driving.

ONDCP has established strong collaborations with DOT, specifically NHTSA and the Office of Drug and Alcohol Policy and Compliance; the Department of Health and Human Services, specifically NIDA and SAMHSA; and the National Transportation Safety Board. Because of these partnerships, progress in research is being made and several key projects are underway. The Administration will continue to support research to improve the standards and reliability for drug testing, including the development of a reliable and widely-available roadside test for the detection of the presence of drugs in drivers' systems.

Law enforcement plays a critical role in reducing drugged driving, and ONDCP will continue to support additional training for patrol officers to recognize impaired drivers. Progress has also been made in making training more accessible to law enforcement. In 2013, ONDCP and the NHTSA will launch the online version of NHTSA's Advanced Roadside Impaired Driving Enforcement program (ARIDE), making training available to an even larger number of officers.

We know from the decades-long efforts to reduce drunk driving that progress is possible. Since 1973, there has been a 71 percent decrease in the percentage of alcohol-impaired drivers on the road on

weekend nights.<sup>103</sup> There is now a coordinated effort to reduce drugged driving through education, policymaking, and legislation. The following accomplishments are evidence that we are moving in the right direction on this important issue.

## Preventing Drugged Driving Must Become a National Priority on Par with Preventing Drunk Driving

#### Encourage States to Adopt Per Se Drug Impairment Laws

For the past 3 years, the Administration has worked to educate states about per se (or "zero tolerance") laws and the importance of drugged driving legislation. Through the dissemination of best practices guidance documents, educational packets, and webinars, ONDCP has remained committed to providing states with the advice and the technical assistance needed to pursue drugged driving legislation. Due to growing concern over the traffic safety implications of illegal drug use by drivers, 17 states in the United States currently have per se statutes, and the Administration is encouraging other states in the United States to adopt these standards. In September 2012, the Governors Highway Safety Association broadened its drugged driving policy to include per se laws. Legal responses have proven effective in the past to reduce threats to public health and public safety. For example, administrative license revocation laws were a significant part of the successful effort to reduce drunk driving across the Nation. A similar administrative process could be effective in addressing drugged driving. The immediate suspension or revocation of a driver's license for drug test failures or refusals may be a valuable legal tool for removing offenders from the road quickly. ONDCP will continue to work with states as they consider reviewing their administrative license revocation laws to cover drugged drivers as well as drunk drivers.

#### Advocate for Action: Ed Wood



Ed Wood has become a recognized leader in promoting effective drugged driving laws, beginning in his home state of Colorado. His intense quest began 2 years ago, after drivers with multiple drugs in their systems caused a collision that killed his son Brian and severely injured his son's wife. After the collision, Ed became all too familiar with the challenges of prosecuting drugged driving cases. Drunk drivers can be predictably convicted, in part due to *per se* laws that prohibit driving with more than 0.08 gm/dl of alcohol in a driver's blood. The drivers who

collided with Ed's son and his wife received a light sentence based on careless driving rather than driving under the influence of drugs (DUID) since, as the defense attorney pointed out, "It is not illegal to drive with illegal drugs in your body." In fact, in many states there are no *per se* laws that apply to drugged driving, even though it is much more difficult to prove drug impairment than alcohol impairment. Spurred to action, Ed founded "Deception Pass 3," a network for DUID victims to advocate for effective drugged driving laws.

#### Collect Further Data on Drugged Driving

Strong data provide the basis for sound policy, and the Administration has made significant strides in research and data collection over the past 3 years. ONDCP provided support to NHTSA to accelerate the next iteration of the National Roadside Survey to be completed with results by 2014. This survey is critical to providing data on randomly selected drivers by testing their blood or saliva to confirm the presence of drugs. Another study conducted by NHTSA is the Crash Risk Study. This study, conducted in Virginia Beach, Virginia, is assessing the relative risk of becoming involved in a crash after consuming drugs; results are expected in 2013. ONDCP has partnered with NHTSA and NIDA to support driver simulator research to examine driving impairment as a result of marijuana and combined marijuana and alcohol use and correlate it with the results of oral fluid testing to identify behavioral indicators of impairment.

#### Enhance Prevention of Drugged Driving by Educating Communities and Professionals

Outreach and education regarding drugged driving has gained momentum across the Nation. Over the past 3 years, the President has declared December National Impaired Driving Prevention Month. In 2012, much was accomplished by way of national partnerships, published opinion editorials, community roundtables, conferences, ONDCP <a href="Drugged Driving Toolkit">Drugged Driving Toolkit</a> dissemination, webinars, and Federal and state level engagement. Significant partnerships include working with Mothers Against Drunk Driving (MADD) and RADD: The Entertainment Industry's Voice for Road Safety. ONDCP will seek to build new relationships while continuing public awareness efforts with the Students Against Destructive Decisions (SADD), the Governors Highway Safety Association, the American Association of Motor Vehicles Administrators, the Lifesavers Conference, the National Organizations for Youth Safety, the National Transportation Safety Board, the National Association of School Resource Officers, and the National Association of Drug Court Professionals.

#### Provide Increased Training to Law Enforcement on Identifying Drugged Drivers

Equipping our Nation's law enforcement officers with the best possible training is an integral part of reducing drugged driving crashes. ONDCP has partnered with DOT and NHTSA to develop an online version of NHTSA's ARIDE program, that will be available in 2013. These training modules allow more law enforcement officers and prosecutors to receive advanced training on drugged driving enforcement. During 2013, the Administration will continue to raise awareness for ARIDE training through national and local outreach opportunities. Additionally, the Administration continues to recognize the importance of officers who are trained and certified as DREs.

## Develop Standard Screening Methodologies for Drug-Testing Labs to Use in Detecting the Presence of Drugs

There have been considerable developments in research for the use of oral fluid (saliva) for drug testing. Oral fluid can provide a quick and non-invasive specimen for drug testing, particularly in cases where drugged driving is suspected. In 2011, ONDCP entered into an interagency agreement with SAMHSA supporting the development of guidelines on toxicology laboratory standards for detecting drugs and/or their metabolites in oral fluids. While the primary purpose of these Federal guidelines are for workplace testing, they are critical for developing roadside detection devices needed for drugged driving enforcement.



# Policy Focus: Preventing Prescription Drug Abuse

The misuse and abuse of prescription medications has taken a devastating toll on the public health and safety of our Nation. Increases in substance abuse treatment admissions, emergency department visits, and—most disturbingly—deaths attributable to prescription drug overdoses are placing enormous burdens upon communities across the country. <sup>104,105,106</sup> So pronounced are these consequences that the CDC has characterized prescription drug overdose as a public health epidemic, a label that further underscores the need for urgent policy, program, and community-led responses. <sup>107</sup>

Data from 2011 show that approximately 6.1 million Americans reported that they used prescription drugs non-medically in the past month.<sup>108</sup> In 2011, 2.3 million Americans aged 12 or older used these medications non-medically for the first time, the largest share of whom (1.9 million) started with pain relievers, most of which contained opioids like Oxycontin\*, hydrocodone, codeine, and methadone.<sup>109</sup> There are also indications that for some, oral prescription opioid abuse is followed by injection of opiates and eventual use of heroin, an illicit opiate.<sup>110,111</sup> Heroin use appears to be increasing, particularly among younger people outside of metropolitan areas.<sup>112</sup> NSDUH data indicate the number of persons who were past year heroin users in 2011 (620,000) was significantly higher than the number in 2007 (373,000).<sup>113</sup>

This widespread abuse is having very real consequences. In 2010 alone, more than 1.3 million emergency department visits involved the non-medical use of prescription drugs—more than double the estimate from 6 years earlier and outnumbering visits involving all other illicit drugs combined. Data also show a more than five-fold increase in addiction treatment admissions for individuals primarily abusing prescription pain relievers from 2000 to 2010. And the number of 18- to 25-year-olds admitted for treatment due to heroin increased from approximately 43,000 in 2000 to approximately 68,000 in 2010.

Perhaps most alarming, however, is that in 2010 more than 38,300 Americans died from drug overdose, with prescription drugs—particularly opioid pain relievers—involved in a significant proportion of those deaths. This means that on average more than 100 Americans die from drug overdoses every day in this country. Opioid pain relievers were involved in over 16,600 of these deaths, approximately four times the number of deaths just a decade earlier in 2000. Overdose rates among heroin users are also known to be high, with approximately one quarter of heroin users experiencing an overdose annually and some researchers estimate approximately 1 percent dying annually. Opioid pain relievers are now involved in more overdose deaths than heroin and cocaine combined. All drug overdose deaths now even outnumber deaths from gunshot wounds or from motor vehicle crashes.

The considerable public health and safety consequences of prescription drug abuse underscore the need for action. In April 2011, the Administration released its comprehensive Prescription Drug Abuse Prevention Plan, entitled "Epidemic: Responding to America's Prescription Drug Abuse Crisis." Building upon the Administration's National Drug Control Strategy, the Plan brings together a wide range of stakeholders to reduce diversion and abuse of prescription drugs. It strikes a balance between our need to prevent diversion and abuse of pharmaceuticals and the need to ensure legitimate access, focusing on four major pillars, each designed to intervene at a critical juncture in the process of diversion and

abuse. These pillars include education for prescribers and the public; prescription monitoring; safe drug disposal; and effective enforcement.

There are signs that the national effort to reduce and prevent prescription drug abuse is working. The latest survey data show the number of people currently abusing prescription drugs has decreased significantly, from 7.0 million in 2010 to 6.1 million in 2011, a nearly 13 percent decrease. <sup>121</sup> We also know that past month non-medical use of prescription drugs among young adults ages 18-25 was significantly lower in 2011 (5.0 percent) compared to just one year earlier (2010, 5.9 percent), a trend that is also true for the abuse of pain relievers among this age group. <sup>122</sup>

While these trends are promising, we know there is much more to do. Indications of increasing heroin use in some areas of the country underscore the need for further research on the relationship between prescription drug abuse and heroin use. The Administration is focused on accomplishing the goals of the Prescription Drug Abuse Prevention Plan and addressing some of the most pronounced consequences of this epidemic, including overdose deaths and emerging issues like NAS and increases in heroin use.

#### **Pillar 1: Education**

#### Educate Physicians about Opiate Painkiller Prescribing

Family practitioners, internists, dentists, and pain specialists are charged with the important task of managing their patients' pain, often by prescribing opioid pain relievers. Surveys of health care professionals and medical schools reveal significant gaps in education and training on pain management, substance abuse, and safe prescribing practices. <sup>123</sup> For these reasons, the Administration continues to support mandatory education for prescribers, as called for in the Prescription Drug Abuse Prevention Plan.

Several states, including Iowa, Massachusetts, and Utah have recognized this need and passed mandatory prescriber education legislation. These laws require important education for health care providers on the abuse potential of prescription medications and the best ways to deliver quality care while ensuring patient and public safety.

As state leaders take steps to expand critical training in this area, the Administration continues to support other education efforts across the country. SAMHSA is providing training on prescription drug abuse for physicians and other health professionals both online and, since 2007, in 47 sites in 20 states with particularly high rates of opioid dispensing. These training programs are providing important knowledge and tools for medical professionals responsible for safely prescribing these medications. In addition, the FDA has developed a Risk Evaluation and Mitigation Strategy (REMS) for extended-release and long-acting (ER/LA) opioids. Announced in July 2012, the REMS risk management plan for these medications requires all manufacturers of ER/LA opioids to make training available for prescribers of these medications. The manufacturers have also developed information that prescribers can use when counseling patients about the risks and benefits of opioid use. The FDA expects that the training will be provided free or at low-cost by continuing education providers and that at least 60 percent of the approximately 320,000 licensed prescribers of ER/LA opioids will be trained within 4 years from when training is available. Lastly, under its Safe Use Initiative, FDA has convened a workgroup and has developed a draft model Patient Provider Agreement (PPA). The workgroup will be pilot testing the model PPA in clinical

settings to assess the document's usability in practice settings and to assess patients' comprehension of the information in the document on how to safely use, store, and dispose of their opioid medications.

ONDCP provided funding to NIDA to develop two free online continuing medical education (CME) courses for health care professionals who prescribe opioid analgesics: Safe Prescribing for Pain and Managing Pain Patients Who Abuse Rx Drugs. Released in October 2012, these CME courses focus on safe prescribing for pain and addressing patients who abuse prescription painkillers. To date, more than 40,000 health care professionals have completed these courses. With these efforts and ongoing work with health care professional organizations, state health officials, and others, the Administration remains committed to helping health care providers ensure the safety of their patients and the general public.

As part of the Prescription Drug Abuse Prevention Plan, the Administration also continues to support research and development activities related to treatments for pain with no abuse potential and the development of abuse-deterrent formulations of opioid medications and other drugs with abuse potential. The FDA recently issued a draft guidance document that addresses research and labeling issues related to the development of abuse-deterrent formulations, thereby assisting industry in developing new formulations that promise to help reduce the prescription drug abuse epidemic in the United States.

#### **Advocate for Action: Karen Kelly**



The prescription drug abuse epidemic has hit southern and eastern Kentucky particularly hard, and Karen Kelly has seen the consequences affect members of her own family. Inspired by her personal experience, Karen has taken action, serving as President/CEO of Operation UNITE (Unlawful Narcotics Investigations, Treatment, and Education) since it was launched in 2003 by Congressman Hal Rogers. Under her leadership, UNITE has taken a holistic approach to reducing prescription drug abuse across southern and eastern Kentucky, spearheading many successful initiatives aimed at youth and community education; providing assistance for individuals seeking treatment and recovery for an addiction; and coordinating multi-jurisdictional law enforcement responses to drug trafficking and diversion. UNITE organized the first

<u>National Rx Drug Abuse Summit</u> in 2012, during which stakeholders discussed prescription drug problems in their communities and came together with a focus on ways to make an impact through holistic collaboration.

#### **Pillar 2: Monitoring**

## Expand Prescription Drug Monitoring Programs and Promote Links among State Systems and to Electronic Health Records

Prescription Drug Monitoring Programs (PDMPs) are state-administered databases that contain information on the prescribing and dispensing of controlled substances. Information contained in the PDMP may be used by prescribers and pharmacists to identify patients who may be doctor shopping (seeing multiple doctors to obtain prescriptions), need substance abuse treatment, or are at risk for overdose. In accordance with state laws, PDMP information may also be used by state regulatory and law enforcement

officials to pursue cases involving prescribers or pharmacists operating outside the bounds of proper practice, "pill mills," and other sources of diversion. In 2006, only 20 states had PDMPs. Today, 49 states have laws authorizing PDMPs, and 42 states have operational programs.<sup>125</sup> Missouri and Washington, DC, have yet to authorize PDMPs.

All states should have operational PDMPs with the ability to share data across state lines. With support from BJA and leadership from the National Association of Boards of Pharmacy, there are currently 11 states able to share data with other states, with several more pending as a result of the recently adopted Prescription Monitoring Information Exchange (PMIX) Architecture. The PMIX Architecture is a formal set of technical requirements that existing and future interstate data hubs must comply with to enable state-to-state data sharing. Additionally, health care providers should have easy access to information from these databases within their health information systems to promote more regular and consistent use of PDMP data as a standard part of patient care. The Administration is working with state health care and law enforcement officials to streamline and improve PDMP operations, expand state-to-state data sharing, and to increase prescriber and dispenser adoption of these databases as a part of their regular workflow.

ONDCP is working with the Office of the National Coordinator for Health Information Technology (ONC) at HHS, SAMHSA, and CDC to explore connecting PDMPs with health information technology systems and state Health Information Exchanges. This work will enable providers and pharmacists to have ready access to PDMP data when treating patients in ambulatory practices and emergency departments. The first phase of the *Enhancing Access to PDMPs through Use of Health IT* project concluded in September 2012 and resulted in evaluations of pilot sites in six states, including Indiana, Michigan, Nebraska, North Dakota, Ohio, and Washington. The pilots tested the ease and effectiveness of establishing new connections with PDMPs so that PDMP data could be available to prescribers and dispensers at the point-of-care. The pilot designs explored a range of provider and pharmacy workflows with respect to access to PDMP data. The pilots had varying complexity and health IT connectivity configurations. Overall, the pilot studies successfully demonstrated the ability to enhance access to PDMPs using health IT as well as the associated benefits to health care providers and dispensers. The project is currently in its second phase, which is scheduled to conclude in March 2013.

SAMHSA has funded nine states under its *Prescription Drug Monitoring Program (PDMP) Electronic Health Record (EHR) Integration and Interoperability Expansion* project. The purpose of this program is to:

1) improve real-time access to PDMP data by integrating PDMPs into existing technologies, like EHRs, in order to improve the ability of state PDMPs to reduce the nature, scope, and extent of prescription drug abuse; and 2) strengthen state PDMPs that are currently operational by providing resources to make the changes necessary to increase their interoperability. Grant funds will enable states to integrate their PDMPs into EHR and other health information technology systems to expand utilization by increasing the production and distribution of unsolicited reports and alerts to prescribers and dispensers of prescription data. Grant funds will also be used by states for modification of their systems to expand interoperability. This grant program will be complemented by an evaluation program conducted by the CDC.

In partnership with BJA, the Indian Health Service (IHS) has actively pursued integration with existing state PDMPs since October 2008. IHS has worked with state program administrators and leadership to fully implement Memoranda of Understanding (MOUs) to enable proper IHS data sharing with these

#### POLICY FOCUS: PREVENTING PRESCRIPTION DRUG ABUSE

programs and has overcome barriers resulting from lack of funding, privacy act provisions, and differences among state PDMPs. BJA and IHS continue to address ongoing issues to ensure data privacy and reporting requirements to ensure that PDMPs and prescribing data can be used to address prescription drug abuse among tribal communities.

The DOD prescription data repository, the Pharmacy Data Transaction Service (PDTS), conducts online, real-time prospective drug utilization review against a patient's complete medication history for each new or refilled prescription before it is dispensed to the patient. Currently, the DOD shares prescription data with state PDMPs through the TRICARE Mail Order Pharmacy and Retail Network Pharmacies. The DOD is assessing various technical approaches and levels of effort to determine the best solution for military treatment facility pharmacies to share data with state PMDPs.

The Administration worked with the Congress to secure language in the FY 2012 Consolidated Appropriations Act to allow VA to share prescription drug data with state PDMPs, an important development to ensure safe prescribing and patient safety for our veterans. Publication of an interim final rule on February 11, 2013 amended VA's regulations concerning the sharing of certain patient information in order to implement VA's authority to participate in state PDMPs. VA is developing the informatics solution for each VA medical center to submit prescription data. Other Federal PDMP databases will move toward integration with state PDMPs.

#### Pillar 3: Disposal

#### Increase Prescription Return/Take-Back and Disposal Programs

Research shows that over 70 percent of people using prescription pain relievers nonmedically report getting them from a friend or relative the last time they used the drugs. Safe and proper disposal programs allow individuals to dispose of unneeded or expired medications in a safe, timely, and environmentally responsible manner. DEA has partnered with hundreds of state and local entities to coordinate several National Prescription Drug Take Back Days in communities across the country. Through these events, DEA has collected and safely disposed of over two million pounds (1,018 tons) of unneeded or expired medications, many of which were sitting in drawers and medicine cabinets, vulnerable to misuse. These "Take Back Days" were a critical first step in safely collecting, disposing, and preventing diversion of these medications.

The passage of the Secure and Responsible Drug Disposal Act in October 2010 was a critical step forward in expanding prescription drug disposal nationwide. The DEA Notice of Proposed Rulemaking for the Disposal of Controlled Substances, published on December 21, 2012, outlines the Administration's proposal to make safe disposal of prescription drugs more convenient and accessible for all Americans. To help ensure a reduction in the amount of prescription drugs available for diversion and abuse, a drug disposal program needs to be easily accessible to the public, environmentally friendly, and cost-effective. The proposed rule would allow authorized pharmacies and other authorized DEA-registered entities to host permanent collection receptacles, administer mail-back programs, and make easy, safe disposal of these medications a reality for communities nationwide. DOD has actively promoted DEA's National Prescription Drug Take Back Days among the military population, and, with final regulations implementing the Disposal Act on the horizon, all persons (civilian and military) will be able to more readily remove unwanted controlled substances from their households.

#### **Pillar 4: Enforcement**

#### Assist States to Address Doctor Shopping and Pill Mills

Doctor shopping and pill mill operations have presented significant challenges for law enforcement agencies in a number of states. Innovative enforcement strategies and collaboration among Federal, state, and local law enforcement agencies and criminal justice leaders are helping many communities shut down these illegal operations. Florida is a great example of this success. According to DEA, 90 of the top 100 oxycodone purchasing physicians in the Nation were located in the State in 2010. While not all of these doctors were operating unethically or illegally, many were, and the State took steps to shut them down. State leaders passed laws that stopped doctors operating at these pain clinics from being able to dispense controlled substances. These state actions, combined with a number of significant enforcement actions led by DEA and state and local agencies, have resulted in a decreased number of rogue pain clinics. As a result, oxycodone purchases by doctors in Florida have dropped dramatically. In fact, according to DEA, there was a 97 percent decrease in oxycodone purchases by doctors in Florida in 2011 compared to 2010, and the number of Florida doctors appearing on the list of the top 100 oxycodone-purchasing physicians dropped from 90 in 2010 to only 13 in 2011.

While Florida's progress is promising, these combined actions may be causing doctor shoppers and others seeking diverted prescription drugs for abuse to turn to other states in the region. There have been notable increases in prescribers purchasing oxycodone in Georgia and Tennessee. Among oxycodone-purchasing prescribers, 21 located in Georgia and 11 in Tennessee are now among the top 100. In order to prevent pill mill operators and improper prescribers from simply migrating to other areas of the country, the Administration is working with state and local leaders to learn from Florida's experience and explore enforcement, regulatory, and legislative options to prevent diversion and its consequences.

The Administration remains committed to coordinated Federal, state, and local efforts. DEA's Tactical Diversion Squads, multiagency HIDTA Task Forces, and other collaborative enforcement groups will continue to shut down pill mills, build cases against improper prescribers, and stop flows of diverted prescription medications. In FY 2012, the National Institute of Justice awarded three new grants to promote research on illegal prescription drug market interventions: Identifying High Risk Prescribers Using PDMP Data: A Tool for Law Enforcement; Non-Medical Use of Prescription Drugs: Policy Change, Law Enforcement Activity, and Diversion Tactics; and Optimizing Prescription Drug Monitoring Programs to Support Law Enforcement Activities.

#### Drive Illegal Internet Pharmacies Out of Business

The Administration has taken steps to reduce the role of illegal Internet pharmacies in pharmaceutical diversion. The Ryan Haight Online Pharmacy Consumer Protection Act of 2008 requires all Internet pharmacies to obtain a special DEA registration and report monthly to DEA; to disclose detailed information on their home page; and to provide no pharmaceuticals to individuals who have not had at least one face-to-face evaluation by a prescribing medical practitioner. The law allows DEA to better monitor unlawful internet pharmacy operations and reduces the number of Internet pharmacies distributing controlled substances illegally. DEA will continue to focus on online operations illegally diverting these medications and will continue to partner with international, state, and local law enforcement agencies to further suppress illegal online sources of prescription drug diversion.

#### Crack Down on Rogue Pain Clinics that Do Not Follow Appropriate Prescription Practices

The Administration is focused on improving law enforcement capabilities to address prescription drug diversion from "pill mills" and rogue prescribers. The National Methamphetamine and Pharmaceuticals Initiative (NMPI), funded through ONDCP's HIDTA program, has provided critical training on pharmaceutical crime investigations to law enforcement agencies across the country. In FY 2011 alone, NMPI helped provide training in pharmaceutical crime investigations and prosecutions to over 2,500 law enforcement and criminal justice professionals. These efforts continue to disseminate critical knowledge and skills to the enforcement professionals that enable them to address pill mills operating in their jurisdictions.

#### Overdose Prevention and Intervention

As noted previously, approximately 100 Americans died from drug overdose every day in 2010, with a majority of those overdose deaths involving prescription drugs.<sup>128</sup> Drug overdose deaths now even outnumber deaths from gunshot wounds or from motor vehicle crashes.<sup>129</sup> Opioid overdoses persist as a major cause of preventable death in the United States. In response to this public health emergency, the Administration established a goal of reducing drug-induced deaths by 15 percent by 2015. To meet this goal, the Administration is seeking to address the full range of individuals at risk for overdose and collaborate with a diverse range of partners to promote education and intervention.

Naloxone (brand name Narcan™) is an opioid antagonist that has long been used as an emergency intervention to reverse the potentially fatal respiratory depressant effects of an opioid overdose (opioids include licit drugs such as morphine, codeine, oxycodone, methadone, and hydrocodone as well as Schedule I illicit drugs such as heroin). Naloxone can be given by injection into a muscle or with a nasal spray device into the nose. When administered to an individual who has taken opioids, it is believed naloxone dislodges the opioids from the opioid receptors in the brain. This can reverse the effects of an overdose and help restore breathing that may have slowed or stopped during the overdose episode. As death typically does not occur until several hours after an opioid overdose, there is a window of opportunity to intervene by calling 911, giving rescue breathing, and by the administration of naloxone by a trained lay person. 131,132

The Administration is also examining legal impediments that might discourage individuals from calling 911 in the event of an overdose. Several states, including California, Illinois, Massachusetts, and New Mexico have passed Good Samaritan laws, which provide immunity from drug possession prosecutions for overdose victims and witnesses who seek medical aid. As these laws are implemented, the Administration will carefully monitor the impacts on public health and public safety.

Research has shown that naloxone is an important and cost-effective tool to prevent overdoses and ultimately reduce drug use and its consequences. The Administration has taken a number of steps to educate the public, law enforcement professionals, health care providers, and others about overdose prevention. ONDCP, CDC, and SAMHSA are working with first responders to identify and address any gaps in training, access, and use of naloxone by first responders. In early 2012, various HHS components (FDA, Office of the Assistant Secretary for Health, NIDA, and CDC) held a public workshop examining the importance of naloxone in reducing overdose deaths and examining regulatory avenues for the use of naloxone by non-medical personnel. At the meeting, FDA described pathways to approve alternative non-injectable formulations of naloxone and over-the-counter approval of the drug.



## Conclusion

As the Administration enters a second term—and the *Strategy* enters its fourth year—we have reason to be optimistic about the future of our efforts to reduce drug use and its consequences in the United States. We are working at every level and in every setting to help prevent drug use before it starts. Screening and brief intervention services are expanding in the health care system, and the full implementation of the Affordable Care Act will increase access, quality, and innovation in substance abuse treatment. We have made an unprecedented commitment to support individuals in recovery and will continue to support their cause and celebrate their success. We have brought increased attention to the issues of maternal addiction and neonatal abstinence syndrome. Through the Prescription Drug Abuse Prevention Plan and overdose prevention efforts, we are making progress against one of the most significant public health epidemics of our time.

The Administration has also taken action through legislation, research, and policy reform to create a more fair and equitable criminal justice system—one that is better equipped to address the needs of substance-involved offenders while also protecting the safety of our communities. Early indications are emerging that our efforts to strengthen public safety on our roadways by reducing the prevalence of drugged driving are working. In the area of domestic law enforcement, artificial "silos" continue to be reduced through increased coordination not only among law enforcement agencies but also between the law enforcement and public health sectors. And in the international environment, we have brought a renewed focus to the immediate drug-related threats we face in the Western Hemisphere—while also taking important steps to promote human rights and evidence-based public safety and public health approaches around the world.

This progress is not irreversible, however. We must continue to support the public health and public safety programs that have proven effective in reducing drug use and its consequences. And we must continue to get the facts out about the health risks of drug use. In a debate that is often dominated by the two extremes of legalization on one hand or a "war on drugs" on the other, we are charting a balanced "third way" approach to drug policy. This approach is supported by science and is exemplified by the Advocates for Action profiled throughout this *Strategy*. Their stories of dedication, leadership, and purpose remind us that the American experience is one of constant progress toward a better tomorrow.



## List of Abbreviations

ARIDE Advanced Roadside Impaired Driving Enforcement

ATI Above the Influence

ATR Access to Recovery

BEST Border Enforcement Security Task Force

BJA Bureau of Justice Assistance

BOP Federal Bureau of Prisons

CADCA Community Anti-Drug Coalitions of America

CARSI Central America Regional Security Initiative

CBP U.S. Customs and Border Protection

CBSI Caribbean Basin Security Initiative

CCDB Consolidated Counterdrug Data Base

CDC Centers for Disease Control and Prevention

CME Continuing Medical Education

CMS Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services

CNWG Counternarcotics Working Group

CPOT Consolidated Priority Organizational Target

DASIS Drug and Alcohol Services Information System

DAWN Drug Abuse Warning Network

DEA Drug Enforcement Administration

DEC Drug Endangered Children

DFC Drug Free Communities

DICE DEA Internet Connectivity Endeavor

DMI Drug Market Intervention

DOD U.S. Department of Defense

DOT U.S. Department of Transportation

EPIC El Paso Intelligence Center

ER Emergency Room

ER/LA Extended-Release/Long-Acting

ESP Epic System Portal

FAFSA Free Application for Federal Student Aid

FBI Federal Bureau of Investigation

FDA Food and Drug Administration

FDSS Federal-wide Drug Seizure System

HIDTA High Intensity Drug Trafficking Area

HIV Human Immunodeficiency Virus

HOPE Hawaii's Opportunity Probation with Enforcement or Honest Opportunity

**Probation with Enforcement** 

HSI Homeland Security Investigations

HSIN Homeland Security Information Network

HUD U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development

ICE U.S. Immigration and Customs Enforcement

IDEC International Drug Enforcement Conference

INL Bureau of International Narcotics and Law Enforcement Affairs

ISC Investigative Support Center

I-SATS Inventory of Substance Abuse Treatment Services

JIATF Joint Interagency Task Force

MADD Mothers Against Drunk Driving

MAT Medication-Assisted Treatment

MATTICCE Medication Assisted Treatment in Community Corrections Environment

NAS Neonatal Abstinence Syndrome

NFLIS National Forensic Laboratory Information System

NHTSA National Highway Traffic Safety Administration

NICCC National Inventory of Collateral Consequences of Conviction

NIDA National Institute on Drug Abuse

NIJ National Institute of Justice

NMPI National Methamphetamine and Pharmaceuticals Initiative

NSDUH National Survey on Drug Use and Health

NSS National Seizure System

#### LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

OAS/CICAD Organization of American States/Inter-American Drug Abuse Control Commission

OCDETF Organized Crime Drug Enforcement Task Forces

OFC OCDETF Fusion Center

ODNI Office of the Director of National Intelligence

OJJDP Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention

ONDCP Office of National Drug Control Policy

PACT Police and Communities Together

PDMP Prescription Drug Monitoring Program

PEPFAR President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief

PHA Public Housing Authority

PRS Performance Reporting System

RDAP Residential Drug Abuse Program

SAMHSA Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration

SBIRT Screening, Brief Intervention, and Referral to Treatment

SIU Sensitive Investigative Unit

SPSS Self-Propelled Semi-Submersible

TEDS Treatment Episode Data Set

TASC Treatment Alternatives for Safe Communities

TSA Transportation Security Administration

UN United Nations

UNODC United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime

UPU Universal Postal Union

USAID United States Agency for International Development

USCG U.S. Coast Guard

VA U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs

VIDA Vulnerability Issues in Drug Abuse program



## Endnotes

- United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime. (2007). Sweden's successful drug policy: A review of the evidence. Retrieved from http://www.unodc.org/pdf/research/Swedish\_drug\_control.pdf.
- 2. National Association of Drug Court Professionals. (2012). Types of drug courts. Retrieved from http://www.nadcp.org/learn/what-are-drug-courts/types-drug-courts.
- 3. The PRS was developed in accordance with the Government Performance and Results Modernization Act of 2010. The design report was released in April 2012.
- 4. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. (2012). Results from the 2011 national survey on drug use and health: Summary of national findings. Office of Applied Studies, NSDUH Series H-44, HHS Publication No. (SMA) 12-4713. Rockville, MD. Retrieved from http://www.samhsa.gov/data/nsduh/2k11results/nsduhresults2011.htm.
- Oetting, E., Edwards, R., Kelly, K., & Beauvais, F. (1997). Risk and protective factors for drug use among rural American youth. In: Robertson, E.B., Sloboda, Z., Boyd, G.M., Beatty, L., and Kozel, N.J., eds. Rural substance abuse: State of knowledge and issues. NIDA Research Monograph No. 168. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office, pp. 90-130.
- Miller, T.R., & Hendrie, D. (2009). Substance abuse prevention dollars and cents: A cost-benefit analysis. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, Center for Substance Abuse Prevention. Rockville, MD: DHHS Pub. No (SMA) 07-4298.
- 7. Chou, C., Montgomery, S., Pentz, M., Rohrbach, L., Johnson, C., Flay, B., & Mackinnon, D. (1998). Effects of a community-based prevention program in decreasing drug use in high-risk adolescents. *American Journal of Public Health*, 88, 944-948.
- 8. Bush, D.M., & Autry, J.H. 3rd. (2002). Substance abuse in the workplace: Epidemiology, effects, and industry. *Occupational Medicine*, 17(1), 13-25, iii.
- 9. Ibid.
- 10. Dooley, D, Catalono, R, and Hough, R. (1992). Unemployment and alcohol disorder in 1910 and 1990: Drift versus social causation. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 65, 277-90.
- 11. Booth, B.M., & Feng, W. (2002). The impact of drinking and drinking consequences on short-term unemployment outcomes in at-risk drinkers in six northern states. *Behavioral Sciences*, *29*, 157-66.
- 12. De Simone, J. (2002). Illegal drug use and employment. Journal of Labor Economics, 20, 252-77.
- 13. Dooley, D, Catalono, R, and Hough, R. (1992). Unemployment and alcohol disorder in 1910 and 1990: Drift versus social causation. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology, 65*, 277-90.

- 14. ICF International. (2012). Drug-Free communities support program national evaluation: 2011 interim findings report. Report prepared for the Office of National Drug Control Policy. Fairfax, VA. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.whitehouse.gov/sites/default/files/ondcp/grants-content/2011\_dfc\_interim\_report\_final.pdf">http://www.whitehouse.gov/sites/default/files/ondcp/grants-content/2011\_dfc\_interim\_report\_final.pdf</a>.
- 15. Slater, M.D., Kelly, K.J., Stanley, L.R., Lawrence, F.R., & Comello, M.L.G. (2011). Assessing media campaigns linking marijuana non-use with autonomy and aspirations: 'Be under your own influence' and ONDCP's 'Above the influence'. *Prevention Science*, 12 (1), 12-22.
- Carpenter, C.S. & Pechmann, C. (2011). Exposure to the above the influence antidrug advertisements and adolsescent marijuana use in the United States, 2006-2008. American Journal of Public Health, 101(5), 948-54.
- 17. Scheier, L.M., Grenard, J.L., & Holtz, K.D. (2011). An empirical assessment of the above the influence advertising campaign. *Journal of Drug Education*, *41*(*4*), 431-461.
- 18. Grossman, J.B., Resch, N.L., & Tierney, J.P. (2000). Making a difference: An impact study of big brothers big sisters. Philadelphia, PA: Public/Private Ventures. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.bbbs.org/site/c.9iILI3NGKhK6F/b.5961035/k.A153/Big\_impact8212proven\_results.htm">http://www.bbbs.org/site/c.9iILI3NGKhK6F/b.5961035/k.A153/Big\_impact8212proven\_results.htm</a>.
- 19. Babor, T.F., McRee, B.G., Kassebaum, P.A., Grimaldi, P.L., Ahmed, K., & Bray, J. (2007). Screening, brief intervention, and referral to treatment (SBIRT): Toward a public health approach to the management of substance abuse. *Substance Abuse*, *28*(3), 7-30.
- 20. Madras B., Compton W., Avula, D., Stegbauer, T., Stein, J., & Clark, H.W. (2009). Screening, brief intervention, referral to treatment (SBIRT) for illicit drug and alcohol use at multiple health-care sites: Comparison at intake and 6 months later. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, *99 (1-3)*, 280-295.
- 21. Unpublished data from SAMHSA's Services Accountability Improvement System, July 2012.
- 22. Lecoanet, R., et al. (2010). Screening, brief intervention, and referral to treatment, Wisconsin initiative to promote healthy lifestyles; An evaluation of the implementation and operation of wiphl in wisconsin clinical settings. University of Wisconsin Population Health Institute.
- 23. Patrick, S.W., Schumacher, R.E., Benneyworth, B.D., Krans, E.E., McAllister, J.M., & Davis, M.M. (2012). Neonatal abstinence syndrome and associated health care expenditures: United States, 2000-2009. *Journal of the American Medical Association, 307(18),* 1934-40. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22546608">http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22546608</a>.
- 24. Full video of the meeting is available in 4 parts on the White House YouTube channel:
  - Part 1: http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=n3sJTbJOWBU.
  - Part 2: http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=oClp6skzv9l.
  - Part 3: http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=bZMDBVQJ8u0.
  - Part 4: http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=2WNQVkzOyq8.
- 25. Jones, H.E., Kaltenbach, K., Heil, S.H., Stine, S.M., Coyle, M.G., Arria, A.M., O'Grady, K.E., Selby, P., Martin, P.R., & Fischer, G. (2010). Neonatal abstinence syndrome after methadone or

#### **ENDNOTES**

- buprenorphine exposure. *New England Journal of Medicine, 363,* 2320-31. Retrieved from http://www.nejm.org/doi/pdf/10.1056/NEJMoa1005359.
- 26. Etner, S., Huang, D., Evans, E., Ash, D.R., Hardy, M., Jourabchi, M., & Yih-Ing, H. (2006). benefit-cost in the California treatment outcome project: Does substance abuse treatment "pay for itself"? *Health Services Research*, 41(1), 192–213.
- 27. Estee, S., He, L., Mancuso, D., & Felver, B. (2006). *Medicaid cost outcomes*. Olympia, Washington: Department of Social and Health Services, Research and Data Analysis Division.
- 28. Mancuso, D., & Flever, B.E.M. (2010) Bending the health care cost curve by expanding alcohol/drug treatment. Olympia, Washington: Department of Social and Health Services, Research and Data Analysis Division.
- 29. Scott, C.K, Dennis, M.L., Laudet, A., Funk, R.R., & Simeone, R.S. (2011). Surviving drug addiction: The effect of treatment and abstinence on mortality. *American Journal of Public Health, 101(4),* 737–744.
- 30. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. (2012). Results from the 2011 national survey on drug use and health: Summary of national findings. Office of Applied Studies, NSDUH Series H-44, HHS Publication No. (SMA) 12-4713. Rockville, MD. Retrieved from http://www.samhsa.gov/data/nsduh/2k11results/nsduhresults2011.htm.
- 31. Examples of evidence-based approaches are Medication Assisted Therapy (MAT), Motivational Enhancement Therapy, Contingency Management Interventions/Incentives, the Matrix Model, Multidimensional Family Therapy, Multisytemic Therapy, and Brief Strategic Family Therapy.
- 32. Petry, N.M., Tedford, J., Austin, M., Nich, C., Carroll, K.M., & Rounsaville, B.J. (2004). Prize reinforcement contingency management for treating cocaine users: How low can we go, and with whom? *Addiction*, *99*(3), 349-360.
- 33. Petry, N.M., Martin, B., & Simcic, F., Jr. (2005). Prize reinforcement contingency management for cocaine dependence: Integration with group therapy in a methadone clinic. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 73(2), 354-359*.
- 34. Henggeler, S.W., Clingempeel, W.G., Brondino, M.J., & Pikrel, S.G. (2002). Four-year follow-up of multisystemic therapy with substance-abusing and substance-dependent juvenile offenders. *Journal of the Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, 41(7),* 868-874.
- 35. Ball, S.A., Martino, S., Nich, C., Frankforter, T. L., Van Horn, D., Crits-Christoph, P., Woody, G., Obert, J.L., Farentinos, C., & Carroll, K.M.. (2007). Site matters: Multisite randomized trial of motivational enhancement therapy in community drug abuse clinics. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 75(4), 556-567.
- 36. Rawson, R.A., Marinelli-Casey, P., Anglin, M.D., Dickow, A., Frazier, Y., Gallagher, C., et al. (2004). A multi-site comparison of psychosocial approaches for the treatment of methamphetamine dependence. *Addiction*, *99*, 708-717.

- 37. Santisteban, D.A., Suarez-Morales, L., Robbins, M.S., & Szapocznik, J. (2006). Brief strategic family therapy: Lessons learned in efficacy research and challenges to blending research and practice. *Family Process*, *45*(2), 259-271.
- 38. Liddle, H.A., Dakof, G.A., Turner, R.M., Henderson, C.E., & Greenbaum, P.E. (2008). Treating adolescent drug abuse: A randomized trial comparing multidimensional family therapy and cognitive behavior therapy. *Addiction*, *103(10)*, 1660-1670.
- 39. National Drug Intelligence Center. (2011). The economic impact of illicit drug use on American society. Washington, D.C.: United States Department of Justice. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.justice.gov/ndic/pubs44/44731/44731p.pdf">http://www.justice.gov/ndic/pubs44/44731/44731p.pdf</a>. Costs by category included public health: \$11,416,232,000; crime: \$61,376,694,000; and lost productivity: \$120,304,004. Taken together, these costs total \$193,096,930,000, with the majority share attributable to lost productivity.
- 40. Jordan, N., Grissom, G., Alonzo, G., Dietzen, L., & Sangsland, S. (2007). Economic benefit of chemical dependency treatment to employers. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, *34*, 311-319.
- 41. Jason, L.A., Olson, B., Ferrari, J.R., Majer, J.M., Alvarez, J., Stout, J. (2007). An examination of main and interactive effects of substance abuse recovery housing on multiple indicators of adjustment. *Addiction*, 102, 1114–1121.
- 42. Lo Sasso, A.T., Byro, E., Jason, L.A., Ferrari, J.R., & Olson, B. (2012). Benefits and costs associated with mutual-help community-based recovery homes: The Oxford House model. *Evaluation and Program Planning*, *35*(1), 47-53.
- 43. Mangrum, L. (2008). Final evaluation report: Creating access to recovery through drug courts.

  Austin, Texas: Texas Department of State Health Services, Mental Health and Substance Abuse Services Division, Gulf Coast Addiction Technology Transfer Center.
- 44. Krupski, A., Campbell, K., Joesch, J.M., Lucenko, B.A., & Roy-Byrne, P. (2009). Impact of Access to Recovery services on alcohol/drug treatment outcomes. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, *37*(4), 435-42.
- 45. Wickizer, T.M., Mancuso, D., Campbell, K., & Lucenko, B. (2009). Evaluation of the Washington State Access to Recovery project: Effects on Medicaid costs for working age disabled clients. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 37(3), 240-6.
- 46. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. (2012). Results from the 2011 national survey on drug use and health: Summary of national findings. Office of Applied Studies, NSDUH Series H-44, HHS Publication No. (SMA) 12-4713. Rockville, MD. Retrieved from http://www.samhsa.gov/data/nsduh/2k11results/nsduhresults2011.htm.
- 47. Institute of Medicine. (2012). Substance use disorders in the U.S. armed forces. Washington, DC. Retrieved from http://iom.edu/Reports/2012/Substance-Use-Disorders-in-the-US-Armed-Forces.aspx.
- 48. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. (2012). Fiscal Year 2013 Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration: Justification of Estimates for Appropriations Committees. Rockville, MD.

#### **ENDNOTES**

- 49. Office of National Drug Control Policy. (2012). Arrestee drug abuse monitoring program: 2011 annual report. Executive Office of the President: Washington, DC. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.whitehouse.gov//sites/default/files/emailfiles/adam\_ii\_2011\_annual\_rpt\_web\_version\_corrected.pdf">http://www.whitehouse.gov//sites/default/files/emailfiles/adam\_ii\_2011\_annual\_rpt\_web\_version\_corrected.pdf</a>.
- 50. States: Arkansas, Delaware, Georgia, Hawaii, Kansas, Kentucky, Louisiana, Missouri, New Hampshire, North Carolina, Ohio, Oklahoma, Oregon, Pennsylvania, South Carolina, South Dakota, and West Virginia. Counties: Alachua County, FL; Allegheny County, PA; Charlottesville and Albemarle County, VA; Delaware County, OH; Denver City and County, CO; Eau Claire County, WI; Grant County, IN; Johnson County, KS; King County, WA; Lane County, OR; Mecklenburg County, NC; Milwaukee County, WI; New York City, NY; San Francisco City and County, CA; Santa Cruz County, CA; Travis County, TX; Yamhill County, OR; and Yolo County, CA.
- 51. Participating agencies include the Departments of Justice, Education, Labor, Housing and Urban Development, Health and Human Services, and the White House Office of Faith-based and Neighborhood Partnerships, ONDCP, and the Domestic Policy Council.
- 52. The original six Forum cities are Boston, MA; Chicago, IL; Detroit, MI; Memphis, TN; Salinas, CA; and San Jose, CA.
- 53. Clackamas County, OR; Essex County, MA; Saline County AR; Tarrant County, TX.
- 54. National Association of Drug Court Professionals. (2012). Types of drug courts. Retrieved from http://www.nadcp.org/learn/what-are-drug-courts/types-drug-courts.
- 55. The Symposium is a partnership of the Center for Substance Abuse Treatment, the National Institute on Drug Abuse, the Bureau of Justice Assistance, the National Judicial College, and the Center for Health and Justice at Treatment Alternatives for Safe Communities.
- 56. Guerino, P., Harrison, P.M., & Sabol, W. (2011). Prisoners in 2010. Washington, DC: Bureau of Justice Statistics. Retrieved from http://bjs.ojp.usdoj.gov/content/pub/pdf/p10.pdf.
- 57. Calahan, M. & Parsons, L. (1986). Historical Corrections Statistics in the United States, 1850 1984. Rockville, MD: Bureau of Justice Statistics. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.ncjrs.gov/pdffiles1/pr/102529.pdf">https://www.ncjrs.gov/pdffiles1/pr/102529.pdf</a>.
- 58. Carson, E. & Sabol, W. (2012). Prisoners in 2011. Washington, DC: Bureau of Justice Statistics. Retrieved from http://bjs.ojp.usdoj.gov/content/pub/pdf/p11.pdf.
- 59. Maruschak, L. (2008). Medical problems of prisoners. Washington, D.C.: Bureau of Justice Statistics. Retrieved from http://bjs.gov/content/pub/html/mpp/mpp.cfm.
- 60. More information can be found at <a href="www.cjinvolvedwomen.org">www.cjinvolvedwomen.org</a> and <a href="www.nicic.gov/womenoffenders">www.nicic.gov/womenoffenders</a>.
- 61. Justice for Vets. (2012). The history. Retrieved from http://www.justiceforvets.org/vtc-history.
- 62. Sites include the Federal Bureau of Prisons; the Maryland Department of Corrections, including the Baltimore City Jail; the Iowa Department of Corrections; the California Department of Corrections; the Vermont Department of Corrections, and the Okaloosa County (FL) Jail.

- 63. The grantees include Aurora, CO; Connecticut Judicial Branch; County of San Diego; Minnesota Department of Corrections; Montana Department of Corrections; Oregon Department of Corrections; South Carolina Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services; Travis County Adult Probation; and Wisconsin Department of Corrections.
- 64. Van Dorn, R., Volavka, J., & Johnson, N. (2011). Mental disorder and violence: Is there a relationship beyond substance use? *Social Psychiatry Psychiatric Epidemiology*, *47*(3), 487–503.
- 65. Tondo, L., Baldessarini, R.J., Hennen, J., et al. (1999). Suicide attempts in major affective disorder patients with comorbid substance use disorders. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry, 60 Suppl 2,* 63-69.
- 66. Karberg, J.C., & James, D.J. (2005). Substance dependence, abuse, and treatment of jail inmates, 2002. Washington, DC: Bureau of Justice Statistics. Retrieved from <a href="http://bjs.ojp.usdoj.gov/content/pub/pdf/sdatji02.pdf">http://bjs.ojp.usdoj.gov/content/pub/pdf/sdatji02.pdf</a>.
- 67. Mumola, C.J., & Karberg, J.C. (2006, rev. 2007). Drug use and dependence, state and federal prisoners, 2004. Washington, DC: Bureau of Justice Statistics. Retrieved from <a href="http://bjs.ojp.usdoj.gov/content/pub/pdf/dudsfp04.pdf">http://bjs.ojp.usdoj.gov/content/pub/pdf/dudsfp04.pdf</a>.
- 68. The grantees include the Arkansas Department of Community Corrections; Georgia Department of Corrections; Kansas Department of Corrections; Louisiana Department of Public Safety and Corrections; New York Department of Corrections and Community Supervision; Rhode Island Department of Corrections; Ohio Department of Rehabilitation and Correction.
- 69. The 12 states include Colorado, Florida, Georgia, Iowa, Minnesota, Nevada, New York, Rhode Island, South Carolina, Texas, Vermont, and Wisconsin; see <a href="http://www.abacollateralconsequences.org">http://www.abacollateralconsequences.org</a>.
- 70. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2010). Unintentional drug poisoning in the United States. National Center for Injury Prevention and Control.
- 71. Policía de Puerto Rico. (2011). Asesinatos ocurridos por region y motivo. 2011. División de Estadísticas de la Ciminalidad.
- 72. Office of National Drug Control Policy. (2012). High Intensity Drug Trafficking Areas Program Report to Congress. Washington, DC.
- 73. Participating HIDTAs include Southwest Border/Arizona Region, Northwest, Oregon, New York/New Jersey, Central Valley, New Mexico, and North Texas.
- 74. American Association of Poison Control Centers. (2013). Synthetic marijuana data, updated February 28, 2013. Retrieved from <a href="https://aapcc.s3.amazonaws.com/files/library/Synthetic\_Marijuana\_Data\_for\_Website\_2.28.2013.pdf">https://aapcc.s3.amazonaws.com/files/library/Synthetic\_Marijuana\_Data\_for\_Website\_2.28.2013.pdf</a>.
- 75. American Association of Poison Control Centers. (2013). Synthetic bath salts data, February 28, 2013. Retrieved from https://aapcc.s3.amazonaws.com/files/library/Bath\_Salts\_Data\_for\_Website\_2.282013.pdf.

- 76. While developing the 2013 *National Southwest Border Counternarcotics Strategy,* ONDCP convened consultation meetings in Los Angeles, Santa Fe, Phoenix, and San Antonio, and received input from Federal, state, local, and tribal law enforcement officials and prevention specialists on the border.
- Written testimony of the Secretary of Homeland Security before
   the United States Senate Committee on the Judiciary; February
   13, 2013. Retrived from <a href="http://www.dhs.gov/news/2013/02/13/">http://www.dhs.gov/news/2013/02/13/</a>
   written-testimony-secretary-napolitano-senate-committee-judiciary-hearing-titled-.
- 78. U.S. Department of Justice. (2012). FY2013 Interagency Crime and Drug Enforcement Congressional Budget Submission. Washington, DC. The eleven locations are Boston, New York, San Juan, Tampa/Sarasota, Atlanta, Chicago, Denver, San Diego, Phoenix/Tucson, El Paso/Las Cruces, and Houston/Laredo/McAllen/San Antonio.
- 79. Drug Enforcement Adminsitration. Data from the National Seizure System.
- 80. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. (2012). Results from the 2011 national survey on drug use and health: Summary of national findings. Office of Applied Studies, NSDUH Series H-44, HHS Publication No. (SMA) 12-4713. Rockville, MD. Retrieved from http://www.samhsa.gov/data/nsduh/2k11results/nsduhresults2011.htm.
- 81. Gabriel, M.W., Woods, L.W., Poppenga, R., Sweitzer, R.A., Thompson, C., et al. (2012). Anticoagulant rodenticides on our public and community lands: Spatial distribution of exposure and poisoning of a rare forest carnivore. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.plosone.org/article/info%3Adoi%2F10.1371%2Fjournal.pone.0040163">http://www.plosone.org/article/info%3Adoi%2F10.1371%2Fjournal.pone.0040163</a>.
- 82. United States Attorney's Office for the Eastern District of California. (2012). US Attorneys announce final statistics on Operation Mountain Sweep. Retrived from <a href="http://www.justice.gov/usao/cae/news/docs/2012/09-2012/09-05-12MountainSweep%20Update.html">http://www.justice.gov/usao/cae/news/docs/2012/09-2012/09-05-12MountainSweep%20Update.html</a>.
- 83. Departments and agencies involved in Operation Mountain Sweep included the Department of Justice, U.S. Forest Service, the National Guard, the Bureau of Land Management, the National Park Service, the Drug Enforcement Administration, the Department of Homeland Security, the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, and state and local law enforcement agencies.
- 84. These resources include the system's library of intelligence products and images, post announcements, officer safety reports, a Requests for Information (RFI) portal, and a training and events calendar.
- 85. NGIC houses intelligence analysts from the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives; Federal Bureau of Prisons; Drug Enforcement Administration; Department of Homeland Security; Department of Defense; Federal Bureau of Investigation; and the U.S. Marshals Service.
- 86. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. (2012). Results from the 2011 national survey on drug use and health: Summary of national findings. Office of Applied Studies, NSDUH Series H-44, HHS Publication No. (SMA) 12-4713. Rockville, MD. Retrieved from http://www.samhsa.gov/data/nsduh/2k11results/nsduhresults2011.htm.

- 87. U.S. Department of State. (2012). International narcotics control strategy report. Washington, DC. Retrieved from http://www.state.gov/j/inl/rls/nrcrpt/2012/vol1/184098.htm#Colombia.
- 88. Unpublished U.S. Government estimates.
- 89. Johnson, D.T. (2012). Recommendations for a new administration: Justice and police reform for safer, more secure societies. Washington, DC: Center for Strategic and International Studies. Retrieved from <a href="http://csis.org/files/publication/121205\_DJohnson\_JusticeandPoliceReform\_HemFocus.pdf">http://csis.org/files/publication/121205\_DJohnson\_JusticeandPoliceReform\_HemFocus.pdf</a>.
- 90. President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief. (2012). AIDS 2012 update: Latest PEPFAR results. Retrieved from http://www.pepfar.gov/documents/organization/195771.pdf.
- 91. United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime. (2012). Afghanistan opium survery 2012: Summary findings. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.unodc.org/documents/crop-monitoring/Afghanistan/Summary\_Findings\_FINAL.pdf">http://www.unodc.org/documents/crop-monitoring/Afghanistan/Summary\_Findings\_FINAL.pdf</a>.
- 92. Office of National Drug Control Policy. (2012). Survey shows significant drop in cocaine production in Colombia. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.whitehouse.gov/ondcp/news-releases-remarks/survey-shows-significant-drop-in-cocaine-production-in-colombia">http://www.whitehouse.gov/ondcp/news-releases-remarks/survey-shows-significant-drop-in-cocaine-production-in-colombia.</a>
- 93. Office of National Drug Control Policy. (2012). ADAM II: 2011 annual report. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.whitehouse.gov//sites/default/files/email-files/adam\_ii\_2011\_annual\_rpt\_web\_version\_corrected.pdf">http://www.whitehouse.gov//sites/default/files/email-files/adam\_ii\_2011\_annual\_rpt\_web\_version\_corrected.pdf</a>.
- 94. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. (2010). Results from the 2009
  National Survey on Drug Use and Health: Volume I. Summary of National Findings (Office of Applied Studies, NSDUH Series H-38A, HHS Pulbication No. SMA 10-4586Findings). Rockville, MD.
- 95. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2010). Unintentional drug poisoning in the United States. Atlanta, GA. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.cdc.gov/homeandrecreationalsafety/pdf/poison-issue-brief.pdf">http://www.cdc.gov/homeandrecreationalsafety/pdf/poison-issue-brief.pdf</a>.
- 96. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. (2011). Treatment episode data set (TEDS) 1999-2009: National admissions to substance abuse treatment services, DASIS series: S-56, HHS Publication No. (SMA) 11-4646. Rockville, MD. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.dasis.samhsa.gov/teds09/teds2k9nweb.pdf">http://www.dasis.samhsa.gov/teds09/teds2k9nweb.pdf</a>.
- 97. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. (2012). Results from the 2011 national survey on drug use and health: Summary of national findings. Office of Applied Studies, NSDUH Series H-44, HHS Publication No. (SMA) 12-4713. Rockville, MD. Retrieved from http://www.samhsa.gov/data/nsduh/2k11results/nsduhresults2011.htm.
- 98. Office of National Drug Control Policy. (2012). What America's users spend on illegal drugs, 2000-2006. Washington, DC: Executive Office of the President.
- 99. Ehleringer, J.R., Casale, J.F., Barnette, J.E., Xu, X., Lott, M.J., & Hurley, J. (2012). 14C analyses quantify time lag between coca leaf harvest and street-level seizure of cocaine. *Forensic Science International*, 214, 7-12.

#### **ENDNOTES**

- 100. Office of National Drug Control Policy. (2012). What America's users spend on illegal drugs, 2000-2006. Washington, DC: Executive Office of the President.
- 101. National Highway Traffic Safety Administration. (2010). Traffic safety facts: Drug involvement of fatally injured drivers. DOT HS 811 415. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Transportation.
- 102. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. (2012). Results from the 2011 national survey on drug use and health: Summary of national findings. Office of Applied Studies, NSDUH Series H-44, HHS Publication No. (SMA) 12-4713. Rockville, MD. Retrieved from http://www.samhsa.gov/data/nsduh/2k11results/nsduhresults2011.htm.
- 103. National Highway Traffic Safety Administration. (2009). Results of the 2007 national roadside survey of alcohol and drug use by drivers. Report No. DOT HS 811 175. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Transportation.
- 104. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. (2011). Treatment episode data set (TEDS) 1999-2009: National admissions to substance abuse treatment services, DASIS series: S-56, HHS Publication No. (SMA) 11-4646. Rockville, MD. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.dasis.samhsa.gov/teds09/teds2k9nweb.pdf">http://www.dasis.samhsa.gov/teds09/teds2k9nweb.pdf</a>.
- 105. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. (2012). Highlights of the 2010 drug abuse warning network (DAWN) findings on drug-related emergency department visits. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.samhsa.gov/data/2k12/DAWN096/SR096EDHighlights2010.pdf">http://www.samhsa.gov/data/2k12/DAWN096/SR096EDHighlights2010.pdf</a>.
- 106. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Health Statistics. Data on underlying cause of death 2000-2010 from the CDC WONDER online database. Data extracted October 2012.
- 107. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2012). CDC grand rounds: Prescription drug overdoses—a U.S. epidemic. Morbidity and mortality weekly report. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/mm6101a3.htm">http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/mm6101a3.htm</a>.
- 108. Nonmedical use is defined as use without a prescription of the individual's own or simply for the experience or feeling the drugs cause.
- 109. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. (2012). Results from the 2011 national survey on drug use and health: Summary of national findings. Office of Applied Studies, NSDUH Series H-44, HHS Publication No. (SMA) 12-4713. Rockville, MD. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.samhsa.gov/data/nsduh/2k11results/nsduhresults2011.htm">http://www.samhsa.gov/data/nsduh/2k11results/nsduhresults2011.htm</a>.
- 110. Lankenau, S.E., Teti, M., Silva, K., Bloom, J.J., Harocopos, A., & Treese, M. (2012). Initiation into prescription opioid misuse amongst young injection drug users. *International Journal of Drug Policy, 23*, 37-44. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.medanthro.net/adtsg/wp-content/uploads/2012/08/Lankenau-et-al-Intiation-into-Prescription-Opioid-Misuse-among-Young-IDUs.pdf">http://www.medanthro.net/adtsg/wp-content/uploads/2012/08/Lankenau-et-al-Intiation-into-Prescription-Opioid-Misuse-among-Young-IDUs.pdf</a>.
- 111. Peavy, K.M., Banta-Green, C.J., Kingston, S., Hanrahan, M., Merrill, J.O., & Coffin, P.O. (2012). Hooked on prescription-type opiates prior to using heroin: Results from a survey of syringe exchange clients. *Journal of Psychoactive Drugs*, *44*(3), 259–265.

- 112. Unpublished data from NIDA.
- 113. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. (2012). Results from the 2011 national survey on drug use and health: Summary of national findings. Office of Applied Studies, NSDUH Series H-44, HHS Publication No. (SMA) 12-4713. Rockville, MD. Retrieved from http://www.samhsa.gov/data/nsduh/2k11results/nsduhresults2011.htm.
- 114. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. (2012). Highlights of the 2010 Drug Abuse Warning Network (DAWN) findings on drug-related emergency department visits. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.samhsa.gov/data/2k12/DAWN096/SR096EDHighlights2010.pdf">http://www.samhsa.gov/data/2k12/DAWN096/SR096EDHighlights2010.pdf</a>.
- 115. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. (2012). Treatment Episode Data Set (TEDS) substance abuse treatment admissions by primary substance of abuse, according to sex, age group, race, and ethnicity, United States [2000 and 2010 tables]. Retreived from <a href="http://www.dasis.samhsa.gov/webt/tedsweb/tab\_year.choose\_year\_web\_table?t\_state=US">http://www.dasis.samhsa.gov/webt/tedsweb/tab\_year.choose\_year\_web\_table?t\_state=US</a>.
- 116. Ibid.
- 117. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Health Statistics. Data on underlying cause of death 2000-2010 from the CDC WONDER online database. Data extracted October 2012.
- 118. Ibid.
- 119. Darke, S., Mattick, R.P., & Degenhardt, L. (2003). The ratio of non-fatal to fatal heroin overdose. *Addiction, 98,* 1169–1171.
- 120. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2012). National vital statistics reports: Deaths: Final data for 2009. Retrived from http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/dvs/deaths\_2010\_release.pdf.
- 121. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. *Results from the 2011 National Survey on Drug Use and Health: Summary of National Findings.* U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. [September 2012]. Available: http://www.samhsa.gov/data/NSDUH/2k11Results/NSDUHresults2011.htm#Fig2-2.
- 122. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. (2012). Results from the 2011 national survey on drug use and health: Summary of national findings. Office of Applied Studies, NSDUH Series H-44, HHS Publication No. (SMA) 12-4713. Rockville, MD. Retrieved from http://www.samhsa.gov/data/nsduh/2k11results/nsduhresults2011.htm.
- 123. Mezei, L., et al. (2011). Pain education in North American medical schools. *The Journal of Pain,* 12(12), 1199-1208.
- 124. Food and Drug Administration. (2012). Extended Release (ER) and Long-Acting (LA) Opioid Analgesics Risk Evaluation and Mitigation Strategy (REMS). Retrieved from <a href="http://www.fda.gov/downloads/Drugs/DrugSafety/PostmarketDrugSafetyInformationforPatientsandProviders/UCM311290.pdf">http://www.fda.gov/downloads/Drugs/DrugSafety/PostmarketDrugSafetyInformationforPatientsandProviders/UCM311290.pdf</a>.

#### **ENDNOTES**

- 125. Alliance of States with Prescription Monitoring Programs. (2012). *Status of PMPs*. Retrieved from http://www.pmpalliance.org/pdf/pmp\_status\_table\_2012.pdf.
- 126. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. (2012). Results from the 2011 national survey on drug use and health: Summary of national findings. Office of Applied Studies, NSDUH Series H-44, HHS Publication No. (SMA) 12-4713. Rockville, MD. Retrieved from http://www.samhsa.gov/data/nsduh/2k11results/nsduhresults2011.htm.
- 127. Drug Enforcement Administration. (2013). Drug disposal National take-back initiative. Retrieved from http://www.deadiversion.usdoj.gov/drug\_disposal/takeback/.
- 128. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Health Statistics. Data on underlying cause of death 2000-2010 from the CDC WONDER online database. Data extracted October 2012.
- 129. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2012). National vital statistics reports: Deaths: Final data for 2009. Retrieved from http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/dvs/deaths\_2009\_release.pdf.
- 130. Boyer, E. (2012). Drug therapy: Management of opioid analgesic overdose. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, *367*, 146-55.
- 131. Baca, C.T. & Grant, K.J. (2005). Take-home naloxone to reduce heroin death. *Addiction, 100(12),* 1823-31.
- 132. Sporer, K., Firestone, J., & Isaacs, M. (1996). Out-of-hospital treatment of opioid overdoses in an urban setting. *Academic Emergency Medicine*, *3*(7), 660-67.
- 133. Coffin, P.O., & Sullivan, S.D. (2013). Cost-effectiveness of distributing naloxone to heroin users for lay overdose reversal. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, *158(1)*, 1-9.

